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Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well
as the other information in this Annual Report, including our financial statements and the related notes thereto and
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, ” before deciding whether to invest
in our securities. The occurrence of any of the risks, the events or developments described below could harm our business,
financial condition, operating results, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock could
decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties
summarized and set forth in detail below and elsewhere in this Annual Report before you decide to invest in our common stock.
Summary of Rmk Factors Below is a JJ&Le—a1=e—pfe=v‘tel-mg—t-he—’f‘e{-leiav-ﬂag—Qummary of the risk-principal factors that make

ane-- an aceessibility-ofinvestment in our common stock
speculatlveeﬂ% or fts-lerlsky -faefer—d-tseles&fes— This summary does not address all of the risks that we face. We encourage
you to carefully review the full risk factors contained in this Report in their entirety for additional information regarding the
material factors that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky. The primary categories by which we classify risks
include those related to: (i) our business, (ii) regulatory and industry, (iii) country and currency, afd~(iv) our common stock ,
and (v) world events . Set forth below within each of these categories is a summary of the principal factors that make an
investment in our common stock speculative or risky. Business Risks ® Our future performance is difficult to evaluate because
we have a limited operating history. ® We have a history of losses and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. ® We are
an exploration stage company, and there is no guarantee that our properties will result in the commercial extraction of mineral
deposits. ® Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is not known, our properties may not contain
any reserves, and any funds spent on exploration and evaluation may be lost. ® We face risks related to mining, exploration ,
plant assembly, and mine construction, if warranted, on our properties . ® Labor disruptions and a rise in labor costs could
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations . ® Our long- term success will depend ultimately on
our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and to develop positive cash flow from our mining activitics. ® We depend on
our ability to successfully access the capital and financial markets. Any inability to access the capital or financial markets may
limit our ability to fund our ongoing operations, execute our business plan or pursue investments that we may rely on for future
growth. ® Our quarterly and annual operating and financial results and our revenue are likely to fluctuate significantly in future
periods. @ Our ability to manage growth will have an impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. ® We
depend on information technology systems that are subject to cybersecurity threats, disruption, damage or failure. ® We
depend upon Mr. Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. ® Our growth will require new personnel, which
we will be required to recruit, hire, train and retain. ® Certain of our officers may be in a position of conflict of interest . ® We
have historically relied on third- party consultants and their inability to perform timely and in compliance with their
contractual obligations can adversely impact our business operations. ® We have a contractual dispute with RTEK
International DMCC, the outcome of which is unknown at this time, and our business and operations could be negatively
impacted by the termination of the Technical Services Agreement with RTEK International DMCC. e Adverse
developments affecting the financial services industry, including events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-
performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition or results of operations. « We may be unable to hire and retain the third- party contractors upon which we
rely, including for drilling and construction of the lithium processing plant . Regulatory and Industry Risks ® The mining
industry subjects us to several risks. ® Our operations are, and our mineral projects will be subject to, significant government
regulations, including environmental laws and regulations. ® We are wi-be-required to obtain gevernmental—- government
permits in order to conduct development and mining operations, a process which is often costly and time- consuming. @
Compliance with environmental regulations and litigation based on environmental regulations could require significant
expenditures. ® Gar-Mining operations face substantial regulation-ef-health and safety regulations . ® Mineral prices are
subject to unpredictable fluctuations . © The development of non- lithium battery technologies could adversely affect us. ®
The growth potential of lithium markets is uncertain . ® Demand and market prices for lithium will greatly affect the value
of our investment in our lithium resources and our future revenues and profitability generally —Ceuntry-e Changes in public
policies and legislative initiatives could materially affect our business and prospectsCountry and Currency Risks ® Our
ability to execute our business plan depends primarily on the continuation of a favorable mining environment in Brazil and our
ability to freely sell our minerals. ® The perception of Brazil by the international community may affect us. ® Exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations and capital controls may adversely affect our costs, earnings and the value of some of our assets.
Common Stock Risks ® Our common stock price has been and may continue to be volatile, and you could lose all or part of
your investment. ® We do not intend to pay regular future dividends on our common stock and thus stockholders must look to
appreciation of our common stock to realize a gain on their investments. ® We may seek to raise additional funds, finance
acquisitions, or develop strategic relationships by issuing equity securities. Any future issuances of equity will dilute your
ownership. ® Our Series A Preferred Stock (as defined below), which has been held by Mr. Fogassa since 2012 has the effect
of concentrating voting control over us in Mare-Mr. Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman sand-with-. Due to Mr.
Fogassa’ s control of greater than 50 % of our voting securities, we are deemed a “ controlled company ” under the rules of




Nasdaq. @ Our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman has substantial influence over us as a result of his voting control and his
interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other stockholders, which may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our
control, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their securities. ® Sales of a substantial
number of shares of our common stock by our stockholders in the public market could cause our stock price to fall. ® Costs as a
result of operating as a public company are significant, and our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance
with our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices. ® Our internal control over financial reporting
may not meet the standards required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, could have a material
adverse effect on our business and share price . World Events Risks ® Tariffs and other changes in international trade
policy could adversely affect our business, financial condition and the results of operations. ® A resurgence of the
COVID- 19 pandemic, or the emergence of a new pandemic, may adversely affect our business. ® An escalation of the
current war in Ukraine and the recent conflict in the Middle East, coupled with the international policy of the new U. S.
presidential administration or the emergence of conflict elsewhere may adversely affect our business . Our future
performance is difficult to evaluate because we have a limited operating history. Investors should evaluate an investment in us
considering the uncertainties encountered by mineral exploration companies. Although we were incorporated in 2011, we began
to implement our current business strategy in 2018, which is primarily focused on the exploration of strategic minerals. We have
generated limited revenues from operations and our cash flow needs have been financed through equity and debt issuances and
not through cash flows derived from our operations. As a result, we have little historical financial and operating information
available to help you evaluate and predict our future performance. In addition, advancing our projects will require significant
capital and time, and we are subject to all of the risks associated with developing and establishing new mining operations and
business enterprises as further described in these risk factors. There can be no assurance that our efforts will be successful or that
we will ultimately be able to attain profitability. We have a history of losses and expect to continue to incur losses in the future.
We have incurred losses in each of the past three past-years, have negative cash flow from operating activities, have had limited
revenues and expect to continue to incur losses in the future. We have an accumulated deficit of approximately $ +64+-144 . 74
million as of December 31, 2823-2024 . We expect to continue to incur losses unless and until such time as our projects or
properties acquired in the future enter into commercial production and generate sufficient revenues to fund continuing operations
and we are able to develop at least one economic deposit. If we are unable to generate cash flows from our operations, we will
not be able to earn profits and may be unable to continue operations. At this early stage of our operation, we also expect to face
the risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties encountered by companies at the mineral exploration stage. We cannot be sure
that we will be successful in addressing these risks and uncertainties and our failure to do so could have a materially adverse
effect on our financial condition. There is uncertainty regarding our ability to implement our business plan and to grow our
operations with our existing financial resources without additional financing. Our ability to implement our business plan is
dependent on us generating cash from operations, the sale of our common stock and / or obtaining debt financing. Historically,
we have funded our operations through the issuance of debt and equity securities. Management’ s plan is to fund our capital
requirements and ongoing operations through the generation of revenue from our mining operations and projects, and until such
time that we generate such revenue, to fund operations by selling our equity securities, including our common stock, or common
stock in Atlas Critical Minerals ApeHeResetrees-andJupiter-Gold-that we own, entering into royalty agreements for the
future sales of minerals or off- take agreements related to future sales of negotiated quantities of minerals, and obtaining debt
financing. For example ﬂa-on March 28 %92—3—2024 we entered into a feya-}hyLSecurltles Purchase agreefnent—Agreement
with Mitsui & y p—>-at

-Siehtta-n—ﬁlahua—lﬂdﬁsfﬁa-l-éife&p—CO Ltd (“ Mltsui ”) ;

Shenzhen-ChengxinHithivnm-Group-CosEtd—, pursuant to which we agreed a-meng—efheﬁ-h—rﬁgs—to sell to Mltsul 1 that-871,
250 shares of our common stock for a-period-aggregate net proceeds of five-years-$ 29. 6 million. In connection with such

agreement , our subsidiary Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda (“ Atlas Brazil ”) entered into an Offtake and Sales Agreement
pursuant to which Atlas Brazil agreed to scll and deliver to each-of-the buyers-66-Investor, and the Investor agreed to
purchase and take delivery of, (i) the spot quantity of fifteen thousand (15, 000 ) dry metric tons of ithtameeneentrateper
Atlas Brazil’ s product, and, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions precedent, (ii) up to sixty thousand (60, 000)
dry metric tons of Atlas Brazil’ s product for each ycar , up to a total of three hundred thousand (300, 000) dry metric
tons . There is no assurance that we will be successful in implementing our business plan or that we will be able to generate
sufficient cash from operations, sell securities or borrow funds on favorable terms or at all. Our inability to generate significant
revenue or obtain additional financing could have a material adverse effect on our ability to fully implement our business plan
and grow our business. We are an exploration stage company, and there is no guarantee that our properties will result in the
commercial extraction of mineral deposits. We are engaged in the business of exploring and developing mineral properties with
the intention of locating economic deposits of minerals. An economic deposit is a mineral property which can be reasonably
expected to generate profits upon extraction and commercialization of its minerals after considering all costs involved. Our
property interests are atin the exploration stage. Accordingly, it is unlikely that we will realize profits in the short term, and we
also cannot assure you that we will realize profits in the medium to long term. Any profitability in the future from our business
will be dependent upon the development of at least one economic deposit and most likely further exploration and development
of other economic deposits, each of which is subject to numerous risks, including all of the risks associated with developing and
establishing new mining operations and business enterprises inelading-, such as : ® completion of studies to verify reserves and
commercial viability, including the ability to find sufficient ore reserves to support a commercial mining operation; @ the timing
and cost, which can be considerable, of further exploration, preparing studies, permitting and construction of infrastructure,
mining and processing facilities; ® the availability and costs of drill equipment, exploration personnel, skilled labor, and mining




and processing equipment, if required; ® the availability and cost of appropriate smelting and / or refining arrangements, if
required; ® compliance with stringent environmental and other governmental approval and permit requirements; ® the
availability of funds to finance exploration, development, and construction activities, as warranted; ® potential opposition from
non- governmental organizations, local groups or local inhabitants that may delay or prevent development activities; ® potential
increases in exploration, construction, and operating costs due to changes in the cost of fuel, power, materials, and supplies; and
e potential shortages of mineral processing, construction, and other facilities related supplies. Further, we cannot assure you
that, even if an economic deposit of minerals is located, any of our property interests can be commercially mined. The
exploration and development of mineral deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a significant period which may not
be mitigated or eliminated by careful evaluation, experience and / or knowledge of management. While the discovery of
additional ore- bearing deposits may result in rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into
producing mines. Significant expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and te-eenstraet-constructing mining
and processing facilities at a particular site. It is impossible to ensure that our current exploration programs will result in
profitable commercial mining operations. The profitability of our operations will be, in part, related to the cost and success of #s
our cxploration and development programs which may be affected by several factors , such as the factors set forth under the
heading “ We face risks related to mining, exploration and mine construction, if warranted, on our properties ” below .
Additional expenditures are required to establish reserves which are sufficient to commercially mine and to construct, complete
and install mining and processing facilities in those properties that are mined and developed. In addition, exploration- stage
projects like ours have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future operating costs and capital requirements.
Exploration project items, such as any future estimates of reserves, metal recoveries or cash operating costs will to a large extent
be based upon the interpretation of geologic data, obtained from a limited number of drill holes and other sampling techniques,
as well as future studies. Actual operating costs and economic returns of all exploration projects may materially differ from the
costs and returns estimated, and accordingly our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows may be negatively
affected. Because the probability of an individual prespeetprospective mineral deposit cver having reserves is not ankneown—-
known and any funds spent on exploratlon and evaluation may be lost if our properties may not contain any reserves —aﬁd
y 0 . We are an exploration stage company, and we have no “ reserves.
A m1nera1 reserve is deﬁned in Regulatlon S- K Item 1300 as an estimate of tonnage and grade or quality of “ indicated m1nera1
resources ”’ and “ measured mineral resources ” (as those terms are defined in Regulation S- K 1300) that, in the opinion of a
qualified person ” (as defined in Regulation S- K Item 1300), can be the basis of an economically viable project. We cannot
assure you about the existence of economically extractable mineralization at this time, nor about the quantity or grade of any
mineralization we may have found. Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is uncertain, any
funds spent on evaluation and exploration may be lost and our properties may not contain any reserves aned-any-funds-—spent
erevalnationrand-explorattonrmay-betost. Even if we confirm reserves on our properties, any quantity or grade of reserves we
indicate must be considered as estimates only until such reserves are mined. We do not know with certainty that economically
recoverable minerals exist on our properties. In addition, the quantity of any reserves may vary depending on commodity prices.
Any material change in the quantity or grade of reserves may affect the economic viability of our properties. Further, our lack of
established reserves means that we are uncertain about our ability to generate revenue from our operations. Even if we do
eventually discover a mineral reserve on one or more of our properties, there can be no assurance that they can be developed
into producing mines and that we can extract those minerals. Both mineral exploration and development involve a high degree
of risk, and few mineral properties that are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Exploration activities
require significant amounts of capital that may not be recovered and may exceed our budget. Mineral exploration activities are
subject to many risks, including the risk that no commercially productive or extractable resources will be encountered. There can
be no assurance that our activities will ultimately lead to an economically feasible project or that #-we will recover all or any
portion of #s-our investment. Mineral exploration often involves unprofitable efforts, including drilling operations that
ultimately do not further exploration efforts. Despite our efforts to budget such costs, the cost of minerals exploration is often
uncertain, and cost overruns are common. Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves through drilling, to develop
processes to extract the ore and, in the case of new properties, to develop the extraction and processing facilities and
infrastructure at any site chosen for extraction. Although benefits may be derived from the discovery of a major deposit, we
cannot provide any assurance that any such deposit will be commercially viable or that we will be able to obtain the funds
required for development on a timely basis. Drilling and exploration operations may be curtailed, delayed or cancelled as a
result of numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including title problems, weather conditions, protests,
comphance with governmental requlrements 1ncludrng permlttlng issues, and shortages or delays in the dehvery of equlprnent
and services. ; ; 0 0 ; v 0

resources to fund our operatrons for the next twelve months an increase in our drilling campaigns to keep pace with positive
findings of potential economic deposits may require us to raise additional capital which, if not available on reasonable terms,
may cause us to curtail our operations and impair our ability to become profitable. We face risks related to mining, exploration ,
plant assembly and mine construction, if warranted, on our properties. Our level of profitability, if any, in future years will
depend to a great degree on priees-of minerals-set-by-globatmarkets-and-whether our exploration- stage properties can be
brought into production. We cannot provide any assurances that the current and future exploration programs and / or studies on
our existing properties will establish reserves. Whether it will be economically feasible to extract a mineral depends on a number
of factors, including, but not limited to: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to
infrastructure; drilling costs; mineral prices; mining, processing and transportation costs; the willingness of lenders and investors
to provide project financing; labor costs and possible labor strikes; and governmental regulations, including, without limitation,



regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting materials, foreign exchange,
environmental protection, employment, worker safety, transportation, and reclamation and closure obligations. The exact effect
of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in us receiving an inadequate
return on invested capital . Assembly of our lithium processing plant, or any other facility, will require us to retain
employees or contractors with the necessary technical expertise, which may not be readily available when we need it or
on terms favorable to us. We may incur delays or cost overruns in assembling our lithium processing plant and
achieving the readiness of such processing facility to commence production. Once assembled, operation of the lithium
processing plant will require significant ongoing operating costs, and our financial position and results of operations
may be materially impacted if we are unable to fund such expenses. Labor disruptions and a rise in labor costs could
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Approximately 60 % of our workforce is unionized.
We may experience labor shortages and work stoppages due to localized or industry strikes. A prolonged work stoppage
or strike by unionized employees could increase costs and affect our ability to conduct our research, development or
production activities. In addition, upon the expiration of existing collective bargaining agreements, we may not reach
new agreements, or such agreements may not be on terms satisfactory to us. If we are unable to negotiate acceptable
collective bargaining agreements, we may become subject to union- initiated work stoppages, including strikes. In
addition, additional groups of employees may seek union representation in the future. An increase in labor costs could
adversely affect our results of operations. Most of the factors affecting labor costs are beyond our control and we may
not be able to offset increased labor costs. A shortage of qualified employees, inflationary pressure on wages, increases in
minimum wages or union- agreed wages in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate could increase labor costs and
have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations . Our long- term success
will depend ultimately on our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and to develop positive cash flow from our mining
activities. Our long- term success, including the recoverability of the carrying values of our assets, and our ability to continue
with exploration, development and commissioning and mining activities on our existing projects or to acquire additional
projects, depends ultimately on our ability to achieve and maintain profitability and to develop positive cash flow from our
operations by establishing ore bodies that contain commercially recoverable minerals and to develop these into profitable
mining activities. We cannot assure you that any ore body that we extract mineralized materials from will result in achieving and
maintaining profitability and developing positive cash flow. We depend on our ability to successfully access the capital and
financial markets. Any inability to access the capital or financial markets may limit our ability to fund our ongoing operations,
execute our business plan or pursue investments that we may rely on for future growth and could result in the failure of our
business. We need, and for the foreseeable future will continue to need, additional equity or debt financing beyond our
existing cash to maintain and expand our operations . Until commercial production is achieved from one of our larger
projects, we will continue to incur operating and investing net cash outflows associated with , among other things-items,
maintaining and possibly acquiring additional exploration properties ;-and undertaking engetng-exploration activities and-the
development-ofmines-. As a result, we rely on access to capital markets as a source of funding for our capital and operating
requirements. We cannot assure you that such additional funding will be available to us on satisfactory terms, or at all. In order
to finance our current operations and future capital needs, we will require additional funds through the issuance of additional
equity and / or debt securities or other financings. Depending on the type and the terms of any financing we pursue,
stockholders’ rights and the value of their investment in our shares could be reduced. Any additional equity financing will dilute
shareholdings, and new or additional debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and operating activities.
For example, during the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 , we issued an aggregate of 2, 767062 , 447973 shares of our
common stock in capital raising transactions , including (i) 191, 723 shares sold pursuant to an At the Market Offering
Agreement, and (ii) 1, 871, 250 shares sold pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement with Mitsui & Co., Ltd . In
addition, if we issue secured debt securities, the holders of the debt would have a claim to our assets that would be prior to the
rights of stockholders until the debt is paid. Interest on such debt securities would increase costs and negatively impact
operating results. The global decline in economic conditions....... exploration, development and mining programs. There is ,
however, no guarantee that we will be able to secure any additional funding or be able to secure funding which will provide us
with sufficient funds to meet our objectives, which sweutd-may adversely affect our business and financial position. The global
decline in economic conditions,geopolitical instability,and other macroeconomic factors,including inflation,interest rate and
foreign currency rate fluctuations,and volatility in capital markets could negatively impact our business,financial condition,and
results of operations,including our ability to raise capital.If we are unable to obtain additional financing,as needed,at competitive
rates,our ability to fund our current operations and implement our business plan and strategy will be affected,and we would be
required to reduce the scope of our operations and scale back our exploration,development and mining programs. Our quarterly
and annual revenue, operating results and financial results and-eurrevente-are likely to fluctuate significantly in future periods.
Our quarterly and annual revenue, operating results and financial results are difficult to predict and may fluctuate significantly
from period to period based on activities related to our exploration projects. For example, for the year ended December 31,
2023, costs associated with our exploration activities were significantly higher than in prior years, which contributed to a
substantial increase to our net loss for the year as compared to the prior year. Our revenues, if any, net loss and results of
operations may also fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors that are outside our control including, but not limited to, lack of
sufficient working capital, equipment malfunction and breakdowns, inability to timely find spare machines or parts to fix the
broken equipment, regulatory or licensing delays , deteriorations in our labor relations, changes in the prices of
commodities or in the cost of our key inputs, currency fluctuations and severe weather phenomena. Our ability to manage
growth will have an impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Future growth may place strains on
our financial, technical, operational and administrative resources and cause us to rely more on project partners and independent



contractors, potentially adversely affecting our financial position and results of operations. Our ability to grow will depend on
several factors, including: @ our ability to successfully complete our exploration activities and develop existing projects; ® our
ability to identify new projects; @ our ability to continue to retain and attract skilled personnel; ® our ability to maintain or enter
into relationships with project partners and independent contractors; @ the results of our exploration programs; e the market
prices for our minerals; ® our access to capital; and-e our ability to enter into agreements for the sale of our minerals ; ® our
ability to obtain and maintain requisite licenses and permits; e global demand for lithium; e the global trade
environment and the existence of trade barriers such as tariffs or sanctions; e volatility resulting from international
conflicts or geopolitical tensions; ® natural or man- made disasters and severe climate or weather events; ® government
policies with respect to climate change and natural resource conservation; and e fluctuations in inflation and currency
exchange rates . We may not be successful in upgrading our technical, operational and administrative resources or increasing
our internal resources sufficiently to provide certain of the services currently provided by third parties, and we may not be able
to maintain or enter into new relationships with project partners and independent contractors on financially attractive terms, if at
all. Our inability to achieve or manage growth may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. We depend on information technology systems that are subject to cybersecurity threats, disruption,
damage or failure. We depend on information technology and operational technology systems in the operation of our
business. Our systems, and those of our third- party vendors, may be targeted by increasingly sophisticated threat
actors. These threats include continually evolving cybersecurity risks from a variety of sources such as malware,
extortion, employee error or malfeasance, security breaches, cyber- attacks, natural disasters and defects in design.
Cybersecurity risk is increasingly difficult to measure and cannot be easily mitigated due to the rapidly evolving nature
of the threats and threat actors. Additionally, unauthorized parties may attempt to gain access to our systems for
company information through fraud or other means of deception. Our systems and procedures for preparing and
protecting against such attempts and mitigating such risks may prove to be insufficient. Any material compromise or
breach of our IT systems could have an adverse impact on our business and operations, including damage to our
reputation and competitiveness, remediation costs, litigation or regulatory actions. In addition, new technology that
could result in greater operational efficiency, such as artificial intelligence, may further expose our operations and
computer systems to the risk of cybersecurity incidents. We depend upon Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman. Our existing operations and continued future development are largely dependent upon the personal efforts and
continued performance of Mr. Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman and principal stockholder. The loss of
the services of Mr. Fogassa would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects. We maintain key- man life
insurance on the life of Mr. Fogassa. If we were to lose Mr. Fogassa, we may not be able to find appropriate replacements on a
timely basis and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Although Mr. Fogassa
spends signifteantthe vast majority of his time with us and is highly active on a daily basis in our management, he does not
devote his full time and attention to Atlas Lithium. Mr. Fogdssa also Curlently serves as Chief Execume Officer dndd-rfeefef
Chairman of Atlas Critical Minerals 2
Fapiter-Gotd=-. Our growth will require new personnel, which we will be required to recruit, hne train and retain. Our ablllty
to recruit and assimilate new personnel will be critical to our performance. We compete with other mining companies in the
recruitment and retention of qualified managerial and technical employees. As we grow, we will be required to recruit additional
personnel and to train, motivate and manage employees. If we are unable to successfully compete for qualified employees, our
exploration and development programs may be slowed down or suspended. Certain officers and directors may be in a position
of conflict of interest . Mr . Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, also serves as chief executive officer and
direetor-chairman of Atlas Critical Mlnerals ApeHe—Rese&fees—aﬂd—hpﬁerGe%d— Rodrlgo Menck JoelMonteiro, Esq—, one
of our effteersis-a-direetor-directors of-bo - a-, one-ofour-serves as the
chief financial offieers—- officer —IS—a—d-ﬁ‘eefO'POf J-upﬁeikGe}d-Atlas Crltlcal Mmerals We have partial equity ownership in
Atlas Critical Minerals both-ApeteReseureesandJupiter-Gold-. There exists the possibility that one or more of these
individuals, or others, may in the future be in a position of conflict of interest, where their interests may not be aligned with the
interests of our other stockholders, and they may from time to time be incentivized to take certain actions that benefit the
interests of Atlas Critical Minerals ApoHo-Reseurees-andorJupiter-Gold-and that our other stockholders do not view as being
in their interest as investors in us . We have historically relied on third- party technical consultants for various aspects of
our Neves Project development. While we have strengthened our internal capabilities through the appointment of a
Project Management Officer and Vice President of Engineering, who brings experience from multibillion- dollar mining
projects in Brazil, we continue to depend on certain consultants for specific technical requirements. Also, there is
significant competition for the services of these consultants in Brazil. Given this dependency, the consultants’ potential
delivery of inadequate technical materials, or non- compliance with their contractual obligations, inclusive of exclusivity
provisions, exposes us to significant operational and financial risks. We have a contractual dispute with RTEK
International DMCC, the outcome of which is unknown at this time, and our business and operations could be negatively
impacted by the termination of the Technical Services Agreement with RTEK International DMCC. We have a
contractual dispute with RTEK International DMCC with respect to the Second A & R RTEK Agreement (as defined in
this Annual Report) and are currently assessing all avenues available to us related to the resolution of this dispute. and if
arbitration ensues, we may incur arbitration- related costs, which may negatively impact our financial position and
results of operations. To the extent the Second A & R RTEK Agreement terminates other than as currently provided
under the terms of the agreement, while we believe that we can effectively utilize our current team to fulfill the services
required to be delivered under the Second A & R RTEK Agreement, we may need to recruit additional talent and
expertise to address some of the aspects of the services covered under the Second A & R RTEK Agreement. Current high




levels of demand for talent in our industry present challenges in attracting and retaining qualified technical personnel
with the necessary specialized knowledge . Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, including events or
concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non- performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-
performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in
the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds
or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market- wide liquidity problems. We regularly maintain cash
balances at third- party financial institutions in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ( #e-“ FDIC ") insurance
limit. The FDIC took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank and New York Signature Bank on March 10,
2023, and March 12, 2023, respectively, and JPMorgan Chase Bank assumed all deposits and substantially all assets of First
Republic Bank on May 1, 2023. We Fhe-Company-did not have any direct exposure to Silicon Valley Bank, New York
Signature Bank or First Republic Bank. However, if other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or become
insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability to
access our existing cash, cash equivalents and investments, or access funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts
adequate to finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations may be threatened and could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. In addition, investor concerns regarding the U. S. or
international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher interest rates or costs
and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it
more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash
and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact on our ability to meet our operating expenses, financial
obligations or fulfill our other obligations, result in breaches of our contractual obligations or result in violations of federal or
state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impaets— impact resulting from the factors described above or
other related or similar factors not described above, could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our business,
financial condition or results of operations. We may be unable to hire and retain the third- party contractors upon which we
rely, including for drilling and construction of the lithium processing plant . We have and will have agreements with
consultants to perferm-provide services for us, including with respect to drilling and construction services. Each of these
contractors petferm-performs functions that require the services of persons in high demand in the industry and these persons
may or may not always be available when needed based on their status as contractors or at affordable prices. The
implementation of our business plan and our exploration activities may be impaired if we are not able to retain or afford our
significant contractors or if they do not perform in accordance with their agreements and the failure to conduct our exploration
and construction activities could result in delays in our ability to execute on our business plan will could have an adverse effect

on the value of our eﬂﬁapany—a-nd-eu%common stock =

: an : The mining 1ndustry
subjects us to several risks. In our operations, we are subj ect to the 51gn1ﬁcant risks normally encountered in the mining industry,
such as: e the discovery of unusual or unexpected geological formations; e accidental fires, floods, earthquakes or other natural
disasters; ® unplanned power outages and water shortages; ® controlling water and other similar mining hazards; e industrial
and mining accidents; ® operating labor disruptions and labor disputes; ® the ability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery,
equipment, or labor; e our liability for pollution or other hazards; and @ other known and unknown risks involved in the
conduct of exploration and operation of mines. These hazardous activities pose significant management challenges and could
result in loss of life, a mine shutdown, damage to or destruction of our properties and surrounding properties, production
facilities or equipment, production delays or business interruption. Our operations and mineral projects are subject to
significant gevernmental--- government regulations, including extensive environmental laws and regulations. Mining
activities in Brazil are subject to extensive federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing environmental protection,
natural resources, prospecting, development, production, post- closure reclamation costs, taxes, labor standards and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations, including mine safety, toxic substances and other matters. The costs we will incur to
comply with such laws and regulations are expected to substantially increase once we progress from exploration activities to
mining and production operations as is our intention. We also will be subject to periodic inspections by governmental
authorities, which could result in fines, penalties or other actions by such authorities, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our future operations. In addition, changes in such laws and regulations, or more restrictive interpretations of current
laws and regulations by governmental authorities, could result in unanticipated capital expenditures, expenses, or restrictions on,
or suspensions of our operations and delays in the development of our properties Qur operations are subject to extensive
environmental laws and regulations .Our exploration,development,mining and processing operations are subject to extensive
laws and regulations governing land use and the protection of the environment,which generally apply to air and water
quality,protection of endangered,protected or other specified species,hazardous waste management and reclamation.We have
made,and expect to make in the future,significant expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.Compliance with these
laws and regulations imposes substantial costs and burdens,and can cause delays in obtaining,or failure to obtain,government



permits and approvals which may adversely impact our closure processes and operations. fnereased-globat-attentionror
regulation-of-eonsumptionof-waterby-. We are required to obtain governmental permits in order to conduct development and

mining operations, a process which is often costly and time- consuming. We are required to obtain and renew governmental
permits for our exploration activities and, prior to developing or mining any mineralization that we discover, we will be required
to obtain new governmental permits. Obtaining and renewing governmental permits is a complex, costly and time- consuming
process. The timeliness and success of permitting efforts are contingent upon many variables not within our control, including
the interpretation of permit approval requirements administered by the applicable permitting authority. We may not be able to
obtain or renew permits that are necessary for our planned operations or the cost and time required to obtain or renew such
permits may exceed our expectations. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the permitting process could delay the
exploration, development or operation of our properties, which in turn could materially adversely affect our future revenues and
profitability. In addition, key permits and approvals may be revoked or suspended or may be changed in a manner that adversely
affects our activities. Private parties, such as environmental activists, frequently attempt to intervene in the permitting process
and to persuade regulators to deny necessary permits or seek to overturn permits that have been issued. Obtaining the necessary
goveramental-—- government permits involves numerous jurisdictions, public hearings and possibly costly undertakings. These
third- party actions can materially increase the costs and cause delays in the permitting process and could cause us to not
proceed with the development or operation of a property. In addition, our ability to successfully obtain key permits and
approvals to explore for, develop, operate and expand operations will likely depend on our ability to undertake such activities in
a manner consistent with the creation of social and economic benefits in the surrounding communities, which may or may not be
required by law. Our ability to obtain permits and approvals and to successfully operate in particular communities may be
adversely affected by real or perceived detrimental events associated with our activities. Our operations are subject to extensive
environmental...... impact our closure processes and operations. Compliance with environmental regulations and litigation based
on environmental regulations could require significant expenditures. Environmental regulations mandate, among other things,
the maintenance of air and water quality standards, and the rules on land development and reclamation. They also set forth
limitations on the generation, transportation, storage, and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Environmental legislation is
evolving in a manner that may require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non- compliance,
more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects, and a heightened degree of responsibility for mining companies
and their officers, directors and employees. In connection with our current exploration activities or with our prior mining
operations, we may incur environmental costs that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. Any failure to remedy an environmental problem could require us to suspend operations or enter into interim
compliance measures pending completion of the required remedy. Moreover, governmental— government authorities and
private parties may bring lawsuits based upon damage to property and injury to persons resulting from the environmental, health
and safety impacts of prior and current operations, including operations conducted by other mining companies many years ago
at sites located on properties that we currently own or formerly owned. These lawsuits could lead to the imposition of
substantial fines, remediation costs, penalties and other civil and criminal sanctions. We cannot assure you that any such law,
regulation, enforcement or private claim would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. Mining operations face substantial regatatien-efhealth and safety regulations . Mining operations are
subject to extensive and complex laws and regulations governing worker health and safety and failure to comply with applicable
legal requirements can result in substantial penalties. Future changes in applicable laws, regulations, permits and approvals or
changes in their enforcement or regulatory interpretation could substantially increase costs to achieve compliance, {ead-leading
to the revocation of existing or future exploration or mining rights or otherwise have an adverse impact on our results of
operations and financial position. In addition to potential government restrictions and regulatory fines, penalties or sanctions,
our ability to operate (including the effect of any impact on our workforce) and thus, our results of operations and our financial
position (including because of potential related fines and sanctions), could be adversely affected by accidents, injuries, fatalities
or events detrimental (or perceived to be detrimental) to the health and safety of our employees, the environment or the
communities in which we operate. Mineral prices are subject to unpredictable fluctuations. Portions of our revenues may come
from the extraction and sale of minerals. Qur level of profitability, if any, in future years will depend to a great degree on
the prices of minerals set by the global markets. The price of minerals may fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous
factors beyond our control, including international, economic and political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange
fluctuations, interest rates, global or regional consumptive patterns, speculative activities, increased production due to new
extraction developments and improved extraction and production methods and technological changes in the markets for the end
products. For instance, the price of spodumene concentrate has varied from a high of approximately $ 8, 000 per ton during the
fourth quarter of 2022 to a low of approximately $ 856-740 during the first-fourth quarter of 2024, as reported by industry
publications. The effect of these factors on the price of minerals, and therefore the economic viability of any of our exploration
properties, cannot accurately be predicted. The development of non- lithium battery technologies could adversely affect us. The
development and adoption of new battery technologies that rely on inputs other than lithium compounds could significantly
impact our prospects and future revenues. Current and next generation high energy density batteries for use in electric vehicles
rely on lithium compounds as a critical input. Alternative materials and technologies are being researched with the goal of
making batteries lighter, more efficient, faster charging and less expensive, and some of these could be less reliant on lithium
compounds. We cannot predict which new technologies may ultimately prove to be commercially viable and on what time
horizon. Commercialized battery technologies that use no, or significantly less, lithium could materially and adversely impact
on our prospects and future revenues. Fhere-- The ts-riskte-the-growth petential of lithium markets is uncertain . Our lithium
business will be significantly dependent on the development and adoption of new applications for lithium batteries and the
growth in demand for plug- in hybrid electric vehicles and battery electric vehicles. As such, our business results will inherently



depend on the decarbonization of the global economy. To the extent that such development, adoption, decarbonization and
growth do not occur in the volume and / or manner that we contemplate, including for reasons described under the heading “
The development of non- lithium battery technologies could adversely affect us, ” above, the long- term growth in the markets
for lithium products may be adversely affected, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and operating results. Demand and market prices for lithium will greatly affect the value of our investment in our lithium
resources and our future revenues and profitability generally. Our ability to successfully develop our lithium resources and
generate a return on investment will be affected by changes in the demand for and market price of lithium- based end products.
The market price of these products can fluctuate and is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, primarily world supply
and demand. Such external economic factors are influenced by changes in international investment patterns, global economic
activity and growth, the unknown geopolitical consequences of the wars between Ukraine and Russia and between Israel and
Hamas and macro- economic circumstances. For example, in 2023, lithium prices significantly decreased by approximately 75
% to 85 % from their high in January 2023 to the end of the year. Lithium prices experienced a further decline in 2024. For
instance, battery- grade lithium carbonate prices dropped from around CNY ¥ 100, 000 per ton at the beginning of 2024
to approximately CNY ¥ 75, 000 per ton by the end of the year, representing a decrease of about 25 %. Throughout 2024,
lithium prices were characterized by volatility and a general downward trajectory, influenced by factors such as
oversupply in the market, with new lithium production capacity coming online while the growth rate of demand from
the electric vehicle and energy storage sectors did not keep pace with the supply expansion. In addition, the price of lithium
products is impacted by their purity and performance. We may not be able to effectively mitigate against such fluctuations. High
volatility or declines in the-lithium prices could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to generate revenues and the
our future profitability efeur-eempany-generally. Changes in public policies and legislative initiatives could materially affect
our business and prospects. There has been substantial debate in the United States and abroad in the context of environmental
and energy policies affecting climate change, the outcome of which could have a positive or negative influence on our prospects
for growing our business. A—ehange-tirthe-The new U. S. presidential administration may-faver-favors traditional energy
technologies and our future prospects could be adversely affected if renewable technologies swere-are either (i) disfavored in any
new laws or regulations pursued by a-future-the new U. S. presidential administration, or (ii) not included among those
technologies identified in any final laws or regulations as favoring renewable technologies, or not included in the-state plans to
reduce carbon emissions, and therefore not entitled to the benefits of such laws, regulations, or plans . For example, on
January 20, 2025, President Trump issued Executive Order 14151, Unleashing American Energy, which encouraged
energy exploration and production on federal lands and waters, directed the federal government to eliminate rules and
incentives favoring electric vehicles, and paused the disbursement of grants and loans under the Inflation Reduction Act
and the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act . Our ability to execute our business plan depends primarily on the
continuation of a favorable mining environment in Brazil and our ability to freely sell our minerals. Mining operations in Brazil
are heavily regulated. Any significant change in mining legislation or other changes in Brazil’ s current mining environment
may slow down or alter our business prospects. Further, countries in which we may wish to sell our mined minerals may impose
special taxes, tariffs, or otherwise place limits and controls on consumption of our mined minerals , including tariffs or trade
restrictions imposed by the new U. S. presidential administration . The perception of Brazil by the international community
may affect us. Brazil® s political environment and its environmental policies, in particular the preservation of the Amazon rain
forest, are continuously scrutinized by the global media. If Brazil’ s situatien-political environment, regulations or policies are
, or are perceived as-betng-to be, inadequate , unfavorable or hostile by foreign customers or investors ., we may lose the
interest of investor groups or potential buyers of our minerals, which will have a negative impact on us. Exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuations and capital controls may adversely affect our costs, earnings and the value of some of our assets. Our
reporting currency is the U. S. dollar; however, we conduct our business in Brazil utilizing the Brazilian real. A large portion of
our operating expenses are incurred in Brazilian real. An appreciation of the Brazilian real against the U. S. dollar would
increase our costs in U. S. dollar terms. Our consolidated financials are directly impacted by movements in the Brazilian real to
U. S. dollar exchange rate. While not expected, Brazil may choose to adopt measures to restrict the entry of U. S. dollars or the
repatriation of capital across borders. These measures would have a number of negative effects on us, reducing the immediately
available capital that we could otherwise deploy for investment opportunities or the payment of expenses, and the ability to
repatriate any profits. Cemmon-StoekRisks-Our stock price may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially and will depend on several factors, including those described
in this “ Risk Factors ” section, many of which are beyond our control and may not be related to our operating performance.
These fluctuations could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our securities. Factors that could cause fluctuations in
the trading price of our common stock include: ® results from our exploration and / or project development efforts; ® changes to
our industry, including demand and regulations; e actions by our competitors or other industry participants; e failure to achieve
commercial extraction of mineral deposits from any of our properties; ® absence of any reserves contained within our properties,
and loss of any funds spent on exploration and evaluation; e our ability we-may-netbe-able-to compete successfully against
current and future competitors; ® competitive pricing pressures; ® our ability to obtain working capital financing as required; ®
additions or departures of key personnel; ® sales of our common stock; @ our ability to execute our business plan; ® operating
results that fall below expectations; ® any major change in our management; ® changes in accounting standards, procedures,
guidelines, interpretations or principals; and @ economic, geo- political and other external factors, particularly relating to global
trade barriers or tariffs and developments within the country of Brazil. In addition, the stock market in general has
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors, including actions by and the results of operations of our
competitors, as well as general economic, political and market conditions such as recessions or interest rate changes, may



serrously affect the market prlce of our common stock regardless of our actual operatmg performance Fuft-her,—rn—t-he—past;

seetm&es—class action lmganons have often been 1nst1tuted in the past against t-hese—compames who have experienced
volatility of the market prices of their securities during and following periods of volatility in the overall market .
Litigation of this type, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’ s attention
and resources. Any adverse determination in any such litigation or any amounts paid to settle any such actual or threatened
litigation could require that-we-us to make significant payments. We do not intend to pay regular future dividends on our
common stock and thus stockholders must look te-for appreciation of our common stock to realize a gain on their investments.
We have never paid a dividend , and we do not have any plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Our future dividend
policy is within the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon various factors, including future earnings, if any,
our capital requirements and general financial condition, and other factors. Accordingly, stockholders must look solely to
appreciation of our common stock to realize a gain on their investment. This appreciation may not occur or may occur only over
a longer timeframe , and is contingent upon, among other factors, our ability to raise additional capital, continue
developing and then commercializing our mineral projects . We will seck to raise additional funds, finance acquisitions, or
develop strategic relationships by issuing securities that would dilute your ownership. Until we have achieved profitability, we
intend to finance our operations through the issuance of equity and / or debt securities or other financings. Issuing equity
securities will reduce the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders. Furthermore, any newly issued securities could
have rights, preferences, and privileges senior to those of our existing common stock. Moreover, any issuances by us of equity
securities may be at or below the prevailing market price of our stock and in any event will have a dilutive impact on the
ownership interest of existing common stockholders, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. We
may also raise additional funds through the incurrence of debt or the issuance or sale of other securities or instruments senior to
our common stock. The holders of any debt securities or instruments that we may issue could have rights superior to the rights
of our common stockholders. Our Series A Preferred Stock has the effect of concentrating voting control over us in Marc
Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, and as a result, he has substantial influence over our company and his
interests may not be aligned with the interests of our other stockholders, which may discourage, delay or prevent a change in
control of our company, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their securities. One
share of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“ Series A Preferred Stock ) is issued ;-and outstanding ane-, which has
been held since 2012 by Mr. Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. The Certificate of Designations,
Preferences and Rights of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock provides that for so long as Series A Preferred Stock is
issued and outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single class with the holders of our
common stock, with the holders of Series A Preferred Stock being entitled to 51 % of the total votes on all matters regardless of
the actual number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding, and the holders of common stock and any other class
or series of capital stock entitled to vote with the common stock being entitled to their proportional share of the remaining 49 %
of the total votes based on their respective voting power. As a result, Mr. Fogassa has the ability to decisively influence all
matters requiring stockholder approval, including decisions regarding mergers, consolidations and the sale of all or substantially
all of our assets, election of directors and other significant corporate actions, and holders of our common stock have a limited
ability to impact en our operations and activities. This concentration of ownership may discourage, delay or prevent a change in
our control, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their shares as part of any
contemplated sale of us and may reduce the price of our common stock. We are deemed a “ controlled company ” under the
rules of Nasdaq and therefore qualify for exemptions from certain governance requirements under the rules of the Nasdaq. As a
result of his ownership since 2012 of alt-the one issued and outstanding shares— share of our Series A Preferred Stock, Mr.
Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, holds more than 50 % of our voting securities, and as such, we are a
controlled company ” under the rules of Nasdaq and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements,
including the requirement (i) to have a compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors with a written
charter addressing the committee’ s purpose and responsibilities; (ii) that our nominations committee be composed entirely of
independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’ s purpose and responsibilities, or if no such committee
exists, that our director nominees be selected or recommended by independent directors constituting a majority of the board of
director’ s independent directors in a vote in which only independent directors participate; and (iii) for an annual performance
evaluation of the nominations and compensation committees. We do not take advantage of any of these exemptions but may do
so in the future. Our status asa controlled company could make our common stock less attractive to some investors or otherw1se
harm our stock price. ; 5\ ; ; Re

oeeur—Sales ofa substantral number of shares of our common stock by our stockholders in the publrc market could cause our
stock price to fall. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these
sales might occur could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise adequate
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on the
prevailing market price of our common stock. The €ests-costs as-a-resaht-of operating as a public company are significant, and
our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance with our public company responsibilities and corporate
governance practices. As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that private companies do
not incur. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act, the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements
of the Nasdaq Capital Market, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public



companies. Our management and other personnel will devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these
requirements. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some
activities more time- consuming and costly. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we will incur as a
public company or the specific timing of such costs. Our internal control over financial reporting may not meet the standards
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, could have a material adverse effect on our business and
share price. Our management is required to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules
governing the standards that must be met for our management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex
and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. We-Our management previously determined that a
material weakness existed in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, and 2022. Although
management has determined that such weaknesses have been remediated and that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective as of December 31, 2024, we cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial
reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If
we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting
once that firm begins our Section 404 reviews, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports, the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq,
the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting,
or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to
the-capital markets . Risks Related to World Events Tariffs and other changes in international trade policy could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Materials and products imported into the
EU, the United States and other countries are subject to import duties. In addition, we cannot predict whether future
Brazilian, U. S. or international laws, regulations or specific or broad trade remedy actions or international agreements
may impose additional duties or other restrictions on exports of minerals from Brazil. Any such changes in legislation
and government policy may have a material adverse effect on our business. For example, in recent periods, the U. S.
government has announced and, in particular following the U. S. presidential election in November 2024, may continue
to announce, various import tariffs on goods imported from certain trade partners, such as the EU and China, which
have resulted, and may continue to result, in reciprocal tariffs on goods exported from the United States to such trade
partners. For example, recently the Trump Administration has signed executive orders imposing tariffs on imports from
Canada, Mexico, and China. An escalating global trade war, including between the United States and China, could harm
our business and growth prospects. Trade barriers and other governmental action related to tariffs or international
trade agreements around the world have the potential to decrease demand for our minerals and adversely impact the
markets in which we operate. A resurgence of the COVID- 19 pandemic, or the emergence of a new pandemic, may
adversely affect our business. A resurgence of the COVID- 19 pandemic, or the emergence of a new pandemic, may
adversely affect our business. In the recent past, the spread of COVID- 19 caused public health officials in both Brazil
and the U. S. to recommend precautions to mitigate the spread of the virus, especially as to international travel. In
addition, certain states and municipalities in both countries enacted quarantine and “ shelter- in- place ” regulations and
at times required non- essential businesses to close. There is no certainty that a resurgence of COVID- 19, or a new
pandemic, will not occur with restrictions imposed again in response. It is unclear how such restrictions, if put in place
again, would contribute to a general slowdown in the global economy and would affect our business. An escalation of the
war in Ukraine and conflicts in the Middle East, coupled with the international policy of the new U. S. presidential
administration or the emergence of conflict elsewhere may adversely affect our business. Global markets have
experienced, and may continue to experience, volatility and disruption following the escalation of geopolitical tensions,
including the ongoing war in Ukraine, the new U. S. presidential administration’ s internal policy agenda, recent
conflicts in the Middle East, rising tensions between China and Taiwan, the relationship between China and the United
States, and other sources of geopolitical uncertainty and instability. The length and impact of these ongoing military and
economic conflicts is highly unpredictable. Such geopolitical events, terrorist or other attacks, wars (or threatened wars)
or international hostilities may lead to armed conflict or acts of terrorism in other parts of the world, which in turn may
contribute to further economic instability in the global financial markets and international commerce. While much
uncertainty remains regarding the global impacts of the war in Ukraine and conflict in the Middle East, it is possible
that such tensions could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operation and cash flows.
Furthermore, it is possible that third parties, such as our customers and suppliers, may be impacted by these conflicts,
which could adversely affect our operations. These uncertainties could also adversely affect our ability to obtain
additional financing on terms acceptable to us or at all . [tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. None. Item 1C.

Cybersecurity As an exploration stage company, we-havelimited-operattons-and-our business activity to date has been
identifying, acquiring, and exploring mineral properties. We have not yet adopted formal cybersecurity risk management
programs or formal processes for assessing cybersecurity risks. We understand the importance of managing material risks from
cybersecurity threats and are committed, as part of our continuing growth, to implementing and maintaining an adequate
mfmmatlon secunty program to manage such mks and sateguald our systems and data We -Ba-ta—used—&ﬁd-s’fefed—eﬁ—euf

currently manage our cybersecurity risk tthULh plstlCCS that are appllmble to all users of our mtormdtlon technolooy and



information assets, including our employees and contractors. We notify these users of expectations regarding acceptable sses—-
use of our information systems and alert them to potential sources of cybersecurity threats. We use a combination of technology
and monitoring to prevent security incidents. The technologies we utilize for cybersecurity monitoring across our information
technology environment are designed to prevent, detect and minimize cybersecurity attacks, as well as alert management of such
attacks . During 2024, we implemented and adopted several technologies to increase our cybersecurity defenses, including
an Enterprise Resource Planning solution, a data control and backup solution, security in data access control (single
sign- on and multi factor authentication), and data encryption. We also have a firewall installed in all our facilities . [n
the last three years, we have not experienced a cybersecurity threat or incident that materially affected our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition. However, there can be no guarantee that we will not experience such an incident in
the future. Our executive management team is responsible for the development of our policies and procedures relating to our
risk management, including cybersecurity risks. Our board of directors has ultimate oversight of our risk management processes,
including any cybersecurity- related risk and activities. In particular, ear-the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors (*
Audit Committee ”) is responsible for monitoring compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in addition to
considering and discussing guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and mitigation is undertaken.
[tem 2. Properties. Lithium Projects Our lithium projects are listed in the following table. Mineral Name Location in Brazil
Aggregate Mineral Rights Area Lithium Minas Gerais Lithium Project State of Minas Gerais 468-km2 Lithium Other Brazil
Lithium PIOJGCI States of Pdrdlbd R10 Gldnde do Norte, and Tocantms kaFor addltlonal 1nformatlon about—'/—l—lﬂﬂ%t-h

€ A etig-desighed-by h g eer-. Management’ s D1scuss1on and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operatlon — Overview. ” Othe1 Critical Minerals Our other critical minerals properties are listed in the
following table. Mineral (s) Name Location in Brazil Aggregate Mineral Rights Area Nickel Nickel Properties States of Goias
and Piaui 449-km?2 Copper Copper Properties States of Bahia and Piaui 25+km2 Rare Earths Rare Earths Properties States of
Bahia, Goids, and Tocantins +2+km?2 Titanium Titanium Properties State of Minas Gerais $9-km2 Graphite Graphite Properties
State of Minas Gerais km2All 39-km2Withrespeetto-the critical mineral properties tisted-mn-the-table-abeve-are held by our
wholly owned subsidiary Brazil Minerals Resources Corporation (“ BMR ”). On December 18, 2024 , we do-entered into
an Option Agreement (the “ Option Agreement ) with Atlas Critical Minerals, pursuant to which we sold to Atlas
Critical Minerals an option to buy 100 % of our equity interests in BMR (the “ Option ). As consideration for the
Option, Atlas Critical Minerals will issue to us 797, 957 shares of its common stock, representing $ 500, 000 divided by a
value per share of $ 0. 6266. The Option is exercisable not- no have-detaled-exploration-plans-earlier than the filing by
Atlas Critical Minerals of a Form F- 1 registration statement with the SEC and within 12 months thereafter. If the
Option is exercised, we and Atlas Critical Minerals shall enter into a definitive purchase agreement for the purchase of
BMR pursuant to which Atlas Critical Minerals shall pay us total consideration of $ 8, 000, 000, which at our discretion
shall be in the form of cash, shares of Atlas Critical Minerals’ common stock, or budgets-a combination of cash and
shares. If Atlas Critical Minerals exercises the Option . in addition to the $ 8, 000, 000 consideration, we shall be entitled
toa perpetual royalty of one polnt five percent (1 5 %) of the revenues resulting from the mineral rights owned by BMR
as of the we-hav d 0 ate of the Option Agreement primarity-toward-ourtthium
e*p-lof&t—teﬂ—pfeg-f&rn— [tem 3. Legal Ploceedmgs We are not a party to any material legal proceedings. Item 4. Mine Safety
Disclosures. Not applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities. Market Information and Current Stockholders Since January 10, 2023, our common stock has
been trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market LLC (“ Nasdaq ) under the symbol “ ATLX. ” Prior to January 10, 2023, our
common was quoted on the OTCQB Marketplace (“ OTCQB ) operated by the OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the symbol “
ATLXD. ” As of March 26-10 , 2024-2025 , there were 432-123 holders of record of our common stock, which does not include
beneficial owners for whom CEDE & Co. or others act as nominees. Dividends We have not paid any cash dividends since our
inception and do not expect to declare any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities In
addition to the sales of unregistered securities previously disclosed in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q or Current Reports
on Form 8- K {the=2623-PertodieReports2-, we consummated the following sales of unregistered securities during the feurth
guaarter-offiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , which sales were exempt from registration under the Securities Act
upon reliance on Section 4 (a) (2) thereof, and Regulation S promulgated thereunder: ® On November 26-4 , 2623-2024 , we
issued 117 amraggregate-of 18-, 66+-233 shares of our common stock upenexetreise-to RTEK International DMCC in
satisfaction of three-outstanding-warrants-that-were-originatly-a contractual performance milestone. ¢ On October 17, 2024,

we issued 6, 000 shares of our common stock to a consultant n exchange for consultlng and professmnal services. ® On
July 2 , AugustandNovember-of 20212024 , —The-warran per-shate—s
we issued 24 reeetved-proeeeds-of $222- 645-000 shares of our common stock to a consultant in exchange for consultmg
and professional services. ® On July 2, 2024, we issued we issued 400, 000 restricted shares of our common stock to a
consultant in connection with sueh-exereises-the termination of an advisory arrangement. 200, 000 of the shares are
subject to a six- month lock- up period and 200, 000 are subject to a twelve- month lock- up period . © On Noevember26




January 3 , 2623-2024 , we issued 6 anaggregate-of40-, 000 shares of eur common stock to upen-exereise-of astock-option
he}d—by—a consultant fe—us—t-h&t—was—nssued—m exchange for consultmg and professnonal sewwes rendered—The-exereise-priee-of

Afflll'lted Pu1chasels Nelther Wwe nor any afflhdted purchaser or anyone dctmg on our behalf or on behalf of an afflhdted
purchaser made any purchases of shares of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Item 6. |
Reserved ] [tem 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. The following
discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated
financial statements and the notes to those financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion and
analysis below include forward- looking statements that are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the “
Risk Factors  section that could cause actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking
statements as a result of various factors. Additionally, our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may
be expected for any period in the future. We caution you to read the “ Forward Looking Statements ™ section of our Annual
Report. Overview-Atlas Lithium Corporation (“ Atlas Lithium ”, the ©“ Company ”, “ we ”, “ us ”, or *“ our ” refer to Atlas
Lithium Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries) is a mineral exploration dnd dev elopment company with lithium projects
and multiple lithium exploration properties. In addition, we own exploration properties in other battery minerals, including
nickel, copper, rare earths, graphite, and titanium. Our current focus is the development from exploration to active mining of our
hard- rock lithium project located in the state of Minas Gerais in Brazil at a well- known pegmatitic district in Brazil, which has
been denominated by the government of Minas Gerais as ““ Lithium Valley. ” We intend to mine and then process our lithium-
containing ore to produce lithium concentrate (also known as spodumene concentrate), a key ingredient for the battery supply
chain. Our We-are-butding-a-modular dense media separation (DMS) lithium processing plant targeted-at-was
manufactured in South Africa. It was designed to predueing-produce 150, 000 tons of lithium concentrate per annum (* tpa
”’) . The manufacturing process of the DMS plant was concluded in whatthe end of 2024 and the plant was successfully
shipped to Brazil. The shipment, consisting of 141 containers and 10 bulk items, departed the Port of Durban, South
Africa, on February 2, 2025, and arrived in Brazil, Port of Santos, on March 7, 2025. Our DMS plant represents a
cornerstone of our Neves Project, designed to deliver high- quality lithium concentrate to the global market for electric
vehicles (EVs) and renewable energy storage systems. Wlth worldw1de llthlum demand growing, we deseribe-are
positioned to emerge as a key contributor Pha W 0

transition. This milestone marks a significant step plant-w :
Phase-H-our progression toward becoming the next lithium producer in Brazil’ s resource- r1ch thhlum Valley .

However, there can be no assurance that we will have the necessary capital resources to develop such a facility or, if developed,
that we will reach the production capacity necessary to commercialize our products and with the quality needed to meet market
demand. All our mineral projects and properties are located in Brazil, a well- established mining jurisdiction. Our mineral rights
include approximately: ® 53, 942 hectares (539 km?2) for lithium in 95 mineral rights (2 in pre- mining concession stage, 85 in
exploration stage, and 8 in pre- exploration stage); ® 44, 913 hectares (449 km?2) for nickel in 29 mineral rights (23 in
exploration stage, and 6 in pre- exploration stage); ® 25, 050 hectares (251 km?2) for copper in 13 mineral rights (12 in
exploration stage, and 1 in pre- exploration stage); ® 12, 144 hectares (121 km?2) for rare earths in 7 mineral rights, all in
exploration stage; ® 6, 927 hectares (69 km?2) for titanium in 5 mineral rights, all in exploration stage; ® 3, 910 hectares (39
km?2) f01 g"lphlte in2 mlneral rights, all in exploratlon stage ° 1 030 hectcnes (1() km?2) for g ;Dold mmeral rlghts all in




U—S—GAAP— ()puallonal Lpddlc In early October 2024 we announced the dlscovery of spodumene- r1ch pegmatltes in
our Salinas Project area (the “ Salinas Project ), located approximately 60 miles north of our flagship Neves Project.
The Salinas Project spans 388 hectares (approximately 959 acres) and is situated just five miles east of Latin Resources’
Colina Project, a significant Lithivm-lithium Expleration-Campatgi-deposit. Our engetng-technical team had completed
soil geochemistry and LIDAR geological mapping with favorable results and began pursuing further geological and
geophysical studies prior to initiating a drilling campaign is-delineating-. Given the lithiumresourees-ofour+06-%—owned
Neves—posmve data collected by us and current market dynamlcs, the Sahnas PlO]LLl —a—e’rttsteieef—feﬂfht-h-tum—mrnera-l-

Rg-opet h ploration patein rreH-th local civil soclety and government unammously
approved our operatlonal permlt apphcatlon for our \Ju es Project . The permit was formally issued and published in

g her—- the official gazette of mineralrights-fordithium-within-the breader
Mmax Gerais government on October 26, 2024. The permit authorizes us to assemble and operate our Lithivm-lithium
Prejeetprocessing plant, process mined ore from one of our deposits at the facility, and sell the lithium concentrate that
it produces. This key development came after an extensive technical review process by regulatory agencies that began
with our initial permit application on September 1, 2023. The triphasic permit obtained by us is the most expeditious
licensing modality available as it encompasses the initial, mstallatlon, and operatmg hcenses all w1th1n thls same 1ssued
authorization ( known as “ MGEP-LP /LI/LO ~ )4
teeated-in the local regulatory termmology) In November 2024, we outlined our medlum to long- term reglonal growth
strategy within Brazil’ s Lithium Valley (“ LV ”), locally a-weH—known as the Jequitinhonha River Valley. We announced
that we hard- had —reek-assembled Brazil’ s largest portfolio of lithium distriet—A-speetalized-exploration-geology-tean
mineral rights among publicly listed companies, with three key projects spanning the major lithium- mineralized zones:
the Neves Project in southern LV, our flagship development which has recently been permitted assembled-to-initiate
reconnaissance-work-aeross-this-widerland-- and package-is advancing toward production; the Clear Project in central LV,
encompassing 470 acres situated 3 . -I-mt-ral—efferts—rnve-l—ve—]:rBAR—&nd—S mlles from Slgma L1th1um s m1ne, where detailed
geological mapping has resulted in the discovery with-a-spee g rg-of two
knownrand-previoushy-identifted-pegmatites and completed —as—wel-l—as—ﬁ-rs-t-—pass—wll \amplmfT l-rﬂes-revealed a substantlal
northeast- southwest trending lithium anomaly; and geophysies-the Salinas Project in northern LV, spanning 2, 070 acres
with natural spodumene outcrops located 4. 7 miles from Latin Resources Ltd. Our strategic approach prioritizes the
Neves Project for initial production while simultaneously advancing exploration at the Clear and Salinas Projects. In
December 2024, we strengthened our leadership team with to-two identify-anemalies-strategic appointments aimed at
accelerating our production readiness. Eduardo Queiroz joined as Project Management Officer and Vice President of
Engineering, bringing over 20 years of experience managing complex, large- scale mining projects. His most recent role
was as General Manager of Planning and Management at Bamin, a unit of Eurasian Resources Group, where he
successfully led the strategic planning of several projects over US $ 3 billion, including an integrated iron ore mining
project encompassing mining operations, processing plant, railway, and ocean port facilities. Additionally, we expanded
our global presence by appointing Lili Wu as Head of Business Development for Asia. Based in Beijing, Ms. Wu brings
extensive knowledge and network in the lithium and battery materials industries, with prior roles at InsightWoo and
IHS Markit (now part of S & P Global). Her appointment is particularly strategic as China’ s electric vehicle sales




demonstrated 51 % year- over- year growth as of November 2024. In February 2025, we achieved a significant milestone
with the successful shipment of our modular dense media separation (DMS) lithium processing plant from South Africa
to Brazil. The shipment, consisting of 141 containers and 10 bulk items, departed the Port of Durban on February 2,
2025, and arrived at the Port of Santos, Brazil, on March 7, 2025. The newly manufactured processing facility is fully
paid and wholly owned by us and a cornerstone of our Neves Project, is designed to deliver high- quality lithium
concentrate to the global market for electric vehicles (EVs) and renewable energy storage systems. The plant
incorporates cutting- edge and environmentally conscious design features, including a compact, modular design for
efficient transportation and installation, optimized physical footprint to minimize environmental impact while ensuring
high operational efficiency, advanced water conservation through internal recycling systems, and sustainable tailings
management using dry- stacklng technology that ehmlnates the need for talhngs dams This development marked
another critical step phas 6 threrh

our progressnon toward becomlng the next hthlum producer in Brazil’ s resource- rich
Lithium Valley. We believe that our operations in Brazil’ s Lithium Valley will benefit from significant strategic
advantages, including competitive production costs and high- quality spodumene, positioning us well to meet demand for
fartherexplorationby-ourexploration-team-premium- grade lithium concentrate, particularly from Asian markets where
electric vehicle adoption continues to accelerate . We have engaged SGS Canada Inc. to produce “-SGS;and+inrpartientar;
their-geologist Mare—Antoine-Eaporte;a Qu&hﬁed—Perseﬂ—fer—hthrtuﬁ—deﬁnltlve fea51b1hty study (as such term is deﬁned

under Regulation S- K Item 1300
respect to our Neves Project +n







Resulls of ()puallom Flsml Year Ended Deumbu 31 %92—3—2024 (ompaud to Flsml \ ear Endul Duunbu 31, %922—2023
Revente-for-After a trial mining period in the second half of 2023, one of our subsidiaries commenced ongoing operations
at its quartzite quarry in 2024. Our gross margin of $ 265, 694 was generated from the sales of 551 m3 of unprocessed
blocks of quartzite and 905 m2 of processed slabs produced by our subsidiary’ s quartzite operation. By comparison,
there was no gross margin generation in the year ended December 31, 2023 . Operating expenses for -tetaled-$-0;-compared
toreventte-of $-6;765-during-the year ended December 31 %92—2—2024 totaled $ 44, 123 939 fepfeseﬁ{-rﬂg—a—deefease-eHQG
%—Reveme—rn%@%%—w&s—eempﬂsed-—— compared to solely A v 3

re-th a representing an increase of 682-4, 8 %. The increase was
mostly due to increases in ger Kldl dnd administrative mpunws sand stock- based compensation expense ane-, offset by a
reduction in exploration expenses, as deseribed-detailed below —: @ Higher General-general and administrative expenses of
approximately $ 5. 7 million during the period, primarily due to: (i) an inereased— increase by278-%;frontrin technical
service costs of $ 2 . 4 million ($ 4. 3 million in 2024 compared to $ 1. 9 million in 2023) , 722-directly related to
engineering and planning activities; (ii) higher third- party service costs , 197mainly related to the process to obtain the
operational permit for the Neves Project, totaling $ 1. 8 million ($ 2. 8 million in 2024 compared to $ 0. 4 million in 2023);
and (iii) a $ 1. S million increase in payroll expenses ($ 2 million in 2024 compared to $ 0. S million in 2023) driven by
team expansion as the project progresses; ® An increase of approximately $ 10 million in stock- based compensation
expense compared to the prior period, reflecting contractual obligations to members of the management team eligible for
stock- based compensation with a different vesting profile compared to 2023. In 2024, 81 % of the instruments issued
fully vested during the year, compared to 40 % of similar instruments issued in 2023; and ® A decrease in exploration
costs due to a reduction in exploratory drilling activities in 2024 and the commencement of the capitalization of
exploration expenses ($ 4. 5 million from April to December 2024 and Nil in 2023) due to the conclusion of a preliminary
economic assessment of the Neves Project in the second quarter of 2024. Other expenses for the year ended December 31,
2622-2024 totaled ~to-5 +6-1 ., 363-338 , 340-for-370 compared to $ 194, 175 during the year ended December 31, 2023,

m&m-ly—&ue—te—o—qapfeﬂﬁatehf—representmg an mcrease of 589 %, drlven by the derecogmtlon of a % —G%G—GGG—'rn—neﬁ-

s’feew}eeﬂ—fhe—Nasdaq—G&pﬁa-l—M&Pket— —O—hnghefeempeﬁsa-t-reﬁ—eesfs—&ue-?a mllllon asset relatlng to the premlum pald for an
option to acquire to-two the-inerease-mining rights in employee-headeount-approximately-Governador Valadares, Minas
Gerais, and the corresponding recognition of a $ | -940;,-600;-e-inereasecHegatfees-. 3 million expense. We decided not to
exercise such option and derecognized the amount recorded for the premium occurred because the results of
approximately-geological studies did not achieve the expected results. The assets subject to the option are unrelated to the
Company’ s Das Neves Project. As a result, we incurred a net loss attributable to our stockholders of § +42 , +66-241 ,
666-196 , or O—eeﬂs&ﬁfrg—e*peﬁses—&ppfexﬁnate}y—% 2 1;-950,-606-. 97 per share, Stoel—based-eompensation-expense-for the
year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , svas-compared to a net loss attributable to our stockholders of $ +5-40 , 669-768 . 698

275 or eempared—te—% 4 H@%&ﬂ%ﬁhﬂm@ﬁl—ﬁm&&@%&%{r 37 per share, durmg T—he—lﬂefe&se—ﬁ*&s—pﬂmﬂﬂ'l'y‘

0 : ton nsesfor-the year mdul Duunbu 31, "()2? L1qu1d1ty and Capltal
Resources As of December 31, we1=e—2024 we had cash and cash equivalents of § +6-15 , 553-537 , 836;compared-to-476
and net workmg capital of $ 8-12, 258, 774. Net cash used by operating activities totaled $ 18, 784, 844 for the year ended

December 31, 2622-2024 , compared —’Phe—rrwfease—was—pfnﬁ&ﬂ}y—&ue—lo net cash used tﬂefeased-exp-bfa-t-reﬂ—aefﬁﬂt-tes—fe}afed
to-the-exeeuttorrof $ 5, 962 602 during th




reemeyfor-the year ended December 31, 2023, totaled-a-representing an increase in cash used of $ 12, 822, 242, or 215 %.
The variation in net $45-876;-eoempared-cash used by operating activities was mainly due to : ® In $155;-842during-the
year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , representing-we received $ 20 million of deferred consideration from royalty sold
arising from the one- time royalty sale to Lithium Royalty Corp. with no similar transaction in 2024, as explained in Note
3; and e An increase of approximately $ 5. 7 million in General and administrative expenses due to the growth of our
personnel, infrastructure and the costs related to our operational permit relating to our Neves Project as we move
towards revenue- generating operations. As a result, we had more expenditures such as employee compensation and the
costs of third parties service providers such as technical consultants. ® A decrease of approximately $ 13 ether-expense-of
H-%-. The-deerease-ismainty-4 million in Exploration costs due to net—a reduction in drilling activities in 2024 and the
commencement of capltallzatlon of exploratlon expenses Net cas 1 used in 1nvest1ng act1v1t1es totaled -fafﬁal-ue—&djﬁstmeﬁ-ts

27 393-344 | 436525—er—$-4—1—1—per—shafe— or the yeal ended Deumbu 31 %92—3—2024 u)mpmed 10 a—net cash used-}ess
attributable-to-ourstoelkholders-of $ 4-7 , 628-970 , 172 526;-0r-$+-00-pershareduring the year ended December 31, 2022
2023 —Lieguidity-, representing and-- an €apital- Resourees-increase in cash used of $ 19, 374, 264, or 243 %. The variation
in net cash used by investing activities was mainly due to: e Increase of approximately $ 13. 3 million due to cash
advances the manufacturing of the DMS plant during 2024 e The capitalization of exploration costs incurred since April
2024 of approximately $ 4. S million e Increase in the acquisition of intangible assets represented by the implementation
of SAPNet cash provided by financing activities totaled $ 32, 131, 672 for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to
$ 43, 156, 759 during the year ended December 31, 2023, representing a decrease in cash provided of $ 11, 025, 087, or 26
%. We completed the following financing activities in 2024: e On March 28, 2024, we entered into a Securities Purchase
Agreement with Mitsui to issue 1, 871, 250 shares of our common stock in a registered direct offering for total gross
proceeds of $ 30, 000, 000. Net proceeds were approximately $ 29. 6 million after deducting offering expenses. ® On
November 22, 2024, we entered into an At The Market Offering Agreement with H. C. Wainwright & Co., LLC for the
issuance of up $ 25. 0 million of shares of our common stock (the “ ATM Agreement ”). During the year ended December
31, 2024, we sold 191, 723 shares under the ATM Agreement for proceeds of $ 1. 3 million, net of commissions and fees.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. We have historically incurred net
operating losses and have not yet received material revenues from the sale of products or services. As a result, our primary
sourees- source o 1quldnv have—has been the defwed-thfeﬁg-h—pmceeds tom the )-sales—- sale of our equity and-the-eguity-of
e b bt-. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had cash and cash equivalents
()l $ %9—15 549—537 92—7—476 and net W mkmg (,dplldl of $24-12 , 844-258 , 934774 ., compared to cash and cash equivalents $
280-29 , 525-549, 927 and a working capital deficit of § 2-23 , 452-809 , 553-637 as of December 31, 26222023 . We believe
our cash on hand will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least
twelve months threugh-Mareh2025- However, our future short- and long- term capital requirements will depend on several
factors, including but not limited to, the rate of our growth, our ability to identify areas for mineral exploration and the economic
potential of such areas, the exploration and other drilling campaigns needed to verify and expand our mineral resources, the
types of processing facilities we would need to install to obtain commercial- ready ploduels, and the ability to attract talent to
manage our different areas of endeavor. To the extent that our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements,
we may need to seek additional equity or debt financing. If the needed financing is not available, or if the terms of financing are
less desirable than we expect, we may be forced to scale back our existing operations and growth plans, which could have an
ad\'crs‘c impact on our busmcsx and manual p1<)s}xcls and could raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going

i = 4 A 1 A 11
be}ew-&nder—F-manemgﬁetwrﬁes—\\’ cunenllx hm €no o l balance shcu arrangements. Offtake and Sales Agreements In
DecemberF—m&nemgﬁetwrﬁes—f@H&ntt&w—H,— ()"3 we entered into Offtakeeemp}eted—eﬂﬁﬁfm—&ndeﬁﬁrtteﬁ—pﬁbhe

A otr-with -fettr—rnvestefs—each of Slchuan Yahua Industrlal
Group Co., Ltd and Sheng Wel Zhl Yuan Internatlonal lelted a subsidiary of Shenzhen Chengxin Lithium Group
Co., Ltd. , pursuant to which we agreed , for a period of five (5) years, to issae-and-sell to each buyer 60, 000 dry metric
tonnes of lithium concentrate ( the investors-n-* Product ) per year, subject to our authority to increase or decrease such
quantity by up to ten percent (10 %) each year. Each of the buyers agreed that upon the Company reaching certain
milestones, including the obtaining of customary licenses, to pre- pay to the Company $ 20. 0 million (each, a RegulationS
private-“ Pre- Payment Amount ) for future deliveries of the Product after we obtain customary licenses. Each Pre-
Payment Amount when made will be used to offset against such buyers’ future plaecement—- payment an-aggregate-of526




obligations for the Product. On March 27 , 347restrieted-shares-2024, In connection with the closing of a registered

offering of our common stock to Mitsui ( —'Phe—pu-rehase—pﬂee—fer—the £ M1tsu1 Reglstered Offerlng ) shares—was—$—1—9—99—per
shatre-, our subsidiary Atlas Brazil fo =

pfeﬂaisseﬁ'—netes—w%ﬂa—an—andMltsul &8 al-prinetpal-a ; 0,-060;¢

entered 1nto an Offtake and Sales Agreement pursuant two— to seeurrt—tes—whlch Atlas Braznl agreed to sell and dellver to
the Mitsui, and Mitsui agreed to purchase agreements-with-and take delivery of, (i) the spot quantity of fifteen thousand
(15 000) dry metric tons of Atlas Brazﬂ’ s product, and sub]ect to the fulfillment of certain conditions precedent

G c-to 67, (ii) up 954-shares-ofits-eommon-stoek;-to sixty

thousand (60 000) dry metrlc tons of Atlas Brazil’ s product for each of the-investors-inryear, up to a registered-direet

offering-at-a-purehase-priee-of $ 2977 pershare—The-total of grossproeeedsfronrthe-three hundred thousand (300 registered
efferrng—were—!ﬁ—l—@— 000 7666-) dry metric tons . f—Addtt-xenaH-y—durmg—For more 1nformat10n about the %92—3—M1tsu1

GSP—A—Note 7 - Related Party
W ; 26 —Currency Risk We operate primarily
in Brazil, which exposes us to currency rlsks Our buslness actlvmes may generate intercompany receivables or payables that
are in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity. Changes in exchange rates from the time the activity occurs to
the time payments are made may result in it receiving either more or less in local currency than the local currency equivalent at
the time of the original activity. Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in U. S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in
exchange rates between the applicable foreign currency and the U. S. dollar affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary’ s
financial results into U. S. dollars for purposes of reporting in the consolidated financial statements. Our foreign subsidiaries
translate their financial results from the local currency into U. S. dollars in the following manner: (a) income statement accounts
are translated at average exchange rates for the period; (b) balance sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end of
period exchange rates; and (c) equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation in this manner affects the
shareholders’ equity account referred to as the foreign currency translation adjustment account. This account exists only in the
foreign subsidiaries’ U. S. dollar balance sheets and is necessary to keep the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets in agreement.
Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are
based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the-aeeounting prinetples-generally-aceepted
rthe-United-States-of Amertean(~U. S. GAAP 2 Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are
affected by management’ s application of accounting policies. We believe that understanding the basis and nature of the
estimates and assumptions involved with the following aspects of our financial statements is critical to an understanding of our
financial statements. Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates. Exploration Stage Company The accompanying financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles related to accounting and reporting
by exploration stage companies. An exploration stage company is one in which planned principal operations have not
commenced or if its operations have commenced, there has been no significant revenues there from. Trade Receivables Trade
receivables represent amounts to be received from clients due to the sale of quartzite products. We recognize a trade
receivable following the recognition of revenue when control of a product is transferred to the customer, and we have an
unconditional right to receive payment for such product. The receivable is initially recognized at fair value, which
usually corresponds to the price of the transaction (invoice), and such receivable is subsequently assessed to determine
the recoverability of the amounts as of each balance sheet date. Inventories We value our inventories in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ”) 330, Inventory (“ ASC 330 ”), which requires that inventories be valued at
the lower of cost or market. The cost of inventories is determined using the weighted average cost method. Property and
Equipment Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Major improvements and betterments are
capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is computed using the straight- line method over
the estimated useful life. At the time of retirement or other disposition of property and equipment, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the statements of operations as other
gain or loss, net. The processing plant and other machinery are depreciated over an estimated useful life of ten years; vehicles
are depreciated over an estimated life of five years; and eempuater-computers and other office equipment are depreciated over
an estimated useful life of five years. Mineral Properties Costs of exploration, carrying and retaining unproven mineral lease
properties are expensed as incurred , up to the stage at which the commercial and economic feasibility of the mineral
properties are proved. After the feasibility is determined, exploration costs are capitalized as incurred . Mineral property
acquisition costs, including licenses and lease payments, are capitalized. Although we have taken steps to verify title to mineral
properties in which #has-we have an interest, these procedures do not guarantee our rights. Such properties may be subject to
prior agreements or transfers and title may be affected by undetected defects. Impairment losses are recorded on mineral
properties used in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be
generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023 ;-ard-2622-, we did not
recognize any impairment losses related to mineral properties held . Proceeds received on the sale of interests in exploration



and evaluation assets are credited to the incurred exploration and evaluation expenditures, with any excess included in
operations. Write- downs due to impairment in value are charged to profit or loss. Mineral properties are amortized
throughout the life of the property based on a units- of- production method . [mpairment of Intangible Assets with
Indefinite Useful Lives We account for intangible assets in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 350,
Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (“ ASC 350 ). ASC 350 requires that intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer
be amortized ;-but instead be evaluated for impairment at least annually. On an annual basis, in the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year, we review our intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to
determine whether the existence of events or circumstances makes it more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible
asset is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible asset
is less than its carrying amount, the intangible asset is further tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount to its
estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which an indefinite- lived
intangible asset’ s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Application of impairment tests requires significant management
judgment, including the determination of fair value of each indefinite- lived intangible asset. Judgment applied when performing
the qualitative analysis includes consideration of macroeconomic, industry and market conditions, overall financial performance
of the entity, composition, or strategy changes affecting the recoverability of asset groups. Judgments applied when performing
the quantitative analysis ineludes— include estimating future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates and making
other assumptions. Changes in these judgments, estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair
value for each indefinite- lived intangible asset. Impairment of Long- Lived Assets For long- lived assets, such as property and
equipment and intangible assets subject to amortization, we continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could
indicate carrying amounts of long- lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in circumstances are
present, we assess the recoverability of long- lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets will be
recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the total of the future cash flows is less than the carrying amount
of those assets, we recognize an impairment loss based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs to sell. Variable Interest
Entities We determine at the inception of each arrangement whether an entity in which we hold an investment or in which we
have other variable interests in is considered a variable interest entity. We consolidate VIEs when we are the primary
beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that meets both of the following criteria: (1) has the power to make
decisions that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE; and (2) has the obligation to absorb losses or the
right to receive benefits that in either case could potentially be significant to the VIE. Periodically, we assess whether any
changes in the interest or relationship with the entity affect the determination of whether the entity is still a VIE and, if so,
whether we are the primary beneficiary. If we are not the primary beneficiary in a VIE, we account for the investment under the
equity method or cost method in accordance with the applicable GAAP. We have concluded that Atlas Critical Minerals
ApoHo-Reseurees;Fupiter-Gold-and their-its subsidiaries are VIEs in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
guidance; and although the operations of Atlas Critical Minerals ApeHe—Reset&ees—md—hpﬁer—Ge%d—are independent of ours,
because our ehief-Chief exeeuntive-Executive offteer-Officer and Chairman , Mare-Mr. Fogassa, is also the controlling

shareholder of Atlas Critical Minerals both-ApeteResenreesandJupiter-Gold-, we may be considered to have power to direct
the activities that are most significant to Atlas Critical Minerals ApoHo-Resourees-andJupiter-Geotd- Therefore, we concluded

that we are the primary beneficiary of Atlas Critical Minerals both-ApoHo-Reseurees-and-Juptter-Gold-. Stock- Based
Compensation We measure and reeerds— record stock- based compensation expense in accordance with ASC Topic 718 for
share- based payments related to stock options, restricted stock, and performance- based awards granted to certain directors,
employees and consultants. ASC 718 requires companies to measure compensation cost for stock- based employee
compensation at fair value at the grant date and recognize the expense over the employee’ s requisite service period. Under ASC
718, volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock or the expected volatility of the stock of similar companies. The
expected life assumption is primarily based on historical exercise patterns and employee post- vesting termination behavior. The
risk- free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U. S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
The fair value of stock options and performance awards without a market condition is estimated at the date of grant using the
Black- Scholes option- pricing model. The fair value of restricted stock awards and stock options with a market condition is
estimated at the date of grant, using the Monte Carlo Simulation model. The fair value of restricted stock awards with a required
lock- up period without a market condition is estimated at the date of grant, using the Hull- White Lattice (binomial) model. The
Black- Scholes, Monte Carlo Simulation, and Hull- White Lattice valuation models incorporate assumptions as to stock price
volatility, the expected life of options or awards, a risk- free interest rate, illiquidity discount, and dividend yield. In valuing our
stock options, significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our common stock and the expected life
that individuals will hold their stock options prior to exercising. Expected volatility for stock options is based on the historical
and implied volatility of our common stock while the volatility for restricted stock awards with a market condition is based on
the historical volatility of our own stock and the stock of companies within our defined peer group. Because changes in the
subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of our employee stock options, it is management’ s opinion that
the valuation models may not provide an accurate measure of the fair value of our stock options, restricted stock and
performance- based awards. Although the fair value of stock options and restricted stock awards is determined in accordance
with ASC Topic 718, that value may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing buyer / willing seller market
transaction. Foreign Currency ©ur-With the exception of Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda, our foreign subsidiaries use a local currency
as the functional currency. Resulting translation gains or losses are recognized as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income. Transaction gains or losses related to balances denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. Net foreign currency transaction losses included in our



consolidated statements of operations were negligible for all periods presented. Recent Accounting Pronouncements Aeeeunting

-Staﬂ&af&s—deafes—Adep’fed-ln M&feh—August 2626-2023 , the Financial Accounting Standards Board (- FASB ) 1ssued

-F%rS-B—tssttedﬁﬁ—S-U—ﬂ)B 05 Busmess (omblnatlom Joint Venture meatlons (Subtoplc 805 60): Reeoonmon and Illltldl
Measurement, which clarifies the business combination accounting for joint venture formations. The amendments in the ASU
seek to reduce diversity in practice that has resulted from a lack of authoritative guidance regarding the accounting for the
formation of joint ventures in separate financial statements. The amendments also seek to clarify the initial measurement of joint
venture net assets, including businesses contributed to a joint venture. The guidance is applicable to all entities involved in the
formation of a joint venture. The amendments are effective for all joint venture formations with a formation date on or after
January 1, 2025. Early adoption and retrospective application of the amendments are permitted. We do not expect the adoption
of the new guidance to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures...... currently evaluating
the impact of this update on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU
2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, amending income tax disclosure requirements
for the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The amendments in ASU 2023- 09 are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024, and are applied prospectively. Early adoption and retrospective application of the
amendments are permitted. We are-eurrently-evalaating-do not expect the adoption of the new guidance to have a material
impact efthisupdate-on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures . In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU
2024- 03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-
40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. The amendments in this update require disclosure, in the notes to
financial statements, of specified information about certain costs and expenses. The amendments in this update are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. We will analyze the impacts of this update in the upcoming years and
anticipate that we will not adopt the update early. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 04, Debt — Debt with
Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470- 20): Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments. The Board
issued this update to improve the relevance and consistency in application of the induced conversion guidance in
Subtopic 470- 20, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options. The amendments in this update clarify the
requirements for determining whether certain settlements of convertible debt instruments should be accounted for as an
induced conversion. The amendments in this update are effective for all entities for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2025, and interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. Early adoption is
permitted for all entities that have adopted the amendments in Update 2020- 06. Management does not expect this new
guidance to have any impact on our consolidated financial statements . [tem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk. The information to be reported under this Item is not required of smaller reporting companies. Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. Our financial statements, including the notes thereto, together with the report
from our independent registered public accounting firm are presented beginning at page F- 1. Item 9. Changes in and
Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. (a) Evaluation of
Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management, with the participation of our Prinetpat-principal Exeeutive-executive
©Offteer-officer and our Prineipal-principal Finanetatfinancial Offieer-officer , has cvaluated the design-operation;-and
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 3-( as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) efunder the Exchange
Act as—e-ﬁ) As 1n1t1ally dlsclosed in Amendment No. 1 to our Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 <
destg d-pro , filed on Form 10- K/ A with the SEC on November 8,
2024 (the « Amended 2023 Annual Report ), our mandgement feeegmzes-ldentlﬁed a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting. However, as described in more detail below, our management, with the oversight of the
Audit Committee, has taken significant steps to remediate this material weakness and has determined that it has any

eontrols-and-proeedures; no-now matter-how-wel-destgned-and-operated-been fully corrected. After the remediation of the
materlal weakness prevmusly 1dent1ﬁed e&n—pfeﬂde—eﬂ-}y—our prlnclpal executlve officer and pr1nc1pal ﬁnancnal officer

dlselosme controls and plocedures were eﬁeem e ﬁt—a—feaseﬁab-}e-assufaﬂee—l-evel-as 0fDecember 31 2024 . (b) dndgement’ S
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate



internal control over financial reporting, as saelterris-defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a- 15 (f). Our internal control system is
designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and to our Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair
presentation of published financial statements. Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our
Prinetpal-principal Exeeutive-executive Offieer-officer and Prinetpal-principal Finanetat-financial Offieer-officer ,
management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the “ COSO Framework ”) . Based-en-As initially disclosed in our Amended 2023 Annual Report, our
management identified a material weakness *s-evaluationtnder-the-framewerk-in our Internal-internal Centret-control —
Integrated-Frameweotk-over financial reporting for the year ended December 31 , 2023. However, as described in more
detail below, our management , with the oversight of the Audit Committee, has implemented remediation measures to
address the material weakness. After evaluating the effectiveness of these measures, management has determined that
the previously identified material weakness has been fully remediated, and as a result, management has concluded with
reasonable assurance that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024. Previously
Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A material weakness, as defined in the
standards established by the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim
consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In connection with the re- audit of
our financial statements as of and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, at-and December 31, 2022, we identified
a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. During this period, we outsourced day- to- day
accounting tasks due to limited accounting and financial reporting personnel and other resources needed to ensure
adherence to our internal controls and procedures. We did not have an internal finance function and had limited finance
and accounting professionals with the requisite experience to appropriately perform the supervision and review of the
information received from our third- party accounting service provider. The lack of U. S. GAAP experience from the
outsourced accounting firm, combined with the limited availability of an experienced team to supervise the third- party
service provider, resulted in the disclosed material weakness. Remediation and Resolution of the Material Weakness To
remediate the identified material weakness, we have taken several measures to improve our internal control over
financial reporting, including, among others: ® Recruiting more qualified personnel with relevant U. S. GAAP and SEC
reporting experience to strengthen our in- house financial reporting function and establish a financial and system
control framework. e Implementing regular and continuous U. S. GAAP accounting and financial reporting training for
accounting and financial reporting personnel. ¢ Enhancing oversight over, and clarifying reporting requirements for,
non- recurring and complex transactions to ensure consolidated financial statements and related disclosures are
accurate, complete, and compliant with U. S. GAAP and SEC reporting requirements. ® Preparing more detailed
guidance and manuals on financial closing policies and procedures to improve the quality and accuracy of the period-
end financial closing process. ® Implementing SAP Enterprise Resource Planning software to strengthen our ability to
adequately keep records of our accounting and financial information. Based on the assessment performed by our
management on the performance of these remediation measures, we determined that, as of December 31, 2024, the
previously identified material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting had been remediated.
Accordingly, our management has determined with reasonable assurance fevel-that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024 . No Attestation Report This Annual Report does not include an attestation
report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Since we are a smaller
reporting company, our management’-s-report is not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to
Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. As a result, this Annual Report contains only our management—s-report on
internal controls. (¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting Other than the remediation initiatives described
in item (b) above, There-there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in 2623-2024 that
materially affected, or would be reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. (d)
Limitations of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls The effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial reporting
is subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing and evaluating the control
system, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and the inability to completely eliminate fraud and
misconduct eempletely-. As a result, there can be no assurance that our internal control over financial reporting will detect all
errors or fraud. However, our control systems have been designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.
[tem 9B. Other Information. On November 14, 2024, Mr. Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, entered into
a written plan with Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC for the potential future sale of up to 300, 000 shares of our common
stock that is intended to satisfy the conditions of Rule 10b5- 1 (c) under the Exchange Act. Such plan expires on
September 19, 2025. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections. PART III Item 10.
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. The following table sets forth certain information as of the date of this
Annual Report concerning our directors and executive officers: Name Age Position Marc Fogassa Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer, Director Ambassador Robert Noriega Independent Director s Member-ofthe-Andit-Committee-Cassiopeia Olson, Esq.
lndependent Director yMemberof the-Audit-Committee-Stephen R. Petersen, CFA Independent Director Tiago Moreira 5
Member-of the-AuditCommittee-GustaveReretra-de Agutar-Miranda Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Principal Accounting
Officer Igor Tkachenko Vice President, Corporate Strategy Rodrlgo Nazareth Menck DirectorMarc NieholasRovwley-Viee-
President, BusinessDevelopmentMare-Fogassa, age 57-58 , has been a director and our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
since 2012. He has extensive experience in venture capital and public company chief executive management. He has served on
boards of directors of multiple private companies in various industries, and has been invited to speak about investment issues,



particularly as related to Brazil. Mr. Fogassa double majored at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (M. 1. T.), graduating
with two Bachelor of Science degrees in 1990. He later graduated from the Harvard Medical School with a Doctor of Medicine
degree in 1995, and also from the Harvard Business School with a Master of Business Administration degree in 1999 with
Second- Year Honors. At Harvard Business School, he was Co- President of the Venture Capital and Private Equity Club. Mr.
Fogassa was born in Brazil and is fluent in Portuguese and English. Mr Fogassa is also the Chalrman and Clnef Executive
Officer of Juptter-Gold-Atlas Critical Minerals Corporation, and-Cha
Corporatiomtwe-of-our consolidated subs*rd-n&ﬂes—subsmlary Mare-Mr. F ogassa serves as a dlrector because of hls experience
in the management of public companies in mineral exploration and his understanding of Brazil, the jurisdiction where we
operate. Ambassador Roger Noriega, age 65-66 , has been an independent director since 2012, and member of the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors since 2021. He has extensive experience in Latin America. Ambassador Noriega was
appointed by President George W. Bush and confirmed by the U. S. Senate as U. S. Assistant Secretary of State and served
from 2003 to 2005. In that capacity, Amb. Noriega managed a 3, 000- person team of professionals in Washington and in 50
diplomatic posts to design and implement political and economic strategies in Canada, Latin America, and the Caribbean. Prior
to this assignment, Amb. Noriega served as U. S. Ambassador to the Organization of American States from 2001 to 2003. Since
2009, Amb. Noriega has been the Managing Director of Vision Americas, a Latin America- focused consulting group that he
founded. Amb. Noriega has a Bachelor of Arts degree from Washburn University of Topeka, Kansas. Ambassador Noriega
serves as a director because of his experience in complex multi- jurisdictional agreements and his business and diplomatic
experience with Brazil. Cassiopeia Olson, Esq., age 46-47 , has been an independent director since 2021, and member of the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors since 2021. She is an attorney with extensive experience in international contracts,
securities law and venture negotiations. She has represented or engaged in transactions with leading companies in the
biomedical, technology and products and services sectors. From 2013 to 2017, Ms. Olson was at Kaplowitz Firm P. C. and from
2017 to January 2020, she was an attorney with the Crone Law Group. From February 2020 to May 2022 Ms. Olson was an
attorney with Ellenoff Grossman & Schole LP. She has been with Mitchell Silberberg & Knupp since May of 2022. She
received a B. A. in Economics and Finance from Loyola University in Chicago, and a J. D. from The John Marshall School of
Law. Ms. Olson serves as a director because of her experience with working with large multinational companies in complex
transactions and her knowledge of U. S. securities law. Stephen R. Petersen, CFA, age 68-69 , has been an independent director
since 2021, and member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors since 2021. Mr. Petersen has over 40 years of
experience in the capital markets and investment management. Since 2013, he has been a Managing Director and member of the
Investment Committee at Prio Wealth, an independent investment management firm with over $ 3 billion in assets under
management. Previously, Mr. Petersen served as Senior Vice President, Investments at Fidelity Investments for approximately
32 years. During his tenure at Fidelity, Mr. Petersen served as a Portfolio Manager and Group Leader of The Fidelity
Management Trust Company and was responsible for managing several equity income and balanced mutual funds such as
Fidelity Equity Income Fund (1993- 2011), Fidelity Balanced Fund (1996- 1997), Fidelity VIP Equity- Income Fund (1997-
2011), Fidelity Puritan Fund (2000- 2007), Fidelity Advisor Equity- Income Fund (2009- 2011), and Fidelity Equity- Income II
(2009- 2011). He began his career at Fidelity as an Equity Analyst. Mr. Petersen received a B. B. A. in Finance and an M. S. in
Finance from the University of Wisconsin- Madison. Mr. Petersen serves on the Board of the University of Wisconsin
Foundation and Chairs its Investment Committee. He also is Co- Chair of the Executive Committee for the Catholic Schools
Foundation Inner- City Scholarship Fund. Mr. Petersen is a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Petersen serve-serves as a director
because of his experience with capital markets and his knowledge of finance including expertise with financial statements.
Gustavo-Pereira-Tiago Moreira dec Agutar-Miranda , age 41, has been our Chief Financial Officer, Principal Accounting
Officer, and Treasurer , since July 2622-2024 . From 26+6-February 2024 until July 2622-2024 , Mr. Agutar-Miranda was the
ControHer-Chief Financial Officer of JagaarMining-Apollo Resources Corporation , a private company and subsidiary of
Atlas Lithium, which in November 2024 merged with Jupiter Gold Corporation, another subsidiary of Atlas Lithium.
ine-- In —such capacity , Mr. Miranda managed all of Apollo Resources’ financial and administrative related processes,
including treasury, accounting, tax, and financial planning and budgeting. Previously, from May 2020 to December
2023, Mr. Miranda was the senior financial officer for the Brazilian operations of Horizonte Minerals Plc., 2 Canadian
British publicly traded-listed company with two predueing-nickel projects in Brazil. During his tenure, he successfully
contributed to securing project financing of US $ 713 million for a ferronickel project and an additional $ 300 million
Brazilian real credit facility with Banco da Amazénia. Between November 2019 to April 2020, Mr. Miranda held the
position of Financial Controller for the Brazilian operations at Equinox Gold, a Canadian publicly listed gold producer
mines-trthe-state-of Minas-Gerats-Brazi- From March 2008 to October 2643-2019 te2646-, Mr. Aguiar-Miranda served
as the Controller of Ferrous Resources Ltd., an iron producer partially owned by Icahn Enterprises, a NYSE- listed
company. He actively contributed to the development of company projects from exploration through construction and

operation and was also heav1ly 1nvolved Geﬂt-re-l-}eie&t—é‘rrupe—erguel—aﬁ—eﬁterpﬂse—ln Ferrous Resources US $ 550 million

sale to Vale the-eo yle;at—S / A —private-equity
gfeup— ﬁnd—the largest Braznhan mlmng company fre-m—From September %9—1—9» 2005 to %9-1—3—March 2008 Mr eranda

%9(-)6—te—2(—)—1—(—)—Mh°rgma-1ewas an audltor Wlth De101tte Touche Tohmatsu irBrazit—Mr—Aguiar-has-undergraduate-deg i
sAdministra in Brazil. He has an exeeutive- MBA-and-fartherpost-
g-ra&uate—undergraduate eduea&en—degree n ﬁﬁanee-Busmess Admlmstratlon and Accounting, and a Master of Business
Administration, both from IBMEC Fundacae-Dem-Cabral-in Brazil. Mr. Agatar-Miranda is fluent in Portuguese and-, English
and Spanish is-a-tieensed-aeeountantinBrazi- [gor Tkachenko, age 38-39 , has been our Vice President, Corporate Strategy

since 2023. fgor-Mr. Tkachenko —a—UJ&&ma-n-ﬂA:meﬂe&n—aﬁd—a—U-S—tr&med—phfﬁeiﬁn—has served as a strategic advisor to us



since 2021, lending his leadership talents and private sector experience to further the company’ s mission to become a leading
hard- rock lithium provider for the green energy transition. In 2022, Igor Tkachenko began consulting for us as our Director of
Strategic Development, overseeing the rapid expansion of our investor relations efforts. He participated in the design and
execution of our organizational growth strategy that led to our successful up- listing to Nasdaq in January 2023. Mr. Tkachenko
graduated from the emergency medicine residency in 2019, after which he worked clinically at the University of Tennessee
Medical Center and served as a Clinical Assistant Professor at the University of Tennessee Graduate School of Medicine. Mr.
Tkachenko transitioned from his academic role to take on an executive position with us atthe-Company-and began serving as
our Vice President of Corporate Strategy in 2023. His education includes a Bachelor of Science (Summa Cum Laude) and a
Doctor of Medicine degrees. NiehotasRowley-Rodrigo Nazareth Menck , age 39-49 , has served as a director since August
2024. Mr. Menck has also served as the Chief Financial Officer of Atlas Critical Minerals since September 2024, and
since September 2023 has been eur-Viee—President-an advisor to Atlas Lithium covering a range of topics , Business
-Beve}epmeﬂt—smee-mcludlng operational readlness and 1nterface with 1nst1tut10nal 1nvestors. Prev1ously, from January

2623, I\/h EFa-l-bet—Menck held the posrtron of Senior V1ce Presrdent of Flnance & Group CFO at Nexa Resources SA, a
NYSE & TSX listed company, controlled by the traditional Brazilian group Votorantim. From April 2016 to January
2019, he was the Global Treasurer €hief-Operating-Offieerat Sigma-Fithium-Corporation(“-Stgma—>)-Nexa Resources. From
January 2011 to March 2016 a—Ganad-ran—hthr&m—predueer—vs&th—epefaﬁeﬂs-Mr. Menck was an Investment D1rector at the

- From May 2008 to January %9—1—7—2011 t02022-Mr. fPal-bet—Menck held
posmons at Braskem SA a large Brazrhan petrochemlcal company. From January 1996 to May 2008, Mr. Menck had a
12- year career in several Brazilian and international banks based in Brazil, such as General-BankBoston, Banco Francés
e Bras1le1ro, WestLB C1t1bank and BNP Parlbas, holdlng several different positions such as Trader, Trade Finance

d , Securitization Officer, Product Manager, DCM & Export
F1nance Structurer and Relatlonshlp Manager, whlle covering a variety of clients in a diverse range of segments in
Brazil. Mr. Menck has a degree in Business Administration, and an entity-whieh-MBA in Economics of the Financial

Sector, both from the Un1vers1ty of Sao Paulo in Brazrl Mr. Menck is ﬂuent new—paﬁ—e%%readmm—]:rﬂmm—P—I:&ene—e-ﬁthe

Executives in Brazil . Board Composition Our Board of Directors currently is composed of -feuiefive members, Ambassador
Rogel N011egd (ass10pe1d Olson, Esq Stephen R. Petelsen CFA, Rodrlgo Menck, and Marc Fogassa —Asnoted-abeve; Brian

0 b . There are no family relationships among our
directors and executive officers. There is no cnlang:ement or understdndmo between or among our executive officers and
directors pursuant to which any director or officer was or is to be selected as a director or officer. Director Independence We
currently have three independent directors on our Board of Directors. We use the definition of “ independence ” found in the
Listing Rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market (“ Nasdaq ”’) to make this determination. Our Board of Directors has undertaken a
review of the independence of each director and will review the independence of any new direeters— director based on
information provided by each director concerning their background, employment, and aftiliations, in order to make a
determination of independence. Our Board of Directors has detelmmed that each of Ambdssddm Noriega, Mr. Petersen > and
Ms Olson is mdependent Beard asdaghas-adep A A A A

One of the key fumtlons 01‘ our Board of D11ect01s is informed 0\’ers1ght of our risk management process. We—ha—ve—fe)ﬂﬂed
suppotting- The Board of Directors has designated three committees . The rinetading-the-Audit Committee, the



Compensation Committee, and the Nominations Committee yeach efwhieh-supports— support the Board of Directors by
addressing risks specific to its respective areas of oversight. In particular, our Audit Committee is has-the-respenstbitty—
responsible te-eonsider-for engaging and overseeing our independent auditor as well as evaluating and diseuss-discussing
our major financial risk exposures ané-. The Audit Committee also reviews the steps ear-management takes to monitor and
control ﬂ%ese—e*pesttres—such risks , including guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and risk
management #s-are undertaken. Fhe-Additionally, the Audit Committee alse-monitors compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and oversees iraddittonte-oversight-ofthe performance of our internal audit function. Our Compensation
Committee assesses and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs has the potential to encourage
excessive risk- taking. Our Nominations Committee provides oversight with respect to corporate governance and ethical conduct
and monitors the effectiveness of our corporate governance guidelines, including whether such guidelines are successful in
preventing illegal or improper liability- creating conduct. Committees of our Board of Directors Our Board of Directors has
established three standing committees- the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, and the Nominations Committee.
Audit Committee Nasdaq listing rules require that our Audit Committee be composed of at least three members , all of whom
are-shall be ““ independent directors ” who are “ financially literate ” as defined under the Nasdaq listing standards. As of the
date hereof, our Audit Committee was composed of Ambassador Noriega, Mr. Petersen and Ms. Olson, each of whom have been
affirmatively determined by our Board of Directors to meet the definition of “ independent director ” for purposes of serving on
an Audit Committee under Rule 10A- 3 and Nasdaq rules. The Board has determined that Mr. Petersen qualifies as an “ audit
committee financial expert ” as defined in Item 407 (e-d ) (5) of Regulation S- K. Compensation Committee and Nominations
Committee As a controlled company, we are not required under Nasdaq listing rules regtire-that-eur-to have a
Compensatior-compensation Committee-committee and-or Nominations-nominations Committee-committee be-eomposed
comprised solely of independent directors. AtHowever, we have opted not to take advantage of this exemption, and at this
time, our Nominations Committee and Compensation Committee are both comprised solely of independent directors. As of the
date hereof, the members of each of our Nominations Committee and Compensation Committee are: Compensation Committee
Nominations Committee Ambassador Roger Noriega Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. Stephen R. Petersen,
CFACompensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation At no time have any of the members of our Compensation
Committee been one of our officers or employees. Nene-of-Mr. Fogassa, our exeeutive-offieersenrrentty- CEO and Chairman,
serves yorin-the-past-year-has-served;as Chalrman and Chief Executlve Ofﬁcer of our subs1d1ary Atlas Crltlcal Minerals
and Rodrigo Menck, a member of oard-ofd or-Co or-Co 0
exeeutive-offteers-onour Board of Directors ef, became Chief F1nanc1al Officer and Treasurer of Atlas Crltlcal Mlnerals in
September 2024. Until July 2024, the full Board of Directors of Atlas Critical Minerals performed the functions of a
Compensatior-compensation Committee-committee . For an overview of related party transactions among Atlas Critical
Minerals, Mr. Fogassa, and us please see “ Note 7 — Related Party Transactions. ” Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
We adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers, and employees, including our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions and agents and representatives, including consultants. We intend to disclose future amendments to such the code, or
any waivers of its requirements, applicable to any principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting
officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions or our directors on our website. The code can be found on our
website at www. atlas- lithium. com / our- team / corporate- governance /. Controlled Company As of Beeember3+-date of
this Annual Report , Mr. 2623;-Mare-Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, controlled approximately 65 68—+
% of the voting power of our capital stock, and therefore we are a ““ controlled company, ” as such term is defined under the
Nasdaq Listing Rules. We currently do not rely on the controlled company exemptions provided under the Nasdaq Listing
Rules, but we may do so in the future. Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports Under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, our
directors, executive officers and any persons holding more than 10 % of our common stock are required to report initial
ownership of our common stock and any subsequent changes in ownership to the SEC. Specific due dates have been
established by the SEC, and we are required to disclose in this Annual Report any failure to file required ownership
reports by these dates. Based solely upon a review of forms filed with the SEC and the written representations of such
persons, we are aware of the following: (i) Each of Ms. Olson, Mr. Petersen and Ambassador Noriega, our independent
directors, was late in filing one Form 4 in 2024 to report the grant of stock options pursuant to our director
compensation program. Ms. Olson and Mr. Petersen each filed one late Form 5 reporting the grant of shares as director
compensation that should have been reported in 2023. Mr. Petersen’ s late Form 5 also included three additional
transactions that should have been reported in 2023. (ii) Mr. Fogassa filed seven late Form 4s in 2024, relating to twelve
transactions. (iii) Mr. Menck filed one late Form 4 in 2024, relating to one transaction. (iv) A late Form S was filed by
Brian Bernier in 2024, who was previously an officer but ceased to be subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16
in December 2023, reporting three transactions that he failed to report in 2023. (v) Mr Talbot did not file two Form 4s in
2024. (vi) Mr Aguiar did not file one Form 4 in 2024. Insider Trading Policy We maintain an Insider Trading Policy that
applies to all of our directors, officers, employees and related individuals, which we believe is reasonably designed to
promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations and listing standards. The Insider
Trading Policy is filed as Exhibit 19. 1 to this annual report on Form 10- K. [tem 11. Executive Compensation.
Compensation of Named Executive Officers This section discusses the material components of the executive compensation
program in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , for our “ named executive officers. ” As a smaller reporting
company, the SEC defines our named executive officers as (i) our Chief Executive Officer; (ii) our two most highly
compensated executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer, who were serving as such as of December 31, 2623-2024
; and (iii) up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided pursuant to (ii) but for the fact they




were not serving as an executive officer at the end of the year. We have identified the following individuals as our named
executive officers according to this definition: ® Marc Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman; e Gustave-Aguiar
Tiago Miranda . our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer; ® Gustavo Aguiar, our former Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer ; e [gor Tkachenko, our Vice President of Corporate Strategy; and e Brian Bernter-Talbot , our Vee-Prestdent-of
InvestorRelations-former Chief Operating Officer and director . The primary objectives of our executive compensation
programs are to attract and retain talented executives to effectively manage and lead us. The compensation packages for our
Atlasithiam-s-named executive officers generally include a base salary, an annual cash bonus and equity. Summary
Compensation TableName and Principal Position Year Salary ($) Bonus ($) Stock Awards ($) (1) Option Awards ($) (1) Non-
Equity Incentive Plan Compensation ($) All Other Compensation ($) (2) Total ($) Marc Fogassa, Chairman and 2623-2024 -
667 624 , 786-539 (3) 212 , 133-474 . 416-639 (4) - 453:752+(3) 34131 , 645-3-182 13 , 229-230 , 593-360 Chicf Executive
Officer %W%%H%—M—%H%—%@%@Gbﬁmﬁgm&ﬁ%% - 607,786 (3) 2, 133, 692410 (5)
624 —47-, 526-539 (63 ) 34 , 476-154-645 3 , 688-400, 200 Tiago Moreira, Chicf Financial Officer 2022-2024 -89—101 , 903~
464-855 (6) 466 , 545-912 (7)- 76-18 , 000 —61+5-(6) 6 , 932 593 542 BrianrBernier-, 699 Gustavo Aguiar, 2024 103, 861 (8)—--
93, 000 (9) 51, 601 248, 462 Former Chief Financial Officer 2023 133 —3414- 900-692 (8) +64,65998)--- 50647 , 559V
520 (9) 3 . 476 184 nvestorRelations2022100-, 688 006-24;-900-36;,-080—154;-906-1gor Tkachenko, VP, Cmporate Strategy
2024 420, 000 (10)----- 420, 000 2023 210, 000 (10)- 4, 234, 498 ( H9-- 11 )--- 4, 444, 498 Brian Talbot, former Chief
Operating Officer and director 2024 275, 000 (12)- 615, 792 (13)--- 890, 792 (1) The amounts in these columns reflect the
aggregate-grant-date-fair value of stock awards and stock options calculated and amertized in accordance with FASB ASC
Topic 718. Please see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , contained in
this Annual Report for the assumptions used in the calculation of grant date fair values pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 718. (2)
All Other Compensation includes retirement plans, disability, medical, dental and vision insurance coverage benefits . The
amount shown for Mr. Fogassa in 2024 also includes a total of $ 65, 590 of Company contributions to Mr. Fogassa’ s
retirement savings plan, as provided for in his amended and restated employment agreement. The amounts shown for
Mr. Aguiar in 2024 includes the payment of $ 30, 000 for accrued vacation when he resigned . (3) Pursuant to the terms of
Mr. Fogassa’ s amended and restated employment agreement, his performance bonus for each calendar year is earned when the
level of achievement is determined by the Board in the calendar year following the corresponding performance year. Such an
amount is paid half in cash and half in fully —vested shares of common stock granted after the performance bonus is determined.
The amount shown in the Non- Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column (and, as a result, the Total column) for 2023
has been revised to reflect an additional $ 170, 787 earned by Mr. Fogassa and paid in cash, as previously disclosed in the
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’ s Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, filed on Form 10- K/
A with the SEC on November 8, 2024. The amount shown in the Stock Awards column for 2023-2024 represents the grant of
fully vested shares of common stock during the calendar year of 2024 for performance in the calendar year 2023 , including
the additional amount he was entitled to as disclosed in the Form 10- K/ A.. No amount is reported for the cash portion
of Mr. Fogassa’ s performance bonus in 2024 as the Compensation Committee has not yet determined and certified the
amount earned, if any, in respect of fiscal 2024. Further, the grant of stock awards for fiscal 2024 performance, if any,
will be approved and issued in calendar year2022-2025 —Fthe-g ekAwa i
was-approved-and gf&nfed-by—Bea-fd—rﬂ—eal-eﬁd&r%@%&ﬂd-wﬂ-l—be dlsdosed in the proxy statement f01 calendal ye&r%924-2025
(4) Represents the fair value of the non- qualified stock options granted to Mr. Fogassa. (5) Represented options to
purchase 30, 000 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock. All of the options to purchase Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock have been exercised and there are no such options currently outstanding. ( 5-6) The amount included in the Salary
column represents Mr. Miranda’ s base salary of $ 15, 000 per month and Mr. Miranda’ s monthly fee of $ 7, 500 paid
by Atlas Critical Minerals for supervising the internal accounting and other financial- related functions of the
subsidiary. The amount in the Non- Equity Incentive Compensation column represents the bonus earned based on the
accomplishment of performance metrics. (7) Represent the fair value of the 40, 000 time- based restricted stock units (*
RSUs ) granted to Mr. Miranda in connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer, which RSUs will
vest annually in four equal instalments starting the first month after his employment start date. (8 ) Represents Mr.

Pereira de Aguiar’ s base salary of (i) $ 9, 500 per month through August 31, 2624-2023 , and (ii) his-base-salary-of$ 15, 000 per
month, effective as of September 1, 2023, as-deseribed-below-and through his resignation in July 2024 . ( 6-9 ) Pursuant to his
employment agreement M1 Pereira de Aguiar 1s-was entlt]ed to a cash bonus tied to Celtam pen‘ormdnce metrics. Mr. 7

( orpomte Stmtevy in SeptembeI 7073 dnd the amount shown leplesents a pro- ration of hls annual base salary 01‘ $ 42() 000 for
2023 and full amount for 2024. As described under “ Igor Tkachenko Agreement, ” below, beginning October 1, 2024,
Mr. Tkachenko’ s salary is paid in shares of common stock. In January 2025, Mr. Tkachenko was issued 13, 275 shares
in payment of his salary earned from October 1 through December 31, 2024 . (11) Represents 80, 000 shares of common
stock granted to Mr. Tkachenko as a bonus during his consultancy period, prior to becoming an executive officer, and 40, 533
shares issued pursuant to Mr. Tkachenko’ s employment agreement based on us achieving certain market capitalization
milestones that, in the aggregate, had a grant date fair value of $ 2, 957, 912. The amount in the table also includes $ 1,
276, 585 related to our contingent obligation to issue shares of common stock pursuant to Mr. Tkachenko’ s employment
agreement, as described under the “ Igor Tkachenko Agreement, ” below. This amount was calculated based on a Monte



Carlo Simulation valuation in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 as of the date of the employment agreement,
including an assumed 127, 635 shares of common stock to be issued, as further described in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, contained in our Amended 2023 Annual Report. The Monte
Carlo Simulation valuation performed on December 31, 2023 was updated as of December 31, 2024, resulting in an
increase in the assumed number of shares from 127, 635 to 160, 145. Such update did not result in any increase to the fair
value previously calculated. If we ultimately issue shares to Mr. Tkachenko in excess of the amount included in the
assumptions used in the Monte Carlo Simulation valuation, we will report the value of such additional shares in the
Summary Compensation Table for the year in which such shares are actually issued. (12) Represents the monthly salary
of $ 55, 000 per month paid to Mr. Talbot. Mr. Talbot resigned from the Company on August 16, 2024. (13) Represents
the fair value of the 83, 000 shares of our common stock granted to Mr. Talbot . Narrative to Summary Compensation Table
Marc Fogassa Agreement On December 31, 2020, our Board approved an amendment and restatement of the employment
agreement between us and Mare-Mr. Fogassa, our Chief Executive Officer (the-“ A & R Employment Agreement ). Under the
A & R Employment agreement, Mr. Fogassa no longer received a salary payable in cash, which under the terms of the prior
agreement was for an amount of § 250, 000 per annum. Instead, he was to be granted non- qualified stock options on a monthly
basis to purchase 33, 333 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 0075 per share. Pursuant to the A & R
Employment Agreement, Mr. Fogassa is also entitled to incentive compensation payable half in cash and half in fully vested
shares of common stock upon the achievement of certain book value metrics, as set forth in the A & R Employment Agreement
. In December 2023, the Board approved Mr. Fogassa receiving stock option compensation on an annual, rather than
monthly, basis. In 2024, pursuant to Mr. Fogassa’ s election to receive options to purchase shares of our common stock,
Mr. Fogassa was granted an annual award of stock options to purchase 399, 966 shares of common stock . Under the A &
R Employment Agreement, Mr. Fogassa is entitled to a housing benefit of up to $ 5, 000 per month for a primary or secondary
residence out of the United States. We shall pay all costs of reasonable medical, dental, vision, long- term disability, and short-
term disability to Mr. Fogassa, and to his spouse or partner and children under the age of 21, at reasonable plans chosen by Mr.
Fogassa. Mr. Fogassa is also entitled to an annual contribution by the Company of the maximum amount allowable to a
simplified employee pension plan (SEP- IRA). Unless declined by Mr. Fogassa, we shall pay the annual premium costs of a
life insurance policy for Mr. Fogassa in the amount of § 5, 000, 000 for payment to his designated beneficiaries. In the event of
atermination of employment by us, we shall immediately make a payment to Mr. Fogassa equal to $ 500, 000. If upon the
completion of a change of control, or other corporate event, Mr. Fogassa is no longer our Chief Executive Officer, or the Chief
Executive Officer of our new controlling person, as the case may be, then we shall immediately make a payment to Mr. Fogassa
equal to $ 2, 000, 000. Hr-September-Tiago Moreira de Miranda Agreement On July 23, 20212024 , the-Board-determined-to
allow-we entered into an employment agreement with Tiago Miranda, our Chief Financial Officer that provides that in
consideration for his services as our Chief Financial Officer, l\/h eranda Fegassa—as—his—~ Is entltled e}eeﬁeﬁ—to (1)

recelve meﬂt-h-l-y—graﬂ’fs—cash compensatlon of US$ 155
bed-above-, 000 peraﬂd-rn%%—M-r—Fegassa—was—gramed-ﬁeek
P rvertible e eleaeh-month —I-n—Beeeﬂaber—Z’-G%Zv,—, (ii) have the
0 tving-steh-stoekopt 01 achlevmg certaln speclfic

opportunlty, base e SasSarecety
performance metrlcs, to earn an annual performance bonus ath h
; e of eeﬁafﬂeﬁ—sfeeleup to US $ 45 000 and m%@%‘l—M-r—Fegassa—was—graﬂfed—an
annual aw&rd—dlscretlonary bonus of up to US $ 15, 000; (iv) receive 40, 000 tlme- based restricted stock eptiens-units (*“
RSUs ”) to purehase-399-be granted pursuant to our 2023 Stock Incentive Plan , 966-which shares efeemmen-stoek
pursuant-to-will vest annually in four equal installments, with vesting period starting these—- the first month after his
employment start date. Additionally, if during the first 12 months of his employment, calculated from his employment
start date, Mr. Miranda’ s employment is terminated by us for any reason, 25 % of his RSUs will vest immediately upon
termination. Mr. Miranda receives separate compensation for supervising the internal accounting and other financial-
related aetiens-functions for Atlas Critical Minerals, a subsidiary of Atlas Lithium . Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar Agreement
On March 15, 2022, Gustavo Pereira de Aguiar, our former Chief Financial Officer, entered into an agreement with us,
effective March 16, 2022 ( the- Start Date ), pursuant to with-which Mr. Aguiar -ts—pfe&‘td-tﬁg—seﬁtees—te—us—SﬂWd as our
Chief Financial Officer (the “ GPA Employment Agreement ”’). Under the GPA Employment Agreement, Mr. Pereira de
Aguiar received a signing bonus totaling $ 25, 000, and was entitled to base cash compensation of $ 9, 500 per month and a
maximum annual bonus of $ 45, 000, with the amount received conditioned on the filing by us, on an annual basis, of one Form
10- K and three Forms 10- Q with the SEC. Further, on the Start Date, for the purehdse price of § 1. 00, M1 Pelelra de A(’Llldl
was ’fe—be-s_rdnted hatweotld-v atisfa v :

RSUs and the RSU grant, -t-he— GPA RSU Gldnt ’), which vests over four years in four tmnches The flrst dnd the second
tranche of the GPA RSU Grant vested on March 16, 2023, and {March +5-16 , 2024 3, respectively and Mr. Pereira de Aguiar
was issued 21, 255 shares of our common stock on each respective vesting date . The agreement is-was terminable at any time
by mutual agreement of the parties and at any time for any reason or no reason by either party, with prior written notice of thirty
days to the other party; provided, that if Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s employment +s-was terminated for any reason by us other than
gross negligence or willful malfeasance, the GPA Grant shall be deemed to be fully vested immediately upon such termination.
The agreement provided for a payment of § 60, 000 if such termination occurred before the first- year anniversary of the Start
Date, dnd a payment of 3> 30, 000 if such te1m1nat10n occuned before the second anmverscuy of the Start Date H-we-terminate

yet—vesfed—sha-l—l—be—éeemed—te—b&ferfeﬁed—ln Decembel 2023 the Board approved Certam dmendments to Mr Perelra de




Aguiar’ s compensation, pursuant to which, (i) effective September 1, 2023, he #s-was entitled to a base salary of § 15, 000 per
month, (ii) for calendar year 2024, Mr. Pereira de Aguiar’ s performance- based bonus swiHl-entitle-entitled him to earn a cash
payment equal to five times his then monthly salary upon the achievement of certain goals related to his duties as Chief
Financial Officer, and (iii) his GPA Grant was amended to provide for immediate vesting upon a change in control . On July 17,
2024, Gustavo P. Aguiar resigned as our Chief Financial Officer (serving as the principal financial and accounting
officer) and Treasurer. Mr. Aguiar’ s resignation was not due to any disagreement with us on any matter relating to our
operations, policies or practices. Mr. Aguiar left to work with his father on a real estate business opportunity . [gor
Tkachenko Agreement On September 30, 2023, we entered into an employment agreement with Igor Tkachenko that provides
for a term through December 31, 2026, subject to renewal by mutual consent. The agreement provides that Mr. Tkachenko will
serve as our Vice President of Corporate Strategy and will be entitled to a base salary of $ 420, 000 per year. Additionally, Mr.
Tkachenko will have the right to receive shares of our common stock equal to 0. 2 % of the shares of common stock then
outstanding when and if our market capitalization reaches $ 200 million, $ 300 million, $ 400 million, $ 500 million, $ 600
million, $§ 800 million and § 1 billion. The agreement further provides that in the event that we undergo a change in control (as
defined in our 2023 Stock Incentive Plan) and any of the foregoing performance requirements have not been met, Mr.
Tkachenko’ s right to receive such shares will be accelerated. The agreement also contains a non- compete provision pursuant to
which Mr. Tkachenko has agreed not to engage in competitive activities during his employment period and for a period of one
year thereafter. On September 5, 2024, we entered into an Amendment to Employment Agreement with Mr. Tkachenko,
effective on October 01, 2024, which provides for his base salary to be paid in monthly installments in shares of our
common stock. The amendment further provides that the payments may revert back to cash payments by mutual
agreement of the parties. Brian Talbot Mr. Talbot was appointed by the Board as Chief Operating Officer, effective as of
April 1, 2024. In connection with his appointment as officer and director, the compensation to Mr. Talbot consisted of (i)
a monthly salary of $ 55, 000 and (ii) the following equity awards: (a) 75, 000 shares of our common stock; (b) 10, 000
time- based restricted stock units (“ RSUs ”), such awards to vest monthly in six equal installments; (c) 50, 000
performance- based RSUs, such awards to vest on the delivery of the Definitive Feasibility Study of our Neves lithium
project. On August 16, 2024, Mr. Talbot resigned as an officer and director. As a result of the resignation, the 50, 000
performance- based RSUs disclosed above were forfeited. As of the date of his resignation, 7, 500 performance- based
RSUs vested and the vesting of an additional 500 performance- based RSUs was accelerated in connection with the
resignation. Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year- End The following table provides information regarding equity awards
held by the named executive officers that were outstanding as of December 31, 2623-2024 : Option awards Stock awards Name
Number of securities underlying unexercised options (#) exercisable Number of securities underlying unexercised options (#)
unexercisable Equity incentive plan awards: Number of securities underlying unexercised unearned options (#) Option exercise
price (§) Option expiration date Number of shares or units of stock that have not vested (#) Market value of shares of units of
stock that have not vested ($) Equity incentive plan awards: Number of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not
vested (#) Equity incentive plan awards: Market or payout value of unearned shares, units or other rights that have not vested
($) (1) Marc Fogassa--------- Tiago Miranda (2)----- 40, 000 253, 200-- Igor Tkachenko (3)-----—-- 160, 145 1, 013, 718 Gustavo
Aguiar 63764~ 24 ) --—------ 1:-994;-5451gerTkachenko127,-635(3)3;-992;485-Brian Talbot Bernter5;-606-(4) +75;+68—----
----- (1) All amounts are based on the closing price of our common stock on December 20-31 , 2023-2024 , of § 34-6 . 28-33 . (2)
Represents restricted stock units, 2410 , 255-000 of which vest on each of July 23 Marelh16;2624-and-Mareh1+6-, 2025, July
23 and24254-ofwhich-veston-Marelh16-, 2026 , July 23, 2027, and July 23, 2028 . (3) Represents the aggregate number of
shares of our common stock that Mr. Tkachenko is entitled to receive pursuant to his employment agreement, if and when our
market capitalization reaches $ 400 million, $ 500 million, $ 600 million, $ 800 million, and $ 1 billion. The Monte Carlo
Simulation valuation performed on December 31, 2023, was updated based on December 31, 2024, indicators and the
assumed number of shares increased from 127, 635 to 160, 145, however there was no increase to the fair value

previously calculated. (4) Representsrestrieted-stoek-units-which-vest-overfour-These former officers do not have any
outstanding equity award at fiscal years— year- end infourequat-tranches-beginntngFune1;2024- Director Compensation

The following table sets forth a summary of compensation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , that we paid to
each director other than our €htef-chief Exeeutive-executive Offieer-officer and our former chief operating officer , whose
compensation is fully reflected in the Summary Compensation Table set forth above. We do not sponsor a pension benefits plan,
a non- qualified deferred compensation plan, or a non- equity incentive plan for directors; therefore, these columns have been
omitted from the following table. No other or additional compensation for services wete-was paid to any of the directors. In
December 2023, the Board of Directors approved a new compensation pian-program for directors, beginning in 2024, pursuant
to which each director shall receive options to purchase 10, 000 shares of our common stock, which will vest monthly in equal
increments over a one- year period. Name Fees Earned or Paid in Cash ($) Stock Compensation ($) (1) Option Compensation ($)
(1) Total ($) Ambassador Roger Noriega - $ 374-312 , 356-705 (2) $ 374-312 , 356-705 Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. $ 6—$ 312 , 666
705 (2) $ 312, 705 Stephen R. Petersen, CFA $- $ 312, 705 (2) $ 312, 705 Rodrigo Menck $ 103, 700 (3) $—$ $ 6-103 , 700
999—3&6ph€ﬂ—R—P€t€fS€ﬂ—GF%—6—999—(-3)—$——$%—6—999—( 1) The amounts in these columns feﬂeet—represent the ageregate-grant

alculated in

aCCOIddnce wnh ASC Topic 718. Please see Note 5 to the consolndated ﬁnanclal statements for the year ended December
31, 2024, contained in this Annual Report for the assumptions used in the calculation of grant date fair values pursuant
to FASB ASC Topic 718. Please-seeNote-5-(2) Pursuant to our director compensation program, the directors were granted
10, 000 non- quallﬁed stock optlons for t-he—thelr services eeﬁsehéated—ﬁnanet&l-statefﬂeﬁts—for the year ended December 31,




are subject he-is-entitted-to monthly vesting. These reeetve;on-a v g
allow the puruhase of up to %9—10 000 shares of ear-common stock at an exercise prlce 0feqtta-1—te—‘{> 0. 0075 per share. (3) On

v dn-connection w 1th Mr. Menck’ s appomtment asa
d1rector, the Compensatlon Commlttee of the Board recommended and the Board subsequently appreval-approved , of

the-new-compensation to planfer-direetors-noted-above~3)-Ms—Olsen-and-Mr. Menck consisting of 10 Petersen-had-the-right
toreeetve$-6-, 000 time- based restricted stock units (“ RSUs ), which shall vest monthly in easheachforservieesasa

dtreeferdurmg—snx equal 1nstallments, beglnnlng September 1, 2024, granted pursuant to our 2023 —Bet-h—wefe—gwen—a
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dtreefers—nefed—a-be*v‘e- Item 12 Securlty Ownershlp of Certaln Benefic1al Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters . Equity Compensation Plan Information On May 25, 2023, the Board of Directors approved, and our
majority stockholder ratified and confirmed the adoption of the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan. The table below sets forth certain
information as-efPeeember34-2023;-with respect to the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2024 . Plan Category
Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants, and rights issued under the plan (a)
Weighted- average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights (b) Number of securities remaining available for
future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column #a) 2) (c) Equity compensation
plans approved by security holders (2023 Stock Incentive Plan) 4398 | +67-652-145 0. 01 (i) 812 $ni-GH426-, 274-076 Equity
compensation plans not approved by security holders-- (i)- Total +-398 , 145 0. 01 +67-652-$-426;274-(i) +-812 , +67-652
#1076 (i) Excludes restricted stock awards swith-, awards of shares of common stock , as well as RSUs, whether te—be—tssued
wpon-fulfilment-efa-vartety-of time -market-and-— based or performance - based as vesﬁﬂg-eeﬂd-rﬁeﬂs—éné—lﬂe}udes-eﬂ-l-yhﬂae

these weighfed-—&'v‘ef&ge—awards do not have exeruse pﬂee-prlces ofthe o€
have—ﬁe—assouated - . ation—16 o o A ;..

Hem12- Secunty OW nershlp of ( ertain Beneflcml OW ners and Manaﬂement aﬁd—Re}a’fed—Steekhe-}éeﬁMa&efs—The follovx ing
table sets forth information known to us regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 10, 2025, and
including issued securities convertible into our common stock within 60 days of the-March 22-10 , 2024-2025 . by: (i) each
person who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5 % of our outstanding common stock; (ii) each named executive
officer and director; and (ii1) all executive officers and directors as a group. As of March 22-10 , 2624-202S , there were 42-16 ,
#69-871 , 584678 outstanding shares of our common stock. Name and Address of Beneficial Common Stock (2) Series A
Preferred Stock (3) Combined Voting Power Owner (1) Number % Number % Number (4) % (5) Directors and Named
Executive Officers: Marc Fogassa (6) 4, 583-990 , 6343535129 . 42 % 1 100 % 4, 583-990 , 632-68-352 65 . 3 % Ambassador
Roger Noriega (7) 394394 , 368 2. 3 —1+%--39+394 , 368 1. 5-1 % Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. (8) 25, 905 0. 2 %-- 25, 905 0. 1 %
Stephen Petersen (9) 56, 475 0. 3 %-- 56,475 0. 1 % Rodrigo Menck (10) 15, 9684-617 0.1 % -- 15, 617 0 984-*StephenR
0% Pﬁeﬁeﬁeﬁ%%%%%i&wleﬁﬁ&deﬁgmﬁﬂ%&%—%ﬁilgor Tkachenko +79-(11) 203 ,
255707 1.4-2 % +79--- 203 , 255707 0. 6 % Tiago Miranda (12) 231 0. 0 %-- 231 0. 0 % Gustavo Aguiar (15)---—--- Brian
Talbot (15) 3v’vLB<-“:1=1=1ﬂte1r—4§—93-3L 45,0332 All executive officers and directors (7 persons) (+6-13 ) 5, 296-686 , +76-46
65433 .82 % 1100 % 5, 296-686 , +7786-655 67 . -3 % Over 5 % Stockholders: Mitsui & Co Aﬂfﬁﬂtﬁ—Pﬁﬂ&eﬂﬁS—%
0638-6-. 0, Ltd. (14) 1, 871, 250 10. 9 % -1 , 6383-871,250 5 . 6-4 % (1) The mailing address of each of the officers and
dnectors as set forth aboxe isc/o Atlas thhlum Corpordtlon 1200 N. Fedeml Hwy, Su1te 200 Boca Raton F-}eﬂda—FL 334325

-Shalj-ah—U-mted%rab—Em—rra’fes— (2 Each share of common stock is entltled to one vote. (3) The Cemhcdte of Des1gnat10ns
Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock €~Sertes-APreferredprovides that for so long as Series A

Preferred Stock is issued and outstanding, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single class with the
holders of common stock, with the holders of Series A Preferred Stock being entitled to 51 % of the total votes on all such
matters regardless of the actual number of shares of Series A Preferred Stoek then outstanding, and the holders of common
stock are entitled to their proportional share of the remaining 49 % of the total votes based on their respective voting power. The
one share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into one share of common stock and may be converted at any time at the
election of the holder. The one issued and outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stoek has been held by Mare-Mr. Fogassa



since 2012. (4) Represents shares and rights on an as converted to common slogk basls 3) anumls percentage ()['\olinU
power of our common stock and Series A Preferred ten-an-as-eenv bas 2 elass
10, 2024-2025 , +2-16 , 769-871 , 5814678 sharcs of our common stock were 1xsuud dnd oulslandmg dnd one \hdlL of our Series
A Pldului was 1squd and oulxldn(lm(T (6) Consists of 4, 460-823 , 6%8—686 S mus of our common stock owned b\ M&fe—Mr

166, 665 ShdlLS of eur common stock underlying compensatory v leul \lock options and \lock options lhdl will vest within 6(
days; and 1 share of Series A Preferred Stock which Mr. Fogassa has held since 2012. (7) Consists of 387380 , 201 shares of
our common stock and 4-14 , 167 shares of our common stock underlying vested stock options and stock options that will vest
within 60 days. (8) Consists of 1, 071 shares of eur common stock and +4-24 , 833 shares of our common stock underlying
vested stock options and stock options that will vest within 60 days. (9) Consists of 34-42 , 308 shares-of our common stock ,
and 4-14 , 167 shares of eur common stock underlying vested stock options and stock options that will vest within 60 days. (10)
Consists of 5-1 , 450 668;F6+-shares of common stock and 10 , 000 27%-4+5-shares of our common stock underlying vested
stock options and stock options that will vest within 60 days. (11) Consists of 192, 530 shares of common stock and 11,
177 shares earned via contractual compensation ;-and-+-which will be issued within 60 days. (12) Consists of 231 share
shares of SertesAPreferred-common stock; Mr . (++)-Miranda will qualify for the first tranche of his stock- Based-based
selely-compensation on July 23, 2025, the first anniversary of his employment at Atlas Lithium. (13) Includes 245, 175
shares of our common stock which are issuable pertaining to vested stock options, earned contractual compensation, an
and Amendment-stock options that will vest within 60 days. (14) According to Mitsui’ s Schedule 436-13D filed with the
SEC on Febraary1+4-April 10 , 2024, Mitsui has sole voting power with respect to 1, 871, 250 shares, shared voting power
with respect to no shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 1, 871, 250 shares and shared dispositive power with
respect to no shares. Mitsui’ s address is 2- 1, Otemachi 1- chome, Chiyoda- ku Tokyo 100- 8631, Japan. (15) We do not
have information regarding the beneficial ownership of Mr. Aguiar and Mr. Talbot as of March 10, 2025. However, the
amounts held by Mr. Palilerousis-Aguiar and Mr. Talbot based on information available to the Company as of July 17,
2024 and August 16, 2024 (which are the dates of the individuals’ resignations from the Company) were respectively 42,
510 and 83, 000 shares of our common stock . [tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence. Transactions with Subsidiaries As further described in the notes to the financial statements included
herein, we hold a 32. 70 % equity interest in Atlas Critical Minerals as of December 31, 2024. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, prior to the acquisition of Apollo Resources Corporation (“ Apollo Resources ) by Atlas Critical
Minerals, Apollo Resources granted Mr. Fogassa as contractual compensation options to purchase an aggregate of 90,
000 shares of its common stock. Such options corresponded to the period between January 1, 2024, to June 30, 2024. The
options issued in 2024 were valued at $ 134, 407 in total. The options were valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing
model with the following average assumptions: our stock price on date of grant $ 6, 00, a strike price of $ 0. 01, illiquidity
discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, annualized volatility of 16, 61 % to 17, 41 %, risk- free interest rate of
3. 88 % to 4. 64 %, and an expected term of five to ten years. All outstanding options to purchase shares of Apollo
Resources’ common stock were exercised before the merger with Atlas Critical Minerals. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, Atlas Critical Minerals granted Mr. Fogassa as contractual compensation options to purchase an
aggregate of 210, 000 shares of its common stock. Such options corresponded to the period between January 1, 2024, to
June 30, 2024. The options issued in 2024 were valued at $ 41, 938 in total. The options were valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: our stock price on date of grant $ 0. 74 to $ 1. 00, a
strike price of $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00, illiquidity discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, annualized volatility of 241
% to 312 %, risk- free interest rate of 3. 88 % to 4. 64 %, and an expected term of five to ten years. On June 26, 2024,
Atlas Critical Minerals amended the employment agreement with Mr. Fogassa for its Chief Executive Officer position,
effective on July 1, 2024 (“ Amended ACM Agreement ). Under the Amended ACM Agreement, Mr. Fogassa is entitled
to receive monthly compensation of $ 25, 000 to be paid in cash or in shares of Atlas Critical Minerals’ common stock
and an annual incentive compensation equivalent to 4 % of our outstanding common stock count as of January 1. Prior
to the amendment, Mr. Fogassa was already entitled to a monthly fee of $ 25, 000 and received 35, 000 options to acquire
shares of Atlas Critical Minerals’ common stock with exercise prices varying from $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00 per share. One of our
directors, Rodrigo Menck, has also served as the Chief Financial Officer of Atlas Critical Minerals since September
2024. In connection with his appointment to that role on September 18, 2024, Mr. Menck is entitled to receive a monthly
fee of $ 15, 000 and was granted 50, 000 time- based restricted stock units which shall vest in increments of 25 %
annually over a period of four years from the date of grant. Atlas Critical Minerals entered into an agreement with our
Chief Financial Officer, Tiago Miranda, through which he agreed to supervise the internal accounting and other
financial- related functions of the subsidiary. Atlas Critical Minerals directly pays to him a monthly fee of $ 7, 500. Atlas
Critical Minerals also issued to Mr. Miranda options to acquire shares of its common stock equivalent to 1 % of its
outstanding common stock count at the moment of the issuance. Transactions with Former Related Parties Martin
Rowley: On November 7, 2023, we entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement ( #he- Purchase Agreement ) with
Martin Rowley relating to the issuance to Martin RO\\ ey (alonU with other expeﬁeﬁeed-l-rt-hruﬂa—m\ estors) of convertible
promissory notes which accrue interest at a rate of 6. 5 % per annum (each a *“ Note ™). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Mr.
Martin Rowley purchased an aggregate of $ 10, 000, 000 of the Notes. Thc Notes are convertible into shares of our common
stock at an exercise price of $§ 28. 225 and will mature on November 24, 2026. Martin Rowley is-served as a senior advisor to us

until August 16, 2024 and is the father of Nicholas Rowley, a former officer eur-VieePrestdent, BusinessDevelopment-.

RTEK International DMCC: On September 22, 2023, we entered into a Lead Advisory Services Agreement with Martin



Rowley, through which Mr. Martin Rowley previously provided has-beenrproviding-advisory services to us. The agreement
contemplates the issuance of up to 100, 000 restricted share units upon achievement of certain milestones set forth in the
agreement. Martin Rowley is the father of Nicholas Rowley, a former officer eur-VieePresident BusinessDevelopment-. On
July 17, 2023, we entered into a Technical Services Agreement for mining engineering, planning and business development
services with RTEK International DMCC (“ RTEK 7), an entity controlled by NieleNicholas Rowley s-eureePresident;
BusinessDevelopment-and Brian Talbot, a former eur-Chief-Operating-Offieer-officer and director effeetive-as-ofApritt;
2624-. The agreement provides for the payment by us of an estimated amount of $ 1, 449, 000 and the issuance of up to 410, 000
restricted share units of our common stock, depending on the achievement of certain milestones. As-ofDeeember3+0n August
16, 2623-2024 , we-had-payment-payments-to-the parties further amended and restated the Technical Services Agreement
(“ Second A & R RTEK Agreement ) in order to, among the-other amount-things: (i) revise and amend the Stage Two
Budget and revise the terms of -$—1—serv1ce w1th respect to the Phase Two Serv1ces (each as 449—(-)(-)(-)—As—fm=t-1=1efdescr1bed

ApeHe—Resettrees—gfaﬂted-epﬁeﬂs—to-pufehase—an operatlons commlttee tasked w1th ensurlng progress toward our goals
under such agreement and (111) issue to RTEK addltlonal RSUs w1th aggregate of186;-000-shares-oftts-eommon-stoek—to

eeﬁmien—steelepﬂee-achlevement of certaln mllestones and performance cr1ter1a There 1s currently a contract dlspute
with respect to the Second A & R RTEK Agreement. For additional information, please see our risk factor “ We have a
contractual dispute with RTEK International DMCC, the outcome of which is unknown at this time, and our business
and operations could be negatively impacted by the termination of the Technical Services Agreement with RTEK
International DMCC ” on t-he—date—page 16 of this Annual Report t-he—gran-t—6$—9—65—te—$—2—1-9)— a-n—and “ Note 7 Related

Dlrectors has determined that Amba%sador Roger Noriega, Cassmpela Olson, Esq ., and Stephen Petemen CFA sare *
independent ” as such term is defined with respect to directors by the Nasdaq Stock Malket Rules. Please refer to our disclosures
in “ Overview of Corporate Governance ” and *“ Committees of our Board of Directors ” for a more detailed discussion on these
topics. Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. The following table presents fees for professional audit services and
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other services rendered to us by Pipara relating to our fiscal years ended December 31,
2024, and 2023 respectively ;and2022- Fee Type 2024 2023 2022-Audit Fees (1) $ 228, 650 $ 88, 000 $44,-820-Audit-
Related Fees (2) 32,500 27, 500 —Tax Fees (3) — — All Other Fees (4) — — Total $ 261,150 $ 115, 500 $44--826-(1)
Audit Fees ” consist of fees billed for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual financial
statements, review of our quarterly financial statements, and services that are normally provided by Bergers-Pipara in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. (2) “ Audit- Related Fees ” consist of fees billed for
professional services for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of
our consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “ Audit Fees. ” (3) “ Tax Fees ” consist of fees billed for
professional services rendered by Bergers-Pipara for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. There were no such fees
billed by Berges-auditors during the last two fiscal years. (4) “ All Other Fees ” consist of fees billed for products and services
other than the services reported in Audit Fees, Audit- Related Fees, and Tax Fees. There were no such fees billed by Berges
Pipara during the last two fiscal years. Pre- Approval Policies and Procedures All services performed by, and fees paid to,
Bergers-Pipara for our fiscal years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 sand2022-were approved by our Audit Committee.
Before Bergers-Pipara is engaged to perform services, the engagement is approved by our Audit Committee. PART IV Item 15.
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules (a) Documents filed as part of this report. (i) Financial Statements- see [tem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data (ii) Financial Statement Schedules — None (Financial statement schedules have been
omitted either because they are not applicable, not required, or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the
financial statements or notes thereto.) (iii) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. (iv) Notes to Financial
Statements. (b) Exhibits The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Annual Report. ATLAS
LITHIUM CORPORATION. TABLE OF CONTENTS DECEMBER 31, 2623Repert-2024Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 56446841 ) F- 2 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2022-F- 3 Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022-F- 4 Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity F- 5 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2822-F- 7 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F- 8Report of Independent



Registered Public Accounting Firm To the sharehotders-Shareholders and the beard-Board of direetors-Directors of Atlas
Lithium Corporation =(ATLX) Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Atlas Lithium Corporation (ATLX) and its subsidiaries (the ¢ Company’) as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 and
2622, the related statements of eperattons-income , changes in stockholders” equity, and cash flows for each of the two years
in then— the period ended December 31, 2024 , and the related notes (collectively referred to as the *“ Consolidated financial
statements ). In our opinion, based on our audit, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 ard-20822-, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the two years in then— the period ended December 31 , 2024 in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America . Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on our aueit
audits . We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (*“
PCAOB ”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit
audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
As part of our audits , we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,
yye-express-no such opinion is expressed . Our andit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud ;-and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Our audit-audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit-audits prevides— provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matter Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current- period audit of
the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to
accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or
complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters. For, Pipara & Co LLP ~S+BFBergers-CPAPE
6841 PEAOBIHD-5041-) We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 204+5-Eakeweod-2024 Place: Ahmedabad , €6-India
Date: March 27-14 , 2024-2025 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2022
2023 December 31, December 31, 2023-2822-ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 15, 537, 476 $ 29, 549, 927
Trade $280;525Aeeeunts-receivable 47, 682 - H-Inventories 492, 812- Taxes recoverable 29, 431 50, 824 +7-785-Prepaid
and other current assets 134, 983 113, 905 4%-893-Total current assets 16, 242, 384 29, 714, 656 345-Taxes recoverable 1 , 434
704, 994- Property and equipment, net 6-38 , 407-855 , 735247071 13 , 556477, 602 Intangible assets, net 399 , H5-773 45 |
777 644-4-975267Right of use assets- operating leases, net 444-499 | 605 335 624—Investments—56-, 606-634 Other assets
152, 781- Total assets $ 57, 854, 608 $ 43, 682-573 , 669 659-$-5,684;23+LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY
Current liabilities: Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 5, 001, 664 $ 4, 487-668 , 857 647-$-2,776,-474-Derivative
liabilities 462, 638 1, 000, 060 —Convertible Debt 81, 918 67, 024 —Related-partynotes-and-otherpayables—2+-493-Operating
lease liabilities -l—l-4-134 994300 127, 482 Other current liabilities 8, 084 41, 596 Total current liabilities 5, 669-688 , 7252
604 5, 797905 , 967019 Convertible Debt 9, 807, 883 9, 703, 700 —Operating lease liabilities 336-312 , 44918 231, 278
Deferred consideration from royalties sold 20 48-668-, 000 —, 000 20, 000, 000 Other noncurrent liabilities 33,962 58, 579 #8;
964-Total liabilities 34-35 , 368-843 , 4152-367 35 , 876-898 . 931576 Stockholders” Equity: Series A preferred stock, $ 0. 001
par value. 1 share authorized 1 share issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2823-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023
Common -l—l—Seﬂes—B—pfefeffed-itock $ O 001 par value. -1—200 000 000 shﬁfes—au%hef&ed—@-and%—%é—tssued—aﬂd

9—99-1—paﬁa-l-ue—200 —999—999—&1%1—4—999— 000, OOO qhare% authorized as of December 3l %92—3—2024 and December 31, %92—2—
2023 , respectively and 16, 014, 742 and 12, 763, 581 and-5-16;-0+4-shares issued and outqtanding as of December 31, 2023
2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 , respectively 16, 015 12, 764 S54+-Additional paid- in capital H4-166 , 662-110 , 52—2—62—
916 110 , 258195 . -1—1-6-978 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4179 , 990 H97H-) ( 98+-138 , 640-829 ) Cumulative
Adjustment of the Valuation of Fin. Instruments (278, 820)- Accumulated deficit (+64-144 , 664-410 , 519-340 ) ( 66-102 ,
2976-822 , 994-123 ) Total Atlas Lithium Co. stockholders” equity 821 , 896-257 , 9974+782 7 , 644247 , 468-791 Non-
controlling interest 423-753 |, 24714459 427 , 302 795-892-Total stockholders’ equity 922 , 344-011 , 2442241 7 , 867-675 ,
366-093 Total liabilities and stockholders” equity $ 57, 854, 608 $ 43, 682-573 , 669 659-$-5;-684;231+-The accompanying notes
are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS For the twelve-Twelve menths-Months ending-Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622
Twelve months ending December 31 2024 2023 2622-Gross revenues $ 748, 654 $- Sales deductions $ (81, 523) $- Net
Revente-revenue —6-8 667 , 765-131 $- Cost of revenue —63-$ (401 , 548-437) $- Gross profit $ 265 toss—56-, 783)-694 $-
Operating expenses General and administrative expenses +6-15 , 363-638 , 346-2-928 9 , 722-917 ., 97949 Stock- based
compensation 25,306, 719 15, 689-513 , 666 6982,269-566-Fxploration 3, 039, 881 16, 553-584 , 836-296 Other operating
expenses 424138 |, $76455-411 90 , 224-821 Total operating expenses 44, 123,939 42, 588-106 , 732 044-5:446;984-1 0ss
from operations ( 43, 858, 245) (42, 588-106 ., 732 84495-503;767) Other expense (income) Other expense (income) 260-1 ,
338 49455-, 842-370 194, 175 Fair value adJu%tmenti net (income) (419, 993) 174, 608 Finance costs (revenue) ( 329-382 ,
651-323) (485, 499 ) Total other expense 45-536 , 8761+55-054 (116 , 812-716) Loss before previstenrfor-income taxes (4244
633-394 . 926-299 ) ( 541 , 659-990 , 579-016 ) Proviston-forineome-Income taxes 18, 923- Net loss (4244 , 633-413 , 9%9—222



) (541 ,659990 , 579-016 ) Loss attributable to non- controlling interest ( 2, 172, 026) ( 1, 246-221 , 741 39563059
Net loss attributable to Atlas Lithium Corporation stockholders $ ( 42,44-241 . 196 393;:525-) § (440 , 628-768 , 526-275 )
Basic and diluted loss per share Net loss per share attributable to Atlas Lithium Corporation common stockholders $ (2.91) §$ (
4 A$H- 0637 ) Weighted- average number of common shares outstanding: Basic and diluted +6-14 , 865-532 , 5724206 9 ,
€10-325 , 68+177 Comprehensive loss: Net loss § (4244 , 633-413 |, 920-222 ) § (541 , 659990 , 579-016 ) Foreign currency
translation adjustment ( 276-41 , 986-161 ) ( 277132 , 659-193 ) Comprehensive loss ( 44, 454, 383) (42, 964-122 , 209 9506)<5;
937.238-) Comprehensive loss attributable to nonconnollms, interests ( 2, 130, 865) ( 1, 372-354 , 750 6451640488
Comprehensive loss attributable to Atlas Lithium Corporation stockholders $ (4442 , 532-323 , 256-518 ) § (440 , 896-767 ,
7#56-459 ) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY -Fer—t-he—'l"—welﬁve—MGﬁt-hs—Endeé
Beeember31,2023-and2022-Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value Capital Loss Instruments Deficit Interests (Deficit)
Series A Preferred Stock Series D Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Paid- in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Cumulative Adjustment of the Valuation of Fin. Accumulated Noncontrolling Total Stockholders” Equity Shares Value

Shares leue Shales Value (apltdl Loss Instruments Detlclt lnteIests (Dehclt )—Ba-}aﬁee—Deeember—Zv-l—”z_’-G%l—l—$—l—2—l-4—996—$
q l

93—1—959)—6—659%49—) Balame DeuembeI 3 2()22 $1214, ()()6 ‘{5 21 4 5 10,014 ‘{5 5, ‘{> 62 25-8—063 -1—1-6-367 ‘{5 (98t
6,640-636 ) S - $ (60, 276-391 , 994-694) $ (212 239 )% 1, 795458 ,-892—124 Issuance of common stock in connectlon with
sales made under private offerings---- 2, 449, 467 2, 449 33, 147, 014---- 33, 149, 463 Issuance of common stock in
connection with purchase of mining rights---- 77, 240 77 749, 923---- 750, 000 Exercise of options into Series D preferred
stock-- 108, 000 108-- 2, 934---- 3, 042 Conversion of Convertible Preferred D stock into Common Stock-- (322, 006) (322)
4,293, 409 4, 293----- 3, 971 Other changes in Noncontrolling interest--------- (1, 662, 154) 1, 662, 154- Exercise of
warrants---- 446, 948 447 (447)----- Exercise of option issued---- 386, 503 386 (386)----- Stock based compensation------ 14,
233, 573--- 312, 842 14, 546, 415 Change in foreign currency translation------- (132, 193)-- (113, 714) (245, 906) Net loss-----
-—-- (40, 768, 275) (1, 221, 741) (41, 990, 016) Balance, December 31, 2023 1 $ 2-1- $- 12 . §67763 ., 360-581 $ 12, 764 $ 110,
195,978 $ (138, 829) $- $ (102, 822, 123) $ 427,302 $ 7, 675, 093 Series A Preferred Stock Series D Preferred Stock Common
Stock Additional Paid- in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Cumulative Adjustment of the Valuation of Fin. Accumulated
Noncontrolling Total Stockholders’ Equity Shares Value Shares Value Shares Value Capital Loss Instruments Deficit Interests
(Deficit) Balance, December 31, 26222023 1 § | -244,-006-5 244-5—-12 , 763,581 $ 12,764 $ 110, 644-195, 978 $ 5-(138 , H+
829) $ - 62,258 H6-5 (981102 , 046-822, 123 ) § 427 (60-, 302 276;,994)-5 +7 , 795-675 . 093 892-$2,807,300-Balance | $

- 244-066-5 244-5-- 12, 763,581 $ 12,764 $ 110, 6+4-195, 978 $ 5—(138 -1—1—1—829) ‘{> 62—25—8—1—1—6—5 (9-8-1—102 949—822
123 ) $ 427 £66-, 302 2—7—9—994)—5 +7 ., 795675 . 093 8923 4 R

%—%ﬁ%%%&ﬁeﬁpfﬁmf&mrgﬂssuance 01‘ common stod( in connection with
sales mdde under pnvate oﬁelmgs———— 2, —7’-97—062 4-1—7—973 2, -7’-97—063 31, 313, 878--- 1, 600, 700 32, 6—1—4—916 641 '844--—32—

>

Exefewe-e-ﬁwaﬁ&ﬁts-—%%—l&g%—léé—%-%éé—lé%—&oc k based Compensatlon———— 36, 326 36 24 199, 083-—- 1, 788,
321 256-- 25, 987 672-25+12-, §63;-612-440 Adjustment of the Valuation of Fin. Instruments --- +2—----- (278 , $63-820)--
(278 , 263-820) Other changes in Noncontrolhng 1nterest --------- 652 979 (652, 979)— ( hange in foremn cuneney translatlol --

(237, 859) (279, 020) Net loss ———————— -(4-1—393%259—61,—249—395)—(42 63—3—241 9%9—196) 2, 172 026) (44 413 222)
Balance, December 31, 2023-2024 1 § 1- $-42-16 , 763-014 , 584742 $ +2-16 , 764015 $ H1+166 . 662-110 , 522-916 $ (+179
, 990 HO;FH-) § (64278 |, 820 664;519-) § 423-(144 , 247410, 340) S 9-753 , 3+4-459 $ 22 , 244-011, 241 Balance | § 1- $-
1+2-16 , 763-014 , 581742 $ +2-16 , 764-015 § H1-166 , 662-110 , 522-916 $ (+179 , 990 HS7FH-) § (+6+-278 , 820 664;:519-)
$ 423-(144 , 247410, 340) $ 9-753 , 3+4-459 $ 22 ., 244011, 241 F- 6 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2623-2622-Twelve months ending-ended Twelve months ended December 34-2024 December 2023 2022-Cash flows from
operating activities of continuing operations: Net loss $ (42-44 . 633-413 , 926-222 ) ( 5-41 , 659990 . 579-016 ) Adjustments to
Ieconule net loss to cash used in opemtmg activ mes Stock based Compensatlon dnd services 25, 306, 720 15, 609-513 , 666 65&
stanee mmot-stocktreonneetion h-purchase $750-000—Depreciation and amortization 73
198 994—1-3-623 24, -896—923 lnteIest expense 814 646 82 395 Derlvatlve llabllltles 2 87847 ;422 Fair value adjustments
(555, 780) 174, 608 Write off property and equipment —Intangible-assetspurehasepayables(1, 686-331 , 124- 7832367
600-General-previstons795;-635455;-842-Other non- cash expenses +56-(75 , 91+-418) (258, 965) Gain / loss on FOREX
transactions- - Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Aeeeunts-Inventories and trade receivable —-(427 , 316-184)-
Taxes recoverable (44551, $98-683, 632) (50, 602 ) Deposits and advances (66-176 , 832301 ) 22 29-, 743 84F-Accounts

payable and-acerued-expenses-1, 36-082 , 745 564 876568, 716 938);-Deferred consideration from royalties sold - 20, 000,
000 —Other noncurrent liabilities ( 26-190 , 382-012 ) ( 29-46 , 962-070 ) Net cash provided (used) by operating activities ( 18,




784, 844) ( 5,029-962 , 602 3H8)1(1+486;-530-) Cash flows from investing activities: Acquisition of capital assets (622 , 48
441 , 873552 ) (+++7 ., 525-935, 894 ) Capitalized Exploration costs (4, 496, 977)- [ncrease in intangible assets (+405 , 907
063;-594-) (234 , 278 668;-827) Net cash used in investing activities ( 27, 344, 436) ( 7, 882970 , 172 467(2846;356-) Cash
flows from financing activities: Net proceeds from sale of common stock 31, 244-919 , 666-4-448 33 , 562-156 , 356-735 Net
proceeds from sale of common stock of subsidiaries 1, 000, 000- Leases payments (150, 953)- Cash received upon issuance
of debt - 10, 000, 024 Cash used in payment of debt (636, 823) - Net cash provided by financing activities 4432 , 244131 ,
6844-672 43 , 562-156 , 356-759 Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 166-(14 , 564-82-843) 45 , 279-584 Net
increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (14, 012, 451) 29, 269, 569 462-257-749-Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of period 29, 549, 927 280, 358 52522, 776-Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 15, 537, 476 29, 549, 927 %
286;:-525-NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION, BUSINESS AND
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Organization and Description of Business Atlas Lithium
Corporation (together with its subsidiaries ““ Atlas Lithium. ” the “ Company ”, “ the Registrant ”, “ we ”, “ us ”, or “ our ”’) was
incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada, on December 15, 2011. The Company changed its management and
business on December 18, 2012, to focus on mineral exploration in Brazil. Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“ U. S. GAAP ) and are expressed in United States dollars. For the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 and2022-, the consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company; (i) its 100 99-9-% owned
subsidiary s-Atlas Lithium Limited and its subsidiary Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda —(* Atlas Brastt-Brazil ”); (ii) its 58-100 %
owned subsidiary Athena Mineral Resources Corporation and its subsidiary Athena Litio Ltda; (iii) its 100 % owned
subsidiary Brazil Mineral Resources Corporation and its subsidiary Atlas Recursos Minerais; (iv) its 32 . 7+70 % equity

interest in Atlas Critical Minerals ApeltoResonrees-Corporation{“ApoHoResourees™-and its subsidiaries Mineragao Apollo
—Ltdd Mlnemgdo Duas Bands Ltda (“ MDB )ﬁﬂd— RST Recursos Minerais Ltda (“ RST ) —andﬁs—2—7—42—%requﬁy—rn+efesf

Ltda. We have EPhe—Geﬂap&ny—has—conduded that Atlas Crltlcal Mmerals Ape-l-}e—Reseufees—}upﬁer—Ge}d—and their-its

subsidiaries are variable interest entities (“ VIE ) in accordance with applicable accounting standards and guidance. As such,
the accounts and results of Atlas Critical Minerals ApeteReseunrees; Jupiter-Gotd-and their subsidiaries have been included in
our ﬂ&e—eeﬁap&rry—s-consohddted nmncml statements. All material 1ntelc01npdny accounts and tmnsactlons have been
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effect and thdt may 1mpdct -rts—our nndnClal statements and we-do not behe\ e thdt thele are any other new pronouncements that
have been issued that might have a material impact on #s-our financial position or results of operations a-matertal-impaet-on our
consolidated financial statements and disclosures.In November 2023 ,the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07,Segment Reporting (Topic
280):Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures,amending reportable segment disclosure requirements to include
disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis.Among the disclosure enhancements are new
disclosures regarding significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision- maker and
included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss,as well as other segment items bridging segment revenue to
each reported measure of segment profit or loss. The amendments in ASU 2023- 07 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15,2023,and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,2024,and are applied
retrospectively.Early adoption is permitted. Management-does-netexpeet We are currently evaluating the impact of this new
update . In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax
Disclosures, amending income tax disclosure requirements for the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The
amendments in ASU 2023- 09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 , and are applied prospectively.
Early adoption and retrospective application of the amendments are permitted. We are-eurrenthy-evaluating-do not expect the
adoption of the new guidance to have a material impact efthisapdate-on our consolidated financial statements and
disclosures. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income
— Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. The
amendments in this update require disclosure, in the notes to financial statements, of specified information about certain
costs and expenses. The amendments in this update are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2026, and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. We will analyze
the impacts of this update in the upcoming years, and we do not anticipate adopting the update early. In November 2024,
the FASB issued ASU 2024- 04, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470- 20): Induced
Conversions of Convertible Debt Instruments. FASB issued this update to improve the relevance and consistency in
application of the induced conversion guidance in Subtopic 470- 20, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options.
The amendments in this update clarify the requirements for determining whether certain settlements of convertible debt
instruments should be accounted for as an induced conversion. The amendments in this update are effective for all
entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2025, and interim reporting periods within those



annual reporting periods. Early adoption is permitted for all entities that have adopted the amendments in Update 2020-
06. Management does not expect this new guidance to have any impact on our consolidated financial statements. Fair
Value of Financial Instruments We Fhe-Cempany-foHows— follow the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification (* ASC
) Topic 820 — Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure. Fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement
date. The guidance also establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available.
Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market
data obtained from sources independent of us ewr-Ceompany-. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect our Company=—s
assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability. The guidance establishes three
levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: Level 1. Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets. Level
2. Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and Level 3.
Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.
F-9-As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, our and-2622;-the-Company—s-derivative liabilities were considered a level 2

liability. See Note 2 for a discussion regarding the determination of the fair market value. We do The-Cempany-doesnot have
any level 3 assets or liabilities. Our Fhe-Company—s-financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, taxes recoverable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable, debt, related party notes and other payables,
derivative instruments, other noncurrent liabilities and accrued expenses. The carrying amount of these financial instruments
approximates fair value due to either length of maturity or interest rates that approximate prevailing market rates unless
otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial statements. Cash and Cash Equivalents We The-Company-eonsiders—
consider all highly liquid instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents to the extent that
the funds are not being held for investment purposes. Qur Fhe-Company—s-bank accounts are deposited in FDIC insured
institutions. Funds held in U. S. banks are insured up to $ 250, 000 and funds held in Brazilian banks are insured up to R $ 250,
000 Brazilian Reais (translating into approximately $ 5440 , 639-373 as of December 31, 2623-2024 ). Trade Aeeotnts
Reeetvable-Aeeeunts-receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms Wthh are recorded at net realizable
value. We Fhe-Company-establishes—- establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on management’ s assessment of the
collectability of trade receivables. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the amount of the allowance. We
TFhe-Company-makes— make judgments about the creditworthiness of each customer based on ongoing credit evaluations and
menttors— monitor current economic trends that might impact the level of credit losses in the future. If the financial condition of
the customers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make payments, a specific allowance will be required. Recovery
of bad debt amounts previously written off is recorded as a reduction of bad debt expense in the period the payment is collected.
If our the-Cempany>—s-actual collection experience changes, revisions to #s-our allowance may be required. After all attempts
to collect a receivable have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance. We value our inventories in accordance
with ASC 330- Inventory, which requires that inventories be valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of
inventories is determined using the weighted average cost method. Taxes Reeetvable-Recoverable We The-Company
reeords— record a receivable for value added taxes reeetvable-recoverable from Brazilian authorities on goods and services
purchased by #s-our Brazilian subsidiaries. These taxes are recoverable through various methods, including via cash refund or
as a credit against payroll, supplier withholding taxes, or other taxes payable. - +0-Intangtble-Assets-9 The processing plant
and other machinery are depreciated over an estimated useful life of ten years; vehicles are depreciated over an
estimated life of five years; and computers and other office equipment over an estimated useful life of five years. Mineral
Properties and Mineral rights-Rights Exploration €ests-costs of—such as drllllng, development and related costs are either
classified as exploration ;earrying-and charged to operations reta R
incurred , or capitalized, such as to assist with mine planning W1th1n a reserve area . Mnefal—prepeﬁﬁhaeqtust&e&Whether
to capltahze an exploration cost or incur an expense also depends on whether the drllllng or development costs relate to 5
tneludinglieenses-and— an ore body that tes v-has taken-steps-been
determined to verify-titte-be commercially m1neable and whether the expendlture relates to a probable future benefit to
be generated smgly or in comblnatlon Wlth other assets. The basrs of the mmeral prepeﬁres—m—whteh—rt—has—a-n—mterest is

mineral properties used in 0perat10ns When 1nd1cat0rs of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be
generated by those assets are less than the assets’ carrying amount. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023 and-2622-, we the
Company-did not recognize any impairment losses related to mineral properties held. Mineral properties are amortized
throughout Other—- the life of the property based on an units- of- production method. Intangible Assets For intangible
assets purchased in a business combination, the estimated fair values of the assets received are used to establish their recorded
values. For intangible assets acquired in a non- monetary exchange, the estimated fair values of the assets transferred (or the
estimated fair values of the assets received, if more clearly evident) are used to establish their recorded values, unless the values
of neither the assets received nor the assets transferred are determinable within reasonable limits, in which case the assets
received are measured based on the carrying values of the assets transferred. Valuation techniques consistent with the market
approach income approach and / or cost apploach are used to measure falr value. lntang1ble assets conslst of software acquired

Geﬁa-paﬂ-y—aeeettﬂfﬁ account for mtanglble assets in accmdance W1th Accountlng Standards Cod1ﬁcat10n (“ ASC ) 350,
Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (“ ASC 350 ). ASC 350 requires that intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer
be amortized 7but instead be evaluated for impairment at least annually. On an annual basis, in the fourth quarter of the fiscal



year, management reviews intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for impairment by first assessing qualitative factors to
determine whether the existence of events or circumstances makes it more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible
asset is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more- likely- than- not that the fair value of an intangible asset
is less than its carrying amount, the intangible asset is further tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount to its
estimated fair value using a discounted cash flow. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which an indefinite- lived
intangible asset’ s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. F- ++-10 For long- lived assets, such as property and equipment and
intangible assets subject to amortization, we the-Cempatry-continually meniters— monitor cvents and changes in circumstances
that could indicate carrying amounts of long- lived assets may not be recoverable. When such events or changes in
circumstances are present, we the-Company-assesses—- assess the recoverability of long- lived assets by determining whether
the carrying value of such assets will be recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the total of the future
cash flows is less than the carrying amount of those assets, we the-Companyreeognizes— recognize an impairment loss based
on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the
carrying amount or the fair value less costs to sell. We The-Company-determines— determine at the inception of each
arrangement whether an entlty in which we the-Cempany-holds— hold an investment or in which we have the-Cempany-has
other variable interests in is considered a variable interest entity. We Fhe-Company-consotidates— consolidate VIEs when ttis
we are the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party that meets both of the following criteria: (1) has
the power to make decisions that most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE; and (2) has the obligation to
absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that in either case could potentially be significant to the VIE. Periodically, we the
Company-assesses—- assess whether any changes in the interest or relationship with the entity affect the determination of
whether the entity is still a VIE and, if so, whether we are the-Cempany-ts-the primary beneficiary. If we are the-Company-is
not the primary beneficiary in a VIE, we the-Company-aeeeunts— account for the investment under the equity method or cost
method in accordance with the applicable GAAP. We have The-Companyhas-concluded that Atlas Critical Minerals Apolte
Resourees; Fupiter-Gold-and their-its subsidiaries are VIEs in accordance with applicable accounting standards and guidance;
and although the operations of Atlas Critical Minerals ApoHo-Reseurees-andJupiter-Geld-arc independent of us the-Company
, through governance rights, we have the-Cempany-has-the power to direct the activities that are most significant to Atlas
Crltlcal Minerals Apollo-Resourees-andJupiter-Gotd-. Therefore, we the-Cempany-concluded that #is-we are the primary

beneﬁc1ary of Atlas Critical Minerals both-ApeHe-Reseurees-andJupiter-Gold- Revenue Recognition We Fhe-Company
reeognizes—- recognize revenue under ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ). The core

principle of the new revenue standard is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The following five steps are applied to achieve that core principle: ® Step 1: Identify the contract with
the customer ® Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract ® Step 3: Determine the transaction priceF- 42-11 e
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract ® Step 5: Recognize revenue when the
company satisfies a performance obligationIn order to identify the performance obligations in a contract with a customer, a
company must assess the promised goods or services in the contract and identify each promised good or service that is distinct.
A performance obligation meets ASC 606’ s definition of a “ distinct ” good or service (or bundle of goods or services) if both
of the following criteria are met: ® The customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other
resources that are readily available to the customer ® The entity’ s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is
separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i. e., If a good or service is not distinct, the good or service is
combined with other promised goods or services until a bundle of goods or services is identified that is distinct ) . The
transaction price is the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to a customer. The consideration promised in a contract with a customer may include fixed amounts, variable
amounts, or both. When determining the transaction price, an entity must consider the effects of all of the following: @ Variable
consideration ® Constraining estimates of variable consideration @ The existence of a significant financing component in the
contract @ Non- cash consideration @ Consideration payable to a customerVariable consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The transaction price is
allocated to each performance obligation on a relative-relatively standalone selling price basis. The transaction price allocated to
each performance obligation is recognized when that performance obligation is satisfied, at a point in time or over time as
appropriate. F- 43-12 Costs of Goods Sold Included within costs of goods sold are costs of production such as diesel fuel, labor,
and transportation. We The-Company-measures— measure and reeerds—- record stock- based compensation expense-expenses in
accordance with ASC Topic 718 for share- based payments related to stock options, restricted stock, and performance- based
awards granted to certain directors, employees and consultants. ASC 718 requires companies to measure compensation cost for
stock- based employee compensation at fair value at the grant date and recognize the expense over the employee”’ s requisite
service period. Under ASC 718, volatility is based on the historical volatility of our stock or the expected volatility of the stock
of similar companies. The expected life assumption is primarily based on historical exercise patterns and employee post- vesting
termination behavior. The risk- free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U. S. Treasury yield curve in
effect at the time of grant. The fair value of stock options and performance awards without a market condition is estimated, at
the date of grant, using the Black- Scholes option- pricing model. The fair value of restricted stock awards and stock options
with a market condition is estimated, at the date of grant, using the Monte Carlo Simulation model. The fair value of restricted
stock awards with a required lock- up period without a market condition is estimated at the date of grant, using the Hull- White
Lattice (binomial) model. The Black- Scholes, Monte Carlo Simulation, and Hull- White Lattice valuation models incorporate
assumptions as to stock price volatility, the expected life of options or awards, a risk- free interest rate, illiquidity discount, and



dividend yield. In valuing our stock options, significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our
common stock and the expected life that individuals will hold their stock options prior to exercising. Expected volatility for
stock options is based on the historical and implied volatility of our the-Cempatny—s-common stock while the volatility for
restricted stock awards with a market condition is based on the hlstorlcal Volatlhty of our t-he—eempaﬂy—s—own stock and the
stock of companies within our deﬁned peer group —Beea :

. In accordance w1th ASC 470 Deb
”) we fhﬁeeﬁapaﬁy-feeefds- record -rts—our Convertlble Notes at the aggregate principal amount, less discount. We The
Company-amortizes— amortize the debt discount over the life of the convertible notes as an additional non- cash interest
expense utilizing the effective interest method. Refer to Note 2 for additional information. Derivative Instruments We Fhe
Company-evalaates— evaluate #ts-our convertible debt, warrants or other contracts to determine if those contracts or embedded
components of those contracts qualify as derivatives to be separately accounted for in accordance with Topic 480 of the FASB
ASC and Topic 815 of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The result of this accounting treatment is that the fair
value of the embedded derivative, if required to be bifurcated, is marked- to- market at each balance sheet date and recorded as a
liability. The change in fair value is recorded in the Statement of Operations as a component of other income or expense. Upon
conversion or exercise of a derivative instrument, the instrument is marked to fair value at the conversion date and then that fair
value is reclassified to equity. F- +4-13 In circumstances where the embedded conversion option in a convertible instrument is
required to be bifurcated and there are also other embedded derivative instruments in the convertible instrument that are
required to be bifurcated, the bifurcated derivative instruments are accounted for as a single, compound derivative instrument.
The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is
re- assessed at the end of each reporting period. Equity instruments that are initially classified as equity that become subject to
reclassification are reclassified to liability at the fair value of the instrument on the reclassification date. Derivative instrument
liabilities will be classified in the balance sheet as current or non- current based on whether net- cash settlement of the derivative
instrument is expected within 12 months of the balance sheet date. The-Company—s-With the exception of Atlas Litio Brasil
Ltda, our foreign subsidiaries use a local currency as the functional currency. Resulting translation gains or losses are
recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Transaction gains or losses related to balances
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. Net
foreign currency transaction losses included in our the-Cempany*—s-consolidated statements of operations were negligible for all
periods presented. Income Taxes We Fhe-Company-aeeounts— account for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740,
Income Taxes. ASC 740 requires a company to use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, whereby
deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable
temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than
not that some portion, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the
effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023 and-2622-, our the
Company—s-deferred tax assets had a full valuation allowance. Under ASC 740, a tax position is recognized as a benefit only if
it is “ more likely than not ” that the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount
recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 % likely of being realized on examination. For tax
positions not meeting the “ more likely than not ” test, no tax benefit is recorded. We have Fhe-Company-has-identified the
United States Federal tax returns as #s-our “ major ” tax jurisdiction. On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (“ TCJA ), which instituted fundamental changes to the taxation of multinational corporations, including a
reduction the U. S. corporate income tax rate to 21 % beginning in 2018. The TCJA also requires a one- time transition tax on
the mandatory deemed repatriation of the cumulative earnings of certain of our the-Cempany—s-foreign subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2017. To determine the amount of this transition tax, we the-Cempany-must determine the amount of earnings
generated since inception by the relevant foreign subsidiaries, as well as the amount of non- U. S. income taxes paid on such
earnings, in addition to potentially other factors. We Fhe-Company-believes— believe that no such tax will be due since tts-our
Brazilian subsidiaries have, when required, paid taxes locally and that they have incurred a cumulative operating deficit since
inception. F- +5-14 Basic Income (Loss) Per Share We The-Company-eompttes— compute loss per share in accordance with
ASC Topic 260, Earnings per Share, which requires presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share on the face of the
statement of operations. Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of outstanding common shares during the period. Diluted loss per share gives effect to all dilutive
potential common shares outstanding during the period. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , if all holders of preferred stock,
options and warrants exercised their right to convert their securities to common stock, the common stock issuable would be in
excess of our the-Cempany>—s-authorized, but unissued shares of common stock. Other Comprehensive Income Other
comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other
events and circumstances from non- owner sources, other than net income and including foreign currency translation
adjustments. Reelassifteations-Certain-Contractual arrangements are assessed at inception to determine if they represent or
contain a lease. Right- of- use (“ ROU ”) assets related to operating leases are separately reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Separate current and non- current liabilities for operating and finance leases are reported on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Operating and finance lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease
commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the lease term. When the rate implicit



to the lease cannot be readily determined, we utilize our incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of
the future lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is derived from information available at the lease
commencement date and represents the rate of interest that we would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis
over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. The ROU asset includes
any lease payments made and lease incentives received prior year-amounts-have-beenrreelassified-to eenformto-the
commencement date eurreﬁt—peﬂed-pfeseﬂtﬁﬁeﬁ— Operating lease ROU assets also include any cumulative prepaid These
npact-ofnet-earnings-(toss)-or finanetal-positioraccrued rent when the lease payments are uneven
throughout the lease term The ROU assets and lease liabilities may include adeption——- options to extend or terminate
the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option have-omn-its-eonsolidated-finanetal-statements- NOTE
2 — COMPOSITION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENT ITEMS The following table sets forth the components of our
the-Cempany—s-property and equipment at-as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 and2622- SCHEDULE OF PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT December 31, 2023-2024 December 31, 2622-2023 Accumulated Net Book Accumulated Net Book Cost
Deprecmtlon Value Cost Depreciation Value Capital assets subject to depreciation: Computers and office equipment $ —10, 616
$—(165) $ —10, 451 $ 5H—- $ - 5FH-$- Machinery and equipment 184 —419- 498-824 ( 362-4 , 140024 ) 57,358 Vehteles—
86-180 , +39(75-800--- Facilities 14 , 62+-508 (191 ) +14 , H8-317--- Land 4, 144, 470- 4, 144, 470 361, 674- 361, 674 +59;
B74—159-674-Prepaid Assets (CIP) 23, 449, 896- 23, 449, 896 6, 046, 061- 6, 046, 061 Mining rights 6, 558, 161- 6, 558, 161
7,069, 867- 7, 069, 867 Exploration costs 4, 496, 976- 4, 496, 976 --- Total fixed assets $ 6-38 , 467-859 , 735-451 $ —(4, 381)
$6-38 . 467855 , 735-071 § 659-13 , 282477, 602 § - (44+-732)-5 24713 , 556-477, 602 F- 15 For the years ended December
31,2024, and 2023, we and-2622;-the-Company-recorded depreciation expense of $ 56-4 , 74+-381 and $ nil +3;-806-,
respectively recorded in general and administrative expense. F—6-Intangible-assets-eonsistIn December 2024, the Company
write of-off $ 1. 3 million relating the premium paid for an option to acquire two mining rights whieh-are-. Results of
geological studies did not achieve amertized-as-the miningrights-are-perpetual-expected results and the Company decided
not to exercise the option, derecognizing the amounts recorded for the premium paid . The earrying-value-assets objective
of this option do not have any relation with these—- the mineral rights as of December 31,...... of Minas Gerais in Brazil. The
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t-h-ts—t-raﬁsaet—teﬂ— Accounts Payable and Accrued Llablhtles SCHEDULE OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED
LIABILITIES December 31, 2023-2024 December 31, 20222023 Accounts payable and other accruals $ 5, 001, 664 $ 3, 466
588 . 074 -864—$—498,—8—74—Minera1 rights payable = 1, 080, 783 2.367-600-Total § 5,001, 664 $ 4, 487-668 , 857 647—$—2,—7—7-6;
474+eases-Finance Leases For the reporting period ended December 31, 2023-2024 , no financial leases meeting the criteria
outlined in ASC 842 have been identified. Operating Leases Right of use (“ ROU ) assets and lease liabilities are recognized at
the lease commencement date based on the present value of the future lease payments over the lease term. When the rate
implicit to the lease cannot be readily determined, we utilize our incremental borrowing rate in determining the present value of
the future lease payments. The ROU asset includes any lease payments made and lease incentives received prior to the
commencement date. Operating lease ROU assets also include any cumulative prepaid or accrued rent when the lease payments
are uneven throughout the lease term. The ROU assets and lease liabilities may include options to extend or terminate the lease
when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. The ROU and lease liabilities are primarily related to commercial
offices with third parties. The lease agreements have terms between 2 to 4-5 years , with the possibility of extending one of the
contracts for and- an the-additional two years and another for an additional 12 months. The liability was measured at the
present value of the lease payments discounted using interest rates with a weighted average rate of 6. 5 % which was determined
to be our the-Cempany—s-incremental borrowing rate. The continuity of the lease liabilities is presented in the table below:
SCHEDULE OF OPERATING LEASE LIABILITY Lease liabilities at-on January 1, 2023-2024 $ —358, 760 Additions $ 466
313 , 887953 Interest expense $ 5-18 , 825-019 Lease payments $ ( 26-150 , 567-303) Foreign exchange (93, 211 ) Lease
liabilities a#t-on December 31, 2023-2024 $ 454447 , 465-218 Current portion $ H4-134 , 994-300 Non- current portion $ 336
312, 4H-918 The maturity of the lease liabilities (contractual undiscounted cash flows) is presented in the table below:
SCHEDULE OF CONTRACTUAL UNDISCOUNTED CASH FLOWS Less than one year $ +44-158 , 432-722 Year 2 § 45+
140 ., 660-464 Ycar 3 $ 138-84 , 365467 Year 4 $ 92-79 . 965454 Year 5 $ 39, 727 Total contractual undiscounted cash flows $
526502 . 462-834 - +7-16 Convertible Debt SCHEDULE OF CONVERTIBLE DEBT December 31, 2623-2024 December 31,
2022-2023 Due to Nanyang Investment Management Pte Ltd 5, 933, 866 S, 862, 434 —Due to Jaeger Investments Pty Ltd 1, 977,
979 1, 954, 145 —Due to Modha Reena Bhasker 988, 978 977, 072 —Due to Clipper Group Limited 988, 978 977, 072 —Total
convertible debt $ 9, 889, 801 $ 9, 770, 724 $—Current portion $ 81,918 $ 67, 024 Non- current portion $ 9, 807, 883 $ 9, 703,
700 On November 7, 2023, we the-Company-entered into a convertible note purchase agreement (the-“ November 7, 2023 ,
Convertible Note Agreement ’) with Mr. Martin Rowley €“MrRewley3-and other investors to raise up to $ 20, 000, 000 in
proceeds through the issuance of convertible promissory notes with the following key terms:- Maturity date: 36 months as-from
the date of issuance;- Principal repayment terms: due on maturity;- Interest rate: 6. 5 % per annum;- Interest payment terms: due
semiannually in arrears until Maturity, unless converted or redeemed earlier and payable at the election of the holder in cash, in
shares of our €emmen-common Steek-stock , or in any combination thereof;- Conversion right: the holder retains a-the right to
convert all or any portion of the note into shares of our the-Company—s-Commen-common Steek-stock at the Conversion Price
up until the maturity date; and- Conversion price: US § 28. 225 / share- Redemption right: we retain the Company-shal-vesta
right to redeem the convertible notes if and when (i) twelve months have passed since the loan origination and (ii) the volume
weighted average price exceeded 125 % of the conversion price for 5 trading days within a 20 - day trading period. However, if
we notify the-Companynetifies-the holder of #s-our election to redeem the convertible note, the holder may then convert



immediately at the conversion price. On November 7, 2023, we the-Cempany-issued $ 10, 000, 000 in convertible promissory
notes under the terms of the November 7, 2023 , Convertible Note Agreement, and there were no other purchases and sales of
the convertible promissory notes pursuant to the November 7, 2023 Convertible Note Agreement. On the date of issuance, we
the-Company-received $ 10, 000, 000 in cash proceeds ;-and recorded (i) a $ 9, 688, 305 convertible debt liability and (ii) a $
311, 695 conversion feature derivative liability in #s-our consolidated statement of financial position, as further disclosed
below. In the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we recorded $ 67651 , 824-782 in interest expense and $ 45
104 . 395-183 in accretion expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss ($ #1167, 024 and $ ait
15, 395, for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 ). Derivative Liabilities SCHEDULE OF DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES
December 31, 2623-2024 December 31, 28222023 Derivative liability- conversion feature on the convertible debt 66, 310 486,
303 =Derivative liability- restricted stock awards 121, 512 513, 757 Derivative liability- Non- Deliverable Forward 274, 816 -
Total derivative liabilities $ 462, 638 $ 1, 000, 060 $=—a) Derivative liability — embedded conversion feature on convertible debt
On November 7, 2023, we the-Company-issued convertible promissory notes to Martin Mr—Rowley and other investors as
further disclosed in Note 2. In accordance with FASB ASC 815, the conversion feature of the convertible debt was determined
to be an embedded derivative. As such, it was bifurcated from the host debt liability and was recognized as a derivative liability
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The derivative liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss. F- 4§
17 On origination at-om November 7, 2023, the fair value of the embedded conversion feature was determined to be $ 311, 695
using a Black- Scholes collar option pricing model with the following assumptions: SCHEDULE OF FAIR VALUE
EMBEDDED CONVERSION PRICING MODEL ASSUMPTION Value cap Value floor Measurement date November 7, 2023
November 7, 2023 Number of options 354, 297 354, 297 Stock price at fair value measurement date $ 22. 8200 $ 22. 8200
Exercise price $ 28. 2250 $ 35. 2813 Expected volatility 111. 81 % 111. 81 % Risk- free interest rate 4. 64 % 4. 64 % Dividend
yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term (years) 3. 00 3. 00 A+On December 31, 2623-2024 , the fair value of the embedded
conversion feature was determined to be $ 486-66 , 384-310 using a Black- Scholes collar option pricing model with the
following assumptions: Value cap Value floor Measurement date December 31, 2023-2024 December 31, 2623-2024 Number of
options 354, 297 354, 297 Stock price at fair value measurement date $ 346 . 2888-3300 $ 34-6 . 2860-3300 Excrcise price $ 28
26 . 2256-1101 $ 35-32 . 2813-6376 Expected volatility 99-115 . 42-64 % 99-115 . 42-64 % Risk- free interest rate 3-4 . 9725 %
34 . 9725 % Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term (years) 2-1 . 85 2-1 . 85 In the Black- Scholes collar option pricing
models, the expected volatilities were based on historical volatilities of the-our and our peers’ sccuritics ef the-Company-and
#ts-trading-peers, and the risk- free interest rates were determined based on the prevailing rates at the grant date for U. S.
Treasury Bonds with a term equal to the expected term of the instrument being valued. In the year ended December 31, 2623
2024, recognized a § 419, 993 gain on changes in fair value of financlal 1nstruments in the consohdated
statement of operatlons and comprehenswe loss ( $ 174, 6 08 RStraments-in-the

hablhty — reqtrlcted etock unlt (“ RSU ”) awardq On September 30, 2023, we the-Cempany-granted RSU awards to one of #s-our
executive officers that provide for the issuance of up to a maximum of 1. 4 % of our the-Company—s-Commeon-common Stoek
stock outstanding, in seven equal tranches of 0. 2 % of our the-Company—s-Commen-common Steek-stock outstanding, with
an expiry date of December 31, 2026 , and market vesting conditions as follows:- Tranche 1: when we the-Company-achieves—
achieve a $ 200 million market capltahzatlon Tranche 2: when we the-Company-achieves— achieve a $ 300 million market
capitalization- Tranche 3: when we the-Company-achieves— achieve a $ 400 million market capitalization- Tranche 4: when we
the-Company-achieves— achieve a § 500 million market capitalization- Tranche 5: when we the-Cempany-achieves— achieve a $
600 million market capitalization- Tranche 6: when we the-Company-achieves— achieve a $ 700 million market capitalization-
Tranche 7: when we the-Company-achteves— achieve a $ 1. 0 billion market capitalizationIn accordance with FASB ASC 815,
these RSU awards were classified as a liability, measured at fair value through profit or loss, and compensation expense is
recognized over the expected term. As at-of September 30, 2023, the grant date fair value of these awards was $ 2, 517, 300, as
determined a Monte Carlo Simulation valuation method according to the assumptions disclosed in Note 5. In the year ended
December 31, 2023, we the-Cempany-recognized $ 513, 757 in stock- based compensation expense in the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss, met the market conditions for Tranche 1 and Tranche 2, and issued 40, 533
shares of €Cemmen-common Steekstock to the executive officer. As at December 31, 2623-2024 , Tranche 3, Tranche 4,
Tranche 5, Tranche 6 and Tranche 7 remain outstanding and unvested, and the total fair value of these restricted stock awards
outstanding was $ 4315 , 189 556,-576-, as measured using a Monte Carlo Simulation with the following ranges of
assumptions: our common the-Cempany—s-stock price on the December 31, 2023-2024 measurement date, expected dividend
yield of 0 %, expected volatility between72-of 86 . 37 3-%%-and-89-—3-%, risk- free interest rate between a range of 4. 25 79-%-te
5-4+%, and an expected term 24 between3-menths-and42-months. The expected volatilities were based on historical
volatilities of the securities of the Company and #ts-tradinrg-of our peers, and the risk- free interest rates were determined based
on the prevailing rates at the grant date for U. S. Treasury Bonds with a term equal to the expected term of the award being
valued. ¥-¢) Derivative liability - Non- Deliverable Forward Atlas Litio, a subsidiary of Atlas Lithium, is exposed to
foreign- currency exchange- rate fluctuations in the normal course of business considering that portion of expenses are in
Brazilian reais (BRL). To mitigate this exposure, the subsidiary utilizes non- deliverable forward foreign- exchange
contracts (NDFs), which are designed to offset changes in cash flow attributable to currency exchange movements. The
Company applies hedge accounting in accordance with U. S. GAAP (ASC 815). As a result, these derivative instruments
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, with the entire gain or loss on the derivative initially recorded in Other
Comprehensive Income (OCI). These amounts remain deferred in OCI and are subsequently reclassified into earnings
in the same income statement line item as the hedged item when it affects earnings. Atlas Lithium actively monitors the
derivative portfolio of its subsidiary monthly to assess financial results and cash flow implications. These contracts are



used strictly for risk management purposes, and neither the subsidiary nor Atlas Lithium engages in speculative
transactions. Additionally, these contracts do not contain any credit- risk- related contingent features. As of December
31, 2024, the fair value of outstanding NDF contracts was recorded as Derivative Liabilities on the balance sheet. For the
year ended December 31, 2024: e Unrealized gains /losses from NDF contracts recognized in Other Comprehensive
Income (OCI): $ 278, 820 ¢ Amount reclassified into Finance Costs (Revenue): $ 33, 687 The following table summarizes
the non- deliverable forward foreign exchange contracts that remain open as of December 31, 2024: SCHEDULE OF
NON DELIVERABLE FORWARD EXCHANGE CONTRACTSSubsidiary Dates Derivative Financial Total Notional
FX rate Total Notional Settlement Entered into Instrument Amounts (USD) (BRL / USD) Amounts (BRL) Dates (Range)
Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda November, 2024 Forward foreign exchange contracts (USD / BRL) $ 4, 250, 000 5. 93 25, 15198 ,
925 15- Jan- 2025- 15- Sep- 2025F- 18 NOTE 3 — DEFERRED OTHER INCOME €CONSIDERATHONFROMROYALHES
S6ED-On May 2, 2023, the Company and Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda. (the “ Company Subsidiary ™), entered into a Royalty
Purchase Agreement (the ““ Purchase Agreement ”’) with Lithium Royalty Corp., a Canadian company listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange (“ LRC ). The transaction contemplated under the Purchase Agreement closed simultaneously on May 2, 2023,
whereby the Company Subsidiary sold to LRC in consideration for § 20, 000, 000 in cash, a royalty interest equaling 3 % of the
gross revenue (the “ Royalty ”) to be received by the Company Subsidiary from the sale of products from certain 19 mineral

rights and plopeltles that are locdted n BIlel and held by the C ompdny Subsldlmy —Feiet-he—traﬂsaet-teﬁ—abeve—t-he—eempa&y

same dd\/ the Company Slesuilary and LR( enteled into a (noss Revenue Roydlty Ameelnel]t (the Roydlty Ameelnel]t )
pursuant to which the Company Subsidiary granted LRC the Royalty and undertook to calculate and make royalty payment on a
quarterly basis commencing from the first receipt of the sales proceeds with respect to the products from the Property. The
Royalty Agreement contains other customary terms, including but not limited to, the scope of the gross revenue, the Company
Subsidiary’ s right to determine operations, and LRC’ s information and audit rights. Under the Royalty Agreement, the
Company Subsidiary also granted LRC an option to purchase additional royalty interest with respect to certain additional
Brazilian mineral rights and properties on the same terms and conditions as the Royalty, at a total purchase price of $ 5, 000,
000. NOTE 4 — OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES Other noncurrent liabilities are comprised solely of social contributions
and other employee- related costs at our operating subsidiaries located in Brazil. The balance of these employee related costs as
of December 31, 2024, and 2023 ard2022-amounted to $ 33, 962 and $ 58, 579 and-$78;964-, respectively. NOTE 5 —
STOCKHOLDERS” EQUITY Authorized Stock and Amendments On July 18, 2022, the-our beard-Board and efdireetorsof
the €ompany-holder of the majority voting power of our voting stock (the MaJorlty Stockholder Beard—e-PBtreetors— or=

Beard>-) approved adepted—rese}tmeﬁs—te-effeet—d 1 750 reverse stock spht 6

-I-ﬁte&ded-Rex erse Stock Split ) —’Phe—he-}der—of t-he—rﬂajeri-t—y—vet-'rﬂg—poweiee-ﬁoul Vet-rﬁg—lssued and outstandlng shares of
common stock €. As previously reported, on Aprll 21, 2023, the Board authorlzed and iMajeﬂty—SteeId&e-}deri)—apprO\ ed
the necessary documents and filings with Ortgin §

e%a—meeﬁﬁg—e-ﬁstoekhe}der&as-peiﬁr&ed—tmdeﬁ he Secretary of State of the State of Ne\ ada Reﬁsed—St&tu-te-( —N—R—Si)

fn—t-h&t—ttn&%f&dﬁ%ﬂf—ﬁhﬁg—&ﬂ—ﬂd correspondmgly decrease 0
effeettta-te—a—reverse—steel&sp-l-rt—ks—a—restﬂ-t—t he -Beard—number of authorlzed shares Btreetors—deteiﬂned—ﬂaat—rt—wot&d-be-rn

t-he—Reet-i—ﬁed—Re’v‘erse—StoeI&Spht—ds of Decembe
ttﬂaﬂrmetts—wrrt-teﬁ—eeﬁseﬂt—on Apr11 21,2023, the




eotreetion vs-Board ef
-Bi-reetefs—dnd the MdjOllty Stockholder approved an eﬂ%prﬂ—ﬂ—%@%—ﬂ&e%uthef&ed-@&pﬁa{—}ﬂefeaseﬁﬁeﬁdmef&
amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase the authorized number of shares of common stock from 5, 333, 334
shares to 4, 000, 000, 000 shares retroactively as of December 20, 2022, in accordance with the beard-Board ’ s and
stockholders’ original intent in effecting the OriginatlyIntended-Reverse Stock Split. Further, the Board efDireetors-determined
that it was advisable and in the-our best interests— interest of the-Company-to amend and restate our the-Company—s-artietes-of
neorporation-(as-amended-to-date;the-~Current-Articles 2-of Incorporation to decrease the number of shares of authorized
common stock to two hundred million (200, 000, 000) and to amend certain other provisions in our the-Company—s-Current
Articles of Incorporation (the “ Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation ). The Board efBireetors-and the Majority
Stockholder determined to decrease the number of shares of ear-authorized common stock #rerderto reduce the number of
shares available for issuance given that-the negative perception the dilutive effect of having such a large number of shares
available e-f—eeﬂﬂﬁeﬂ—steel&aut-her&ed—for issuance mdy ha\ e a—pefeeﬁed-ﬂeg&t—ﬁe—rm-p&et—o dny potentlal future efforts to
attract additional financing eke 5 v e 3 ares-4 ree-. On April
21,2023, the Ge-m-p&ﬂy—s—beard-Board 6'f—d'lfeef6f3-’dnd the Md]Ol‘lty Stockholdel apprO\ ed the Amended and Restdted Articles
—Fe-l-}ewrng—t-he—effeet-weﬂess-of Incorporation. On th ng-th
Gh&ﬂge—\%d&ﬁefr@eﬁrﬂeate—ﬁ-}eemth—ﬂ&e—ses—eﬂ—Mdy 25, 2()23 we -t-he—Gemp&ny—flled the Amended and Restdted Arncles 5
as—a-lse—reperted—m—E—xh—tbi-t—Zv—Zv—of Incorporatlon t-he—Fefm—S-—IGﬁ-}ed—by—t-he—Geﬂ&p&rw—\x ith the SOS to effect Gemm-tssreﬁ—eﬁ

On As—aise—eeﬂtefﬁp*ated—rﬂ—the—}ﬁferﬁﬁ&&eﬁ—St&temeﬂt—eﬁ—Mdy 25 2()23 we -t-he—Geﬂ%p&ny—dlso 1‘11ed w 1th the SOS aC EItlfICdte

of Wlthdlaw dl of Deugnatlon of the Senes BC onv ertible Pretened Stock and -t-he—a Certificate of Wlthdlaw al of Deugnatlon of

Wl-t-hdfawa-}s—\x ere effective as of May 25, 2023. -F-—2—1—As of Decembel 31, %922—2023 -t-l‘re—Geﬂa-paﬂy-and December 31, 2024
we had 4-200 , 000, 000 ;-666-authorized shares of common sh&res—&ttt-heﬂzed-stock with a par value of § 0. 001 per share. On
November 22 Pﬂrstr&ﬂt—te—ﬂ%e—vete—by—a—vwﬁten—eeﬂseﬂt—datedﬁpfﬂé—l— 2623-2024 , of we entered into an At the Market

Offering Agreement (‘Company—s-Majority-Stoekhelderentitted-to-5+%of-the ve&ng—pewer—e-ﬁ“ ATM Agreement ) with
H. C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“ Wainwright ) with respect to an at the Company—s-market offering program, under

which we may, from time to time in our sole discretion, issued-- issue and eutstanding-voting-stoelsell through
Wainwright , the-number-acting as agent, up to $ 25. 0 million of shares of our the-Company—s-autherized-common stock .
The issuance and sale, if any, of our common stock under the Agreement will be made pursuant to a prospectus
supplement, dated November 22, 2024, to our registration statement on Form S- 3, filed with the U. S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ) on August 25, 2023, which was deereasedto200-declared effective on September 18 ,
2023 066;-060-shares-. As-ofDuring the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we sold 191 the-Company-had-260-, 723 666;

GGG—auﬂ&eﬂzed-shares under the ATM Agreement for proceeds e-f—eeﬂmieﬂ—steel&wrth—a—p&r—va-}ue—of $ 9—99—1—per—sh&re—

steele&t—a—ra-t-te—ef—l -—fer-—7§9—€t-1=re—Revefse—Stee1eSpl-rt—)— 3 mllllon Fe-l-}ewrﬂg—t-he—Revefse—SteeleSpl-rt— neteaeh—?’é@—sh&res
of commlssmns 6ﬂi“tS‘Sﬂed-’dnd fees ottstan ed

pﬂe—lepeﬂeds—pfeseﬂted- Series A P1efe1red Stock On Decembel 18, 7012, we t-he—ee-mp&n-y—nled with the SOSNeV&d&
Seeretary-of-State-a Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ( the “ Series A
Preferred Stock ) to designate one share of a new series of preferred stock. The Certificate of Designations, Preferences and
Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock provides that for so long as Series A Preferred Stock is issued and outstanding,
the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single class with the holders of our the-Company-s-common
stock, with the holders of Series A Preferred Stock being entitled to 51 % of the total votes on all such matters regardless of the
actual number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding, and the holders of common stock are entitled to their
proportional share of the remaining 49 % of the total votes based on their respective voting power. The one outstanding share of
our Senes A Preferred Stock has been held by our Chief Executive Officer and ( hdlrman Mr. M&re—Fogassa since December

Gemp&rry—eﬂ—a—pfe—fata—b&sts—l: 2—2—20 YeaI Ended Dece1




as a-pa d 2023 Transactlons On January 9,
2023, we fhe—eeﬁapany—entered into an underwrmng agreement (the “ Underwrmng Agreement ) with EF Hutton, division of
Benchmark Investments, LLC, as representative of the underwriters named therein (the “ Representative ™), pursuant to which
we agreed to sell an aggregate of 675, 000 shares of our the-Eempany—s-common stock, to the Representative, at
a public offering price of § 6. 00 per share (the “ Offering Price ) in a firm commitment public offering (the * Offering ). We
Fhe-Company-also granted the Representative a 45- day option to purchase up to 101, 250 additional shares of our the-
Cempany—s-common stock upon the same terms and conditions for the purpose of covering any over- allotments in connection
with the Offering (the “ Over- Allotment Option ”’). On January 11, 2023, the Representative delivered its notice to exercise the
Over- Allotment Option in full. The shares of common stock were offered by us the-Cempany-pursuant to a registration
statement on Form S- 1, as amended (File No. 333- 262399) filed with the Commission and declared effective on January 9,
2023 (the “ Registration Statement ). The consummation of the Offering took place on January 12, 2023 (the “ Closing ). In
connection with the Closing, we issued to the Representative, and / or its permitted designees, as a portion of the
underwriting compensation payable to the Representative, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 33, 750 shares of common
stock, equal to 5 % of the number of shares of common stock sold in the Offering (excluding the Over- Allotment eptiost
Option ), at an exercise price of $ 7. 50, equal to 125 % of the Offering Price (the “ Representative’ s Warrants ™). The
Representative’ s Warrants are exercisable for a period of five years from the effective date of the Registration Statement,
provided that they are-were subject to a mandatory lock- up for 180 days from the commencement of sales of the Offering in
accordance with FINRA Rule 5110 (e). Aggregate gross proceeds from the Offering were $ 4, 657, 500. We
OH26Frespeetively-The-Company-previously reported it was acquiring five mineral rights totaling 1,090.88 hectares pursuant
to a mineral rights purchase agreement entered into on January 19,2023 (the *“ Acquisition Agreement ). After a period of
preliminary assessment,the Company-and-the-counterparty to the agreement and us agreed to revise the terms of the
acquisition,following which we the-Cempany-ultimately consummated the acquisition of only one mineral right totaling 45.77
hectares. The mineral right is located in the municipalities of Araguai and Itinga,in a region known as ““ Lithium Valley ” in the
state of Minas Gerais in Brazil. Fhe-Our obligations under the Acquisition Agreement as revised were: ® Payment of $ 400,
000, which payment took place on January 19, 2023, and e issaanee-Issuance of $ 750, 000 worth of restricted shares of our
common stock efthe-Cempany-which took place on February 1, 2023 . F- 23-21 On January 30, 2023, we the-eompany
entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the ““ Purchase Agreement ”’) with two investors (the “ Investors ™), pursuant to
which we the-Cempany-agreed to issue and sell to the Investors in a Regulation S private placement (the “ Private Placement )
an aggregate of 640, 000 restricted shares of our the-Cempany—s-common stock (the ““ Shares ). The purchase price for the
Shares was $ 6. 25 per share, for total gross proceeds of $ 4, 000, 000. The Private Placement transaction closed on February 1,
2023. On November 29, 2023 the-eompany-, we entered into two securities purchase agreements (the “ Purchase Agreements ™),
with certain accredited investors (the “ Investors ) pursuant to which we the-Cempany-agreed to sell and issue 167, 954 shares
of #s-eur common stock, par value $ 0. 001 per share (the “ Registered Shares ) to each Investor in a registered direct offering
(the “ Registered Offering ”) at a purchase price of $ 29. 77 per share. for total gross proceeds of approximately $ 9. 9 million
after deducting offering expenses paid by us the-Cempany-. The registered-Registered effering-Offering took place on
December 6, 2023. Additionally, during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, we the-Cempany-sold an aggregate of
192, 817 shares of our common stock to Triton Funds, LP for total gross proceeds of $ 1, 675, 797 pursuant to a Common Stock
Purchase Agreement (the “ CSPA ”) entered into between the-Company-and-Triton Funds, LP and us , dated February 26, 2021.
For a description of the transactions contemplated under the CSPA, please refer to our Form 8- K filed with the Commission on
March 2,2021. On May 26, 2023, Mr. Fogassa, our €EO-Chief Executive Officer and Chairman ;s Mr—MareFogassa-, clected
to convert 214, 006 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, representing all of his outstanding shares of Series D
Convertible Preferred Stock at that time, into shares of common stock. As a result, of such conversion, we the-Company
issued Mr. Fogassa 2, 853, 413 new shares of common stock. PrivatePlaeement-On July 18, 2023, we the-Compaty
consummated a transaction with four investors, pursuant to which we the-Cempany-agreed to issue and sell to the-such nvestors
investors an aggregate of 526 317 restrlcted shares of our common stock ina Regulanon S private placement an-aggregate

shares was $ 19. OO per share for total gross proceeds of $ 10 OOO 023 :Phe—eem-pany—euﬁenﬂy—mtends—te—use-Year Ended
December 31, 2024, Transactions During the year ended December 31, 2024, we issued an aggregate of 3, 251, 161 new

shares of our common stock, 1nclud1ng @) 1 871, 250 shares issued to Mltsul & Co Ltd (“ M1tsu1 ”) for gross proceeds

tes-a v i din g HEs of t-he—I-nvesfer%—rs—a—nen——U—$ 30 mllhon and net proceeds
of $ 29 -S—Pefseﬁi6 mllhon pursuant toa Securltles Purchase Agreement dated as deﬁned—rn—Regt&a&eﬁ—S,—aﬂd—t-hat—t-hey
of - aeemert-agen

191, 723 shares 1ssued to investors in connection the e § ees
agreement-with ene-ofthe ATM Agreement{nvestefs—wnﬂa—e*peﬂeﬁeeﬁfhe—hﬂmma—mdustfy— Stock lncentrve Plan On May
25,2023, the Board approved the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan (the *“ Plan ) which enables the grant of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance shares, stock unit awards, other stock- based awards, and performance- based
cash awards, each of which may be granted separately or in tandem with other awards. The number of shares of our Company—s
common stock issuable pursuant to Plan is wi-be-equal-te-2, 000, 000 shares. For a description of the 2023 Stock Incentive
Plan, please refer to our the-Company>-s-Revised Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed with the Commission
on June 5, 2023. F- 2422 Common Stock Options During the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 and-2622-, we the




Company-granted options to purchase common stock to officers, consultants and nen—management-directors. The options were
valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following ranges of assumptions: SCHEDULE OF BLACK-
SCHOLES OPTION PRICING MODEL December 31, 2623-2024 December 31, 2622-2023 Expected volatility 90. 41 % —
136. 11 % 103. 60 % — 104. 80 % 246-34-%—354—13%Risk- free interest rate 3. 78 % — 4. 79 % 3. 40 % — 3. 82 Y%5+44%—
2-56-% Stock price on date of grant $ 31. 28 $ 7. 22- $ 19. 75 $-6-75-$-6-4125Dividend yield 0. 00 % 0. 00 % Expected term
1 — 5 years 1. 5 years Changes in common stock options for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 and-2622-were as
follows: SCHEDULE OF COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING Number of Options Outstanding and Vested Weighted
Average Exercise Prrce Remaining Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated lntrmsrc Value Outstandmo and vested, January 1,

%Ge-eufs’fand-mg—a-nd—vesfed—BeeembeH-l—ze%}SO 667 $ 15 9474 2 40 $ 776, 864 Issued (1) 429 996 0. 0077 Exerclsed
(2) (399, 996) 0. 0075 Expired-- Forfeited-- Cancelled (40, 000) 20. 0000 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2024 40,
667 $ 0. 2041 0. 63 $ 249, 122 Number of Options Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price Remaining
Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstandmo and vested, January 1,20622-2023 6;546-5-8-2500274-519;
; 178,672$ 0. 1219 1. 55
$ 1, 228, 972 Issued (€)) 80, 000 13. 50 Exerclsed (4) (207 141) l. 4151 Explred (864) 0. 7500 Outstanding and vested,
December 31, 2023 50, 667 $ 15. 9474 2.40 $ 776, 864 1) In the year ended December 31, 2024, 429, 996 common stock
options were issued with a grant date fair value of $ 13, 410, 147. 2) In the year ended December 31, 2024, common stock
option holders exercised a total 399, 996 options at a weighted average exercise price of $ 0, 0075 to purchase 399, 996
shares of our common stock. The exercises were paid for with § 2, 999 in cash proceeds to us. As a result of the options
exercised, we issued 399, 996 shares of common stock. (3 ) In the year ended December 31, 2023, 80, 000 common stock
options were issued with a grant date fair value of $ 446, 726. 2-(4 ) In the year ended December 31, 2023, common stock
option holders exercised a total 207, 141 options at a weighted average exercise price of $ 1. 4151 to purchase 206, 599 shares
of our the-Company—s-common stock. The exercises were paid for with (i) $ 281, 134 in cash proceeds to us the-Cempany-and
(ii) 542 options conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the options exercised, we the-Cempany-issued 206, 599 shares of

common stock. 8)—1-n—F- 23 Durlng the year ended December 31, %92—2—2024 we W—@%eemme&steeleepﬁeﬁs—wefeﬁsued

410 147 in stock- based compensatron expense hom common stock optlons in the consohdated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss ($ 58-446 , 685-726 , during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 ). Series D Convertible Preferred
Stock Options PDuring-As of and for the years-twelve months ended December 31,2024, we had no Series D Convertible
Preferred Stock options outstanding and no shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding. During the
twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and2622-, we the-Cempany-granted options to purchase sertes-Series D
Convertible Preferred stoek-Stock to te-two of our directors efthe-Company-. All Series D Convertible preferred-Preferred
steel=Stock options granted-vested immediately at the grant date and were exercisable for a period of ten years from the date of
issuance. The options were valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following ranges of assumptions:
SCHEDULE OF OPTIONS FAIR VALUE ASSUMPTIONS December 31, 2023 Beeember3+2622-Expected volatility 135.
81 % — 154. 32 % 246-55%—296—406-%Risk- free interest rate 3. 42 % — 4. 73 S%+-54+%—4-05-% Stock price on date of
grant $ 7. 0000- $ 38. 8900 $4-7256-$423750-Dividend yicld 8-00-%0. 00 % Expected term 5 years H-ears-Changes in
Series D Convertible preferred-Preferred steel=Stock options for the years ended December 31, 2023 and-2622-were-as
foHews- SCHEDULE OF PREFERRED STOCK Number of Options Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price
(a) Remaining Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested, January 1, 2023 72, 000 $ 0. 10 8.
94 $ 6,712, 800 Issued (1) 36, 000 0. 10 Exercised (2) (108 OOO) 0.10 Outstandmg and Vested December 31, 2023 $—— $-F=

purchase one share of Serles D Convertlble Preferred Stock which is convertible into 13 and 1/3 shares of common stock at
any time at the election of the holder. 1) In the year ended December 31, 2023, 36, 000 Series D Convertible preferred
Preferred steel=Stock options were issued with a total grant date fair value of $ 2, 507, 766, 2) In the year ended December 31,
2023, Series D Convertible preferred-Preferred steelk-Stock option holders exercised a total 108, 000 options at an exercise
price of $ 0. 10 to purchase 108, 000 shares of our the-Company>s-Scries D Convertible Preferred Stock. The exercises were
paid for with $ 10, 800 in cash proceeds to us the-Company-. As a result of the Series D Convertible preferred-Preferred stoek
Stock options exercised, we the-Cempany-issued 108, 000 shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock. The stockholders
of the Series D Stock subsequently converted 108, 000 shares of Series D Stock into 1, 439, 996 shares of common stock.

Durlng 39—1-n—the ye&rtwelve months ended December 31, %(-)2—2—2024 we 36—999—Seﬂes—9—pfefeﬁed-steeleepﬁefﬁ+efe—rssued

in stock based compensatron expense ﬁom Serles D Convertlble pfefeﬁed—Preferred steeleStock options in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensrve loss (S -854—$ 2 946—507 766 durmg the ye&rtwelve months ended December

31, 2022)-As-atDeeember3+-2023 ) +the

Steekoutstanding-. Common Stock Purchase Warrants Stock purchase warrants are accounted ror as equrty in accordance with
ASC 480, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’ s Own Stock,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity. During the sears— year ended December 31, 2024, we did not issue common stock
purchase warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2023 and-2022-, we the-Coempany-issued common stock purchase
warrants to investors, finders and brokers in connection with our the-Cempany—s-equity financings. All warrants vest within
180 days fremrof issuance and are exercisable for a period of one to five years from the date of issuance. The common stock



purchase warrants were valued using the Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following ranges of assumptions:
SCHEDULE OF WARRANT ASSUMPTION December ?1, 2023 Beeember3+-2022-Expected volatility 101. 39 % — 127. 17
% +8848-%—197F45%Risk- free interest rate 3. 43 % — 3. 83 %2-F9-%—3—79-% Stock price on date of grant § 8. 10- $ 20.
28 $F-5750-$12-6759-Dividend yield 8-66-9%-0. 00 % Expcucd term 1. 5 to 5 years 2-0+te-3-3-years-F- 27-24 Changes in
common stock purchase warrants for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 and-2022-were as follows: SCHEDULE OF
WARRANT ACTIVITY Number of Options Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price Remaining
Contractual Life (Years) Aggregated Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested, January 1, 2024 55, 761 $ 10. 60870 1. 34 $
1, 152, 654 Warrants Issued-- Warrants Exercised (1) (6, 667) 7. 5000 Warrants Expired (2) (25, 715) 8. 0556 Warrants
Forfeited-- Warrants Cancelled (2) (6, 711) 23. 7500 Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2024 16, 668 $ 10. 4999 0. 79
$ 0 Number of Warrants Outstanding and Vested Weighted Average Exercise Price Weighted Average Contractual Life (Years)
Agglcgalcd Intrinsic Value Outstanding and vested, January 1, 2023 321, #59-770 $ 12. 8634 1. 30 $- Warrants issued (+3)
1,446-435 8. 5677 Warrants exercised ( 24 ) (3()7 444) 8. 2857 ()ulsldndmg and vested, Dcccmbu 31 2()23 55, 761 $ 10.
6()87 %4% 152, 654 Numb A A Ferag ee—W Ferag

W&rr&nfs—issaed—(—?v—) Durlng the twelve months ended 6

and-vested;-December 31, 2022-2024 324, 776-warrant holders exerclsed a total 6, 667 warrants to purchase 1,376 shares
of our common stock. The warrant exercises were executed with an exercise price of $ +2-7 . $634-50 per share and were
paid for with 5, 291 warrants conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the warrants exercised, we issued an
aggregate of | , 376 common shares . 30-$—-2) During the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 32, 426 warrants
were canceled and expired. 3 ) The warrants issued in the yeatr-twelve months ended December 31, 2023 , had a total grant
date fair value of § 2, 158, 116. 24 ) During the year ended December 31, 2023, warrant holders exercised a total 507, 444
warrants to purchase 446. 948 shares of our the-Cempany—s-common stock. The warrant exercises were executed with exercise
prices ranging between $ 5. 1085 and $ 15. 00 per share and were paid for with (i) $ 1, 774, 608 in cash proceeds to us the
Cempany-and (i1) 60, 496 warrants conceded in cashless exercises. As a result of the warrants exercised, we the-Company
issued 446, 948 shares of common stock. 3-Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock units (“ RSUs ” ) are granted by us to
our officers, consultants and directors of the Company as a form of stock- based compensation. The warrantsissued-in
RSUs are granted with varying immediate- vesting, time- vesting, performance- vesting, and market- vesting conditions
as tailored to each recipient. Each RSU represents the right to receive one share of our common stock immediately upon
vesting. F- 25 Changes in RSUs for the year-years cnded December 31, 2622-2024 had-, and December 31, 2023 were as
follows: SCHEDULE OF CHANGE IN RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS Number of Options Outstanding and Vested
Outstanding and vested, January 1, 2024 1, 040, 017 Granted (1) 714, 032 Vested (2) (749, 864) Expired- Forfeited (3)
(371, 709) Cancelled (4) (60, 000) Outstanding and vested, December 31, 2024 572, 476 1) In the twelve months ended
December 31, 2024, 714, 032 RSUs were granted to our officers and consultants, with a total grant date fair value of § 853-7
, 505 397284 During-the-yearended-Deeember31-, 400 as measured at $ 10. 51 / 2022 ~warrantholdersexereised-a-totat
- share, as follows: (i) 390, 997 RSUs which immediately vested upon grant;
(ii) 87 326 RSUs with time- based vesting over periods ranging from six months to four years; (iii) 65, 000 RSUs which
vest upon ach1ev1ng certain prlce per share 0[ our t-he—Gempany—s—common stock —"Phe—warr&nt—exeretses—were—exeetﬁed—wﬁh

-159%8&1%g—1-ﬂ—292—7—4)—62—3—999—~ 00 and (lv) 170 799 RbUs w hlch vest upon dChlL,\ ing culdm pulmmanu mllcxloncs at our
Neves Project —Fhese-2) In the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 749, 864 RSUs granted-vested and were settled

through the issuance of 749, 864 shares of common stock. 3) In the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 371, 709
RSUs were forfeited upon termination of employment and service agreements with immedtate—former executives and
consultants. 4) In the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 60, 000 RSUs were cancelled without vesting time-

because the performance condltlons for v cslm —and—perfermanee—ves-t—mg—eeﬂd-r&eﬁs—\\ ere not met tssaed—wrt-}ra—teta-l—gfaﬂt

da-tcht-he—R—S-U—W&s—gr&nted- Duung he year cndcd Dcumbu ? 2024 we recorded $10, 500 496 in stock- based
compensation expense from our RSU activity in the period ($ 9, 926, 951 during the year ended December 31, 2023 ). As
of December 31 , 2024, the-there Companygranted-were 572, 476 RSUs with-market—outstanding including rights to
receive 22, 000 shares of common stock as a result of RSU vesting eendittens-as-feHows-(December 31, 2023 : | Y77, 666
167 652 RSUs outstandlng 1nclud1ng rlghts to receive 115 653 shares of common stock vv‘l‘neh—sha-l-ldvest—&peﬂ—aeh-teﬂﬂg




elassifted-awards-and-are-a result of RSU vesting). Other stock incentives measured at amertized-eost—2)A-quantity-fair
value through profit or loss As of December 31, 2024, we had certain RSUs-whieh-shalt-vestinsevemrindividuat-tranches

equtvalent-to-0-—26-%-of the-other Company-outstanding obligations to issue shares of our common stock in case some
markets conditions are met pursuant to an officer ' s employment agreement eommon-stoek-outstanding-each-, as further

dlsclosed in up—te—a—ma*uﬁ-um—e%l—%—rf—aﬂd—w%eﬂ—t he Qempan-y— Derlvatlve llablhtles sectlon above s—rnafkef

we recognlzed ﬂ%e—Gemp&rw—feeefded—t-he—feHeﬁ&ﬂg—as—a $ 121 fesu-l-t—e-ﬁt-he—Geﬁrp&ny—s—RSU—aefw&y—éﬁ%%e— 43—7’—R—SUs—wefe
redeenmed-for-512 derivative liability and would have been obligated to issue 160, 145 shares of common stock pursuant to
shares—tssued—fm-l—d-ufmg—t-he—these ye&reﬁéed-other stock mcentlves had the condltlons of such stock mcentlves been met (

Decen A r-stoel—based-eompensa ar-ended-Deeembe
%GQ%ﬂ%s—e-PBeeeﬂabeH-l—z()% recogmzed he-Compan ereht
+-65599%unvested-and-had-a $ 513, 756-757 derivative ldbl ny relatmg to 127 eufs’f&ﬂd-rﬂg—ffeﬂa—habﬁrty—e{assrﬁed-&w&fés

, 2022:-nil-outstanding-and-a-$nil-derivativetiability-535 shares of our common stock that we would have

been obligated to issue had the conditions of the stock incentives been met ). F- 29-26 NOTE 6 — COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES The following table summarizes certain of Atlas’ s contractual obligations #t-em December 31, 2623-2024
(in thousands): SCHEDULE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS Total Less than 1 Year 1- 3 Years 3- 5 Years More than 5
Years Lithium processing plant construction (1) $ 72, 686-912 , 785960 $ 72 , 686-912 , 785-960 S- $- $- Total fand
Aequisttton{2 33-, H9-912 , 699-3-960 2 , H9-912 , 960 099—TFotal-+0;799-88410;799-884--- (1) Lithium processing plant
construction are-is related to agreements with suppllus contracted for the construction of the plocessmg planl with the majority
of payments due upon delivery. S e a h 55 Please see
commitments related to Leases in Note 2. NOTE 7 RELATED PARTY TRANSA( TIONS The 1L1L1led pdllv transactions are
recorded at the exchange amount transacted as agreed between us the-Cempany-and the related party. All the related party
transactions have been reviewed and approved by the board of directors. Qur Fre-Cempany>—s-related parties include:
SCHEDULE OF RELATED PARTIESMartin PARTFES Martin-Rowley Martin Rowley 1s-was a senior advisor to the
Company-us; his service terminated on August 16, 2024 . [n 2023, we the-Company-cntered into a Convertible Note Purchase
Agreement with Martin Rowley relating to the issuance to Martin Rowley along with other experienced lithium investors.
Martin Rowley is the father of NtelkeNicholas Rowley, a former officer the-Company—s-VPBusiness Development-. Jacge
Investments Pty Ltd Jaeger Investments Pty Ltd is a corporation in which senior advisor, Martin Rowley, is a controlling
shareholder. RTEK International DMCC RTEK International DMCC is a corporation in which Nicholas the-VP-Business

-Beve}epmeﬂt—e%t-he—eempany%ekRou ley ;-and Brian Talbot, a former eur-Chief-Operating-Offieer-officer and director

effeetive-omrApritt, 2624-are controlling shareholders. Mitsui & Shenzhen-Chengxintithtam-Group-Co., Ltd . Mitsui &
-Sheﬁi-heﬁ—@heug*m—]:ﬁ-hrmﬂ—@feﬂp—( , Ltd . is a non- eonhollmg shareholdu ofthe Company —Sichuan-Yohuatndustriat

h . Technical Services Agreement <
EPhe—Gempany—In July 2023 we LlllLlLd into a technlcal an—m&epeﬂdeﬁt—eeﬁw-l-taﬁt—scu ice agreement (* Technical Services
Agreement ) with RTEK Internationat-pursuant to which RTEK agreed to provide us certain mining engineering,
planning and business development services. Messrs. Nicholas Rowley and Brian Talbot are the founders and principals
of RTEK. On March 31, 2024, the Technical Services Agreement was amended and restated (the “ Amended and
Restated RTEK Agreement ) to reflect that part of the compensation originally scheduled to be paid to RTEK was
allocated as compensation for Mr. Talbot in connection with his appointment as director and officer. Under the terms of
the Amended and Restated RTEK Agreement, we issued RTEK RSUs for (i) 75, 000 (seventy- five thousand) fully paid
shares of our common stock vesting on the successful completion of certain performance criteria outlined in the
Amended and Restated R- TEK Agreement; RSUs for 100, 000 (one hundred thousand) fully paid shares of our common
stock vesting upon completion of other identified performance criteria; and RSUs for 100, 000 (one hundred thousand)
fully paid shares of our common stock vesting upon on the delivery of a working plant as defined in the Amended and
Restated RTEK Agreement. Any unvested RSUs shall immediately vest in the event of a Change in Control (as defined in
our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan). On August 16, 2024, the parties further amended and restated the Technical Services
Agreement (the “ Second A & R RTEK Agreement ”) in order to, among other things: (i) revise and amend the Stage
Two Budget and revise the terms of service with respect to the Phase Two Services (each, as described in the Second A &
R RTEK Agreement); (ii) form an operations committee tasked with ensuring progress toward our goals under such
agreement; and (iii) issue to RTEK additional RSUs with aggregate value of up to $ S. 0 million, subject to RTEK” s
achievement of certain milestones and performance criteria . F- 36-27 Convertible Note Purchase Agreement +Fhe
Company-In November 2023, we entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement with Mr. Martin Rowley relating to the
issuance to Mr. Martin Rowley along with other experteneedithinm-investors , of convertible promissory notes with an
aggregate total principal amount of $ 10. 0 million, accruing interest at a rate of 6. 5 % per annum. Pursuant to the Convertible
Note Purchase Agreement, Mr. Martin Rowley, through J aeger, purchased an aggregate of $ 1, 967 503 0 0f the Notes.
The Notes will mature in November on-th - ;




Agreements:112623-2026 the-Company-. On March 28, 2024, we cntered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the «
Purchase Agreement ) with Mitsui through which it sold and issued an aggregate of 1, 871, 250 shares of our common
stock in a registered direct offering (the “ Mitsui Registered Offering ) at a purchase price of $ 16. 0321 per share. The
Purchase Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, covenants and indemnification rights and
obligations of the Investor and us. The closing occurred on April 4, 2024. The gross proceeds from the Mitsui Registered
Offering were $ 30. 0 million before deducting related offering expenses. In connection with the closing of the Mitsui
Reglstered Offerlng, our subsndlary Atlas Brazil and Mltsul entered mto an Offtake dnd Sal es Agreefnents— Agreement

-Shen%hen—@heng*m—l:rthrtm@re&p—@e—]:td— pulsuanl to which the—Sel-}eieAtlas Brazil agreed —fer—a—peﬂed—e-f—ﬁve—é-)—ye&rs—
to sell and deliver to each-Buyer-60-the Mitsui, and Mitsui agreed to purchase and take delivery of, (i) the spot quantity of
fifteen thousand (15, 000 ) dry metric tons of Atlas Brazil lithium-eoneentrate(the-“Produet)per-year;subjeet-to-SeHer- s
autherity-product, and, subject to inerease-or-deereasesueh-quantity by-the fulfillment of certain conditions precedent, (ii)
up to tenpereentsixty thousand ( +6-%-60, 000 ) dry metric tons of Atlas Brazil’ s product for cach year , up to a total of -
Each-Buyeragreed-invest$-5—6-miltionin-the-three hundred thousand purehase-ofshares-of otr-eommon-stoekat-$29-—77per
share—and—te—pre—pay—te—us—t-he—SeHeFfu%@—eﬁﬂ-heﬂ—( eaeh—300 000 aLPre-—Paymeﬁt—Ameﬁﬂt— dry metric tons -fer—fttture

yuu ending Deumbu 31 2024 and 202w and-2022-are shown bClO\\ SC HEDULE OF RELATED PARTIES
OUTSTANDING AMOUNT AND EXPENSES December 31, 2023-2024 December 31, 2622-2023 Accounts Payable / Debt
Expenses / Payments Accounts Payable / Debt Expenses / Payments RTEK International DMCC $- $ 2, 844, 549 $- $ 1, 449,
000 $$—Jaeger Investments Pty Ltd. $ 1, 977,979 $ 130,358 $ 1, 954, 145 $ 13, 405 $$—Total $ 1,977,979 $ 2,974,907 $
1,954, 145 $ 1, 462, 405 $—$—In the course of preparing consolidated financial statements, we eliminate the effects of various
transactions conducted between Atlas Lithium and its subsidiaries and among the subsidiaries. Japite-On December 18, 2024,
we entered into an Option Agreement with Atlas Critical Minerals (the “ Option Agreement ), pursuant to which we
Gold-sold to Atlas Critical Minerals an option (the “ Option ) to acquire 100 % of the equity interests of Brazil Minerals
Resources Corporation , a wholly owned subsidiary of us. As consideration for the Option, Atlas Critical Minerals will
issue to us 797, 957 shares of our common stock, representing $ 500, 000 divided by a value per share of $ 0. 6266. For
more information, see “ Item 2. Properties. ” During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , Jupiter-Gold-Atlas Critical
Minerals granted Mr. Fogassa as contractual compensation options to purchase an aggregate of 426-210 , 000 shares of its
common stock . The options issued in 2024 were valued at $ 41, 938 in total based on the Black- Scholes option pricing
model with the following average assumptions: Atlas Critical Minerals’ stock price on date of grant $ 0. 74 to Mare-$ 1.
00, a strike price of $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00, illiquidity discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, annualized volatility of
241 % to 312 %, risk- free interest rate of 3. 88 % to 4. 64 %, and an expected term of five to ten years. On June 26,
2024, Atlas Critical Minerals amended its employment agreement with Mr. Fogassa for its Chief Executive Officer
position, effective on July 1, 2024. Per agreement, Mr. Fogassa is entitled to receive monthly compensation of $ 25, 000 to
be paid in cash or in shares of Atlas Critical Minerals’ common stock and an annual incentive compensation equivalent
to 4 % of Atlas Critical Minerals’ outstanding common stock count as of January 1. One of our directors, Rodrigo
Menck, has also served as the Chief Financial Officer of Atlas Critical Minerals since September 2024. In connection
with his appointment to that role on September 18, 2024, Mr. Menck was entitled to receive a monthly fee of $ 15, 000
and was granted 50, 000 time- based restricted stock units which shall vest in increments of 25 % annually over a period
of four years from the date of grant. During the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 Atlas Critical Minerals did not
issue any warrants. During the year ended December 31, 2023, Atlas Critical Minerals granted options to purchase an
aggregate of 420, 000 shares of its common stock to Mr. Fogassa at prices ranging between $ 0. 01 to $ 1. 00 per share. The
options were valued at § 115, 038 and recorded te-as stock- based compensation. The options were valued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: our the—Gem-p&n—y’—s—sloe k price on the date of the grant
($0.65t0 8§ 2. 10), an illiquidity discount of 75 %, L\pCLILd dividend ylcld of 0 %, historical volatility calculated between 268
% and 364 %, risk- free interest rate between a range of 3. 42 % to 4. 73 %, and an e\peelul term between 5 and 10 years.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, Mare-Mr. Fogassd exercised a total 1, 115, 000 options at a $ 0. 98 weighted
average exercise price. These exercises were paid for with 386, 420 options conccdcd in cashless exercises. As a result of the
options exercised, the-Company-Atlas Critical Minerals issued 728, 580 shares of its Jupiter-Getd™s-common stock to Mare
Mr. Fogassa . As of December 31, 2024, there were no Atlas Critical Minerals common stock options outstanding held by
related parties . As of December 31, 2023, an aggregate 1, 210, 000 Jupiter-Gold-Atlas Critical Minerals common stock
options granted to Mr. Fogassa were outstanding with a weighted average life of 8. 22 years at an average exercise price of $
0. 043 and an aggregated intrinsic value of $ 1, 041, 300. During 2023, we the-Cempany-acquired 320, 700 shares of Fapiter
Geld-Atlas Critical Minerals’ common stock at $ 1. 00 per share in satisfaction of existing debt , with all such debt satisfied
in 2023 . F- 28 Apollo Resources Corporation During the year ended December 31, 2622-2024 , Japiter-Gotd-Apollo
Resources Corporation (“ Apollo Resources ) granted Mr. Fogassa as contractual compensation options to purchase an
aggregate 0 426-90 , 000 shares of its common stock . Such options corresponded to Mare-the period between January 1,
2024, to June 30, 2024. The options issued in 2024 were valued at $ 134, 407 in total. The options were valued using the
Black- Scholes option pricing model with the following average assumptions: our stock price on date of grant $ 6, 00, a
strike price of $ 0. 01, illiquidity discount of 75 %, expected dividend yield of 0 %, annualized volatility of 16, 61 % to 17,
41 %, risk- free interest rate of 3. 88 % to 4. 64 %, and an expected term of five to ten years. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, Apollo Resources granted options to purchase an aggregate of 180, 000 shares of its common stock to



Mr. Fogassa at a priees— price of ranging-between-$ 0. 01 to-$4-06-per share. The options were valued at $ 4$83-197 , 767805
and recmded to-as stock based compensatlon The options were valued using the Black- Seholes optlon prlcmg model with the

stock price on the ddte of the grants (5 5. 00 to$ 6 00) an 1111quld1ty dlscount of 75 % expected
dividend yleld of 0 %, historical volatility calculated between 17. 41 % and 57. 96 %, risk- free interest rate between a range of
3.42 % to 4. 73 %, and an expected term of 10 years. As of December 31, 2023, an aggregate 405, 000 Apollo Resources
common stock options were outstanding with a weighted average life of 8. 84 years at an average exercise price of $ 0. 01 and
an aggregated intrinsic value of § 2, 425, 950. During 2023, we the-Company-purchased 527, 750 shares of Apollo Resource
Corporation common stock at $ 5. 98 per share. We made no such purchases in Buring-the-year-ended-Deeember 312022
2024 . The related party transactions are recorded at the exchange amount transacted as agreed between us and the
related party. All the related party transactions have been reviewed and approved by the board of directors. For
management compensation details , please refer to Item 11. Executive Compensation. Merger of Atlas Critical Minerals
Corporation and Apollo Resources graﬁed—epﬁem—te—purehase—Corporatlon On November 6, 2024, Atlas Critical Minerals
and Apollo Resources entered into an aggregate-Agreement and Plan of 225-Merger (the “ Merger Agreement ) , 966
which provided for, among other things, the merger of Apollo Resources with and into Atlas Critical Minerals (the «
Merger ”), with Atlas Critical Minerals continuing its corporate existence as the surviving corporation. Prior to the
Merger, Apollo Resources was a subsidiary of Atlas Lithium. On November 19, 2024, following satisfaction and / or
waiver of the closing conditions in the Merger Agreement, including approval of the transactions contemplated under the
Merger Agreement by the requisite vote of the shareholders of Atlas Critical Minerals and Apollo Resources,
respectively, the Merger was consummated and Apollo Resources merged with and into Atlas Critical Minerals. In
connection with the consummation of the Merger, each share of outstanding Apollo Resources securities was cancelled
and converted into 6 62 shares of ﬁs—Atlas Crltlcal Mmerals common stock fe—Mare—Fegassa—&t—a—prtee—ef—&@— Immedlately

ﬂ&HB}aek-—Se%e%es—epﬁefrpﬂemg—medehﬁﬁh—ﬂ%e—follow ing &Vef&ge—assuﬂapﬁeﬂs—the Merger Gemp&ny—s—s’feelepﬂee-eﬂ—t-he
da’fe—ef—t-he—gf&ﬂt—és—4—99—te—$é—99)— the holders ﬁﬂ—r]-l-tqﬂ-tdﬂ-y—d-tseeﬂﬂt—of outstandmg %%—e*peeted—dwrdeed—y—te&d—e-f—@%

eeted of10-ye of Deeembe -Apollo Resourees eeﬂarﬂeﬁ—steeleepﬁeﬂs—were
securltles owned approx1mately 59. 40 % of Atlas Crltlcal Mlnerals outstanding securities with-a-weighted-averagetife-of

9-. 33—ears-at-Our Chief Executive Officer an-and Chairman, Mr average-exereise-price-of$-0- 0+-and-Fogassa, who is also
the Chief Executive Officer an-and Chairman aggregated-intrinste-valae-of $+-Atlas Critical Minerals , +25-holds 32. 7 %
of Atlas Critical Minerals’ outstanding equity interest following the Merger. After the Merger , 666-Atlas Critical
Minerals’ wholly owned subsidiaries now include Mineracio Apollo Ltda (“ MAL ), Mineracio Duas Barras Ltda (“
MDB ”) and RST Recursos Minerais Ltda (“ RST ”) . NOTE 8 — RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES We Fhe-Compaty
eperates— operate primarily in Brazil which exposes it to currency risks. Qur Fhre-Company—s-business activities may generate
intercompany receivables or payables that are in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity. Changes in
exchange rates from the time the activity occurs to the time payments are made may result in us the-Cempany-receiving either
more or less in local currency than the local currency equivalent at the time of the original activity. Qur Fre-Company—s
consolidated financial statements are denominated in U. S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates between the
applicable foreign currency and the U. S. dollar affect the translation of each foreign subsidiary’ s financial results into U. S.
dollars for purposes of reporting in the consolidated financial statements. Qur Fhe-Company—s-foreign subsidiaries translate
their financial results from the local currency into U. S. dollars in the following manner: (a) income statement accounts are
translated at average exchange rates for the period; (b) balance sheet asset and liability accounts are translated at end of period
exchange rates; and (c) equity accounts are translated at historical exchange rates. Translation in this manner affects the
shareholders’ equity account referred to as the foreign currency translation adjustment account. This account exists only in the
foreign subsidiaries’ U. S. dollar balance sheets and is necessary to keep the foreign subsidiaries’ balance sheets in agreement.
NOTE 9- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS In accordance with FASB ASC 855- 10 Subsequent Events, we have the-Cempany-has
analyzed #s-our operations subsequent to December 3 1, 2623-2024 to the date these consolidated financial statements were
issued, and has determined that it does not have any material subsequent events to disclose in these consolidated
financial statements . F- 32-29 EXHIBIT INDEXExhibit Number Description 3. 1 Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation of the Company dated May 25, 2023. Incorporated by Reference to Exhibit No. 3. 3 to the Company’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed with the Commission on May 26, 2023. 3. 2 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada on December 18, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed with the Commission on December 26, 2012. 3. 3
Second Amended and Restated By- laws of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 4 to the Company’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed with the Commission on May 26, 2023. 3. 4 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of
Series D Convertible Preferred Stock filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada on September 16, 2021.




Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 8 to the Form S- 1 filed with the Commission on January 28, 2022. 4. 1 Description of
Capital Stock. #Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the Commission
on March 27, 2024. 4. 2 Form of 6. 5 % Convertible Promissory Note due 2026. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the
Form 8- K filed with the Commission on November 8, 2023. 10. 1 2823-Stock Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 1 to the Company’ s Definitive Information Statement filed with the Commission on June 2, 2023. # 10. 2 Form of
Securities Purchase Agreement between the Company and funds managed by Warberg Asset Management LLC (“ Warberg
Funds ”). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Form S- 1 filed with the Commission on January 28, 2022. 10. 3
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement between the Company and investors other than Warberg Funds. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 5 to the Form S- 1 filed with the Commission on January 28, 2022. 10. 4 Amended and Restated
Employment Agreement Between Marc Fogassa and the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the F orm S-1
ﬁled Wlth the Commission on January 28 2022 #10. mploymentAg v At ; a-cle

Employment Agreement between the Company and Igor Tkachenko dated September 30,2023. # Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10. 6 to the Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the Commission on March 27, 2024. # 10. 7 Amendment
to Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2024, by and between the Company and Igor Tkachenko. * # 10. 78
Executive Employment Agreement dated July 23, 2024, by and between the Company and Tiago Moreira de Miranda.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Form 10- Q filed with the Commission on August 9, 2024. # 10. 9
Offtake and Sales Agreement dated November 29, 2023, by and between the Company and Yahua International Investment and
Development Co., Ltd.. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on December 1,
2023.10. 810 Offtake and Sales Agreement dated November 29, 2023, by and between the Company and Sheng Wei Zhi
Yuan International Limited. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on
December 1, 2023. 10. 8-11 { Royalty Purchase Agreement dated May 2, 2023, by and between the Company and Lithium
Royalty Corp. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on May 2, 2023. 10. +6-12
1 Gross Revenue Royalty Agreement dated May 2, 2023, by and between the Company and Lithium Royalty Corp.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on May 2, 2023. 10. 13 t Investor
Rights Agreement dated March 27, 2024 by and between the Company and Mitsui & Co. Ltd.. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on April 1, 2024. 10. 14 + Offtake and Sales
Agreement by and between Atlas Litio Brasil Ltda and Mitsui & Co., Ltd. dated March 27, 2024. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on April 1, 2024. 10. 15 + Amended and Restated
Technical Services Agreement dated August 15, 2024, by and between the Company and RTEK International DMCC.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on August 22, 2024. 10. 16 At the
Market Offering Agreement dated November 22, 2024, by and between the Company and H. C. Wainwright & Co.,
LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1. 1 to the Form 8- K filed with the Commission on November 22, 2024. 19. 1
Insider Trading Policy of the Company, dated December 21, 2023. * 21. 1 Subsidiaries of the Company. * 23. 1 Consent of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. * 31. 1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 13a-
14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002. * 31. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 13a- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. * 32. 1 Certification of the Chief Executive
Officer and pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. * *
32. 2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. * * Policy Relating to the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation #-, Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 97 to the Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the Commission on March 27, 2024. 101 *
Interactive Data files pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S- T. 101. SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document 101. CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 101. DEF * Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 101. LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101. PRE * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 104 * Cover Page Interactive Data File
(embedded within the Inline XBRL document) * Filed herewith * * Furnished herewith 1 Certain portions of the exhibit have
been omitted in accordance with Item 601 (b) (10) (iv) of Regulation S- K because we the-Cempany-customarily and actually
treats— treat the redacted information as private or confidential and the omitted information is not material. We Fhe-Company
agrees— agree to furnish on a supplemental basis an unredacted copy of the exhibit and #s-our materiality and privacy or
confidentiality analyses-analysis to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request. # Indicates management contract
or compensatory planltem 16. Form 10- K Summary We have elected not to provide a summary. SIGNATURES Pursuant to the
requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. Atlas Lithium Corporation Date: March 2714 , 2624-2025
By: / s / Marc Fogassa Marc Fogassa Chief Executive OfficerPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated: Signature Title Date / s / Marc Fogassa Mareh 2720624 MareFogassa-Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer) March 14, 2025 Marc Fogassa and Chairman of the Board / s / Tiago Miranda GustaveReretra-de-Agutar
Mareh272624-GustavoRereira-de-Agutar-Chief Financial Officer March 14, 2025 Tiago Miranda (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) / s / Roger Noriega Director March 2714 , 2624-2025 Ambassador Roger Noriega / s / Cassiopeia Olson
Director March 2714 , 2624-2025 Cassiopeia Olson, Esq. / s / Stephen Peterson Director March 2714 , 2624-2025 Stephen
Peterson, CFA /%WGG&W&E@URH%—RE@E%
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A(J REEMENT Thls Amendment Emp}eyment—kgfeement—( t-hﬂ—the Agreemeﬁt—Amendment ') dated-is made and entered
into as of September 36-5 , 2623-2024 , is-by and between Atlas Lithium Corporation, a Nevada corporation (the “ Company ),
with U. S. corporate headquarters at 1200 N. Federal Hwy, Suite 200, Boca Raton, FL 33432 , and Igor Tkachenko (“ ITK ”), a
U. S. citizen with an address at 99 Wall Street # 392, New York, NY 10005. Eaechkof WHEREAS, the Company and ITK is-&
are parties to that certain Employment Agreement dated as of September 30, 2023 (the “ Party-Agreement ~ ;-); and
togethert WHEREAS | they— the parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein; NOW, THEREFORE, in
consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which arc hereby acknowledged, the “Parties-parties —Fhe-Parties-agree as to
the—feﬂm#mgfollows terms-: Amendment Reteﬂﬁeﬁ—eﬂ—"l"—}’rSﬁbjeet—to Sectlon 6 t-he—tefms—aﬂd-eend-ttrens—set—feft-h-rn—t-lﬁs

Gefpef&te—Stfa-tegy—() ase C ompenxallon The C Ompdny hall pay ITK an annual gross fee ef—equlvalent to $ 42() ()()() dulm<y
the Term of this Agreement (to be prorated in the event of earlier termination pursuant to the terms of Section 3 hereof) (the
Annual Fee 7). The Annual Fee shall be payable in common shares of the Company (the *“ Shares ) in monthly installments
efequivalent to $ 35, 000 ( the-each, a “ Monthly Instalments— Installment ) tn-aeeordanee-. The number of Shares to be
issued for each Monthly Installment shall be calculated on the 1st of each month using the prior thirty (30) trading- day
volume- welghted average price (the “ VWAP ”) for the common stock of the Company Shares shall be issued to ITK




this month -Seeﬁeﬁ—7—1-ﬂ&né




mutual agreement of bolh pamu in wrltmg 2472 . fFeﬁﬂtn&t-reﬁ—No Other Changes Except as expressly amended by ‘this
Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 3. Effective Date. This
Amendment shall become effective on October 1, 2024. Prior Consulting-Serviees-to this date, the original terms of Section
6 of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect . The-4. Entire Agreement. This Amendment and the Agreement
constitute the entire agreement between the Parttes-parties with respect hereby-mutually-agree-to terminate-the subject

matter hereof and supersede all prior and contemporaneous Amended-Constlting-Serviees-Agreement-agreements entered
and understandmgs, whether wrltten or oral bu\\ een the P&ﬁ-res—partles w1th respect to eﬁ—e%abeu-t—ﬁpﬂ-l—lé—}%%—ét-he—

ﬂpeﬁermm&ﬁeﬂ—e-ﬂthe—Pﬂer—Geﬁst&ﬁﬂgﬂ*greemeﬁt—ther& the subject matter hereof &re—ﬂeﬂghts-erebhg&t-reﬂs—ﬂ%&t—&re
owed-to-either Party-undersueh-agreement. — SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS — ATLAS LITIDUM CORPORATION

By: Marc Fogassa ;-Title: CEO 1gerTkaehenke-and Chairman Signature: Date: 09 /16 / 2024 IGOR TKACHENKO
Signature: Date: September 5, 2024 Exhibit 19. 1 INSIDER TRADING POLICYI. PURPOSE Atlas Lithium
Corporation (the “ Company ”) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (this “ Policy ”) to help its directors, officers and
employees, as well as its subsidiaries, comply with insider trading laws, to prevent even the appearance of improper
insider trading and to promote compliance with the Company’ s disclosure obligations as they relate to its insider
trading policies and practices and the use of certain trading arrangements by Company insiders. II. SCOPEA. This
Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as their respective
family members and others in their households (collectively referred to as “ Insiders ”), and any other individuals the
Compliance Officer (defined below) may designate as Insiders, such as contractors or consultants, because they have
access to material nonpublic information concerning the Company. B. Except as set forth explicitly below, this Policy
applies to any and all transactions in the Company’ s securities, including transactions in common stock, options,
preferred stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, convertible securities and any other type of securities that the
Company may issue, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange- traded put or
call options or swaps relating to the Company’ s securities. Transactions subject to this Policy include purchases, sales,
transfers and bona fide gifts of Company securities. III. SPECIFIC GUIDANCEA. Generally Prohibited Activities. The
prohibitions below apply to actions an Insider may take directly or indirectly through family members or other persons
or entities. 1. Trading in Company Securities. No Insider may transact in Company securities while aware of material
nonpublic information concerning the Company. 2. Special Trading Blackout Periods. No Insider may transact in
Company securities during a special trading blackout period. The Company may from time to time designate special
trading blackout periods. These typically occur when there are nonpublic developments that would be considered
material for insider trading purposes. Depending on the circumstances, the special trading blackout period may apply to




all Insiders or only a specific group of Insiders. The Compliance Officer will provide notice to the Insiders subject to any
special trading blackout period. Any person made aware of the existence of a special trading blackout period should not
disclose its existence to any other person. 3. Tipping. Providing material nonpublic information to another person who
may trade or advise others to trade on the basis of that information is known as “ tipping ” and is illegal. Therefore, no
Insider may “ tip ” or provide material nonpublic information concerning the Company to any person other than a
director, officer or employee of the Company, unless required as part of that Insider’ s regular duties for the Company
and authorized by the Compliance Officer. 4. Giving Trading Advice. No Insider may give trading advice of any kind
about the Company to anyone, whether or not such Insider is aware of material nonpublic information about the
Company, except that Insiders should advise other Insiders not to trade if such trading might violate the law or this
Policy. 5. Engaging in Short Sales. No Insider may engage in short sales of Company securities. A short sale is the sale of
a security that the seller does not own at the time of the trade. 6. Engaging in Derivative Transactions. No Insider may
engage in transactions in puts, calls or other derivative instruments that relate to or involve Company securities. Such
transactions are, in effect, bets on short- term movements in the Company’ s stock price and therefore create the
appearance that the transaction is based on nonpublic information. 7. Hedging. No Insider may engage in hedging
transactions involving Company securities, including forward sale or purchase contracts, equity swaps, collars or
exchange funds. Such transactions are speculative in nature and therefore create the appearance that the transaction is
based on nonpublic information. 8. Trading on Margin or Pledging. No Insider may hold Company securities in a
margin account or pledge (or hypothecate) Company securities as collateral for a loan. Margin sales or foreclosure sales
may occur at a time when the Insider is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade
in Company securities. 9. Trading in Securities of Other Companies. No Insider may, while in possession of material
nonpublic information about any other public company gained directly or indirectly in the course of employment with
the Company, (a) buy, sell, donate or otherwise transact in the securities of the other public company, (b) * tip ” or
disclose such material nonpublic information concerning that company to anyone, or (c) give trading advice of any kind
to anyone concerning the other public company. B. Additional Restrictions Applicable to Section 16 Individuals and Key
Employees. 1. No Section 16 Individual or Key Employee (each as defined below) may transact in Company securities
outside of the Company trading window described in Section V. B below. 2. No Section 16 Individual or Key Employee
may trade in Company securities unless the trade (s) have been approved by the Compliance Officer in accordance with
the procedures set forth in Section V. C. 1 below. C. Exceptions. The prohibited activities above do not apply to the
following transactions; however, given the complexity of the rules and regulations relating to insider trading, Insiders
are encouraged to seek guidance from the Compliance Officer before engaging in any such transaction. 1. Exercises of
stock options or similar equity awards or the surrender of shares to the Company in payment of the stock option
exercise price or in satisfaction of any tax withholding obligations, provided that any securities acquired pursuant to
such exercise may not be sold, including as part of a broker- assisted cashless exercise, while the Insider is in possession
of material nonpublic information or subject to a special trading blackout or, with respect to Section 16 Individuals and
Key Employees, while the Company’ s trading window is closed. 2. The vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax
withhold right pursuant to which an Insider elects to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax
withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock, provided that any securities acquired pursuant to
such vesting may not be sold while the Insider is in possession of material nonpublic information or subject to a special
trading blackout or, with respect to Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees, while the Company’ s trading window is
closed. 3. Purchases of securities from the Company or sales of securities to the Company that do not involve an open
market transaction, including automatic acquisitions of Company securities under Company sponsored plans, including
any employee stock purchase or qualified retirement (401 (k)) plan or dividend reinvestment plan; provided, that any
elections to participate in such plans may not be made while the Insider is in possession of material nonpublic
information or subject to a special trading blackout or, with respect to Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees, while
the Company’ s trading window is closed. 4. Purchases, sales or donations made pursuant to a Rule 10b5- 1 plan that is
adopted and operated in compliance with the terms of this Policy (see Section VII). IV. DETERMINING WHETHER
INFORMATION IS MATERIAL AND NONPUBLICA. Definition of “ Material ” Information. 1. There is no bright
line test for determining whether particular information is material. Such a determination depends on the facts and
circumstances unique to each situation and cannot be made solely based on the potential financial impact of the
information. 2. In general, information about the Company should be considered “ material ” if: ® A reasonable investor
would consider the information significant when deciding whether to buy or sell Company securities; or e The
information, if disclosed, could be viewed by a reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total mix of
information available in the marketplace about the Company. Put simply, if the information could reasonably be
expected to affect the price of the Company’ s stock, it should be considered material. 3. It is important to remember
that whether information is material will be viewed by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. In other
words, if the price of the Company’ s stock changed as a result of the information having been made public, it will likely
be considered material by enforcement authorities. 4. While it is not possible to identify every type of information that
could be deemed “ material, ” the following matters ordinarily should be considered material: ® Projections of future
earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance, or changes in projections or guidance. ® Financial performance,
especially quarterly and year- end earnings or significant changes in financial performance or liquidity. e Potential
significant mergers and acquisitions or the sale of significant assets or subsidiaries. ® New major contracts, orders,
suppliers, customers, or finance sources, or the loss thereof. ® Major discoveries or significant changes or developments
in connection with the Company’ s exploratory campaign and related findings, products or product lines, research or



technologies. ® Significant changes or developments in supplies or inventory. ® Stock splits, public or private securities /
debt offerings, or changes in dividend policies or amounts. e Significant changes in senior management. ® Actual or
threatened material litigation, or the resolution of such litigation. ® An imminent change in the Company’ s credit rating
by a rating agency. ® The contents of forthcoming publications that may affect the market price of Company securities.
e Material cybersecurity incidents that may give rise to the disclosure requirements under Item 1. 05 of Form 8- K. B.
Definition of “ Nonpublic ” Information. Information is “ nonpublic ” if it has not been disseminated to investors
through a widely circulated news or wire service (such as Dow Jones, Bloomberg, PR Newswire, etc.) or through a public
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ). For the purposes of this Policy, information will be
not considered public until after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the Company’ s widespread
public release of the information. C. Consult the Compliance Officer for Guidance. Any Insider who is unsure whether
the information that he or she possesses is material or nonpublic should consult the Compliance Officer for guidance
before trading in any Company securities. V. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS FOR SECTION 16 INDIVIDUALS AND
KEY EMPLOYEESA. Definitions of Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees. 1. “ Section 16 Individual ” — Each
member of the Company’ s Board of Directors (“ Board ), those officers of the Company designated by the Board as «
executive officers ” or “ Section 16 officers ” of the Company, and their respective family members and others in their
households. 2. “ Key Employees ” — Any individual designated from time to time by the Compliance Officer, the Chief
Executive Officer or the Board as a Key Employee because of their position with the Company and their possible access
to material nonpublic information. Exhibit A to this Policy contains a list of such Key Employees, which list shall be
updated from time to time by the Compliance Officer as necessary, and each individual designated as a Key Employee
shall be notified of such designation. B. The Trading Window. 1. Trading Only While Trading Window is Open. Section
16 Individuals and Key Employees may transact in Company securities only while the Company’ s trading window is
open and subject to the existence of any special trading blackout period and Section B. 2. below. In general, the
Company’ s trading window opens after the close of trading on the second full trading day following the Company’ s
public announcement of quarterly earnings and closes on the fifteenth calendar day before the end of the then- current
fiscal quarter. 2. No Trading While Aware of Material Nonpublic Information. Notwithstanding the provisions of the
immediately preceding section, even during an open trading window, any Section 16 Individual or Key Employee in
possession of material nonpublic information regarding the Company may not trade in Company securities until the
close of trading on the second full trading day following the Company’ s widespread public release of such information.
C. Procedures for approving trades by Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees. 1. Section 16 Individual and Key
Employee Trades. No Section 16 Individual or Key Employee may trade in Company securities until: (a) the individual
has notified the Compliance Officer in writing of the amount and nature of the proposed trade (s); (b) the individual has
certified to the Compliance Officer in writing, no more than three business days prior to the proposed trade (s), that he
or she is not aware of material nonpublic information regarding the Company; and (c) the Compliance Officer has
approved the proposed trade (s). The notice and certification required by this Section V. C. 1, and the Compliance
Officer’ s approval thereof, shall be given using the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. During the approval period
identified in the notice and certification, provided that the facts referred to in Section V. C. 1 (b) remain correct, the
Section 16 Individual or Key Employee may execute the trade set forth in such notice and certification. Once the
approval period identified in the notice and certification has expired, a new notice and certification pursuant to this
Section V. C. 1 must be given in order for the Section 16 Individual or Key Employee to trade in Company securities. 2.
Compliance Officer Trades. If the Compliance Officer desires to complete any trades involving Company securities, he
or she must first obtain the approval of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 3. No Obligation to Approve
Trades. The existence of the foregoing approval procedures does not in any way obligate the Compliance Officer (or, in
the case of any trade by the Compliance Officer, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company) to approve any trades
requested by Section 16 Individuals, Key Employees or the Compliance Officer. VI. COMPLIANCE OFFICER The
Company has designated Joel Monteiro as the individual responsible for administration of this Policy (the “ Compliance
Officer ”). The duties of the Compliance Officer include the following: A. Administering this Policy and monitoring and
enforcing compliance with all Policy provisions and procedures. B. Reviewing and either approving or denying all
proposed trades by Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section V.
C. 1 above. C. After discussing with the management, designating and announcing special trading blackout periods
during which certain Insiders may not trade in Company securities. D. Providing copies of this Policy and other
appropriate materials to all new Insiders. E. Administering, monitoring and enforcing compliance with all federal and
state insider trading laws and regulations. F. Revising the Policy as necessary to reflect changes in federal or state insider
trading laws and regulations, or as otherwise deemed necessary or appropriate. G. Approving Rule 10b5- 1 plans for
Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees as set forth in Section VII of this Policy. The Compliance Officer may
designate one or more individuals who may perform the Compliance Officer’ s duties in the event that the Compliance
Officer is unable or unavailable to perform such duties. VII. RULE 10b5- 1 TRADING PLANSA. General Information.
Under Rule 10bS- 1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, an individual has an affirmative defense against
an allegation of insider trading if he or she demonstrates that the purchase, sale or trade in question took place pursuant
to a binding contract, specific instruction or written plan that was put into place before he or she became aware of
material nonpublic information. Such contracts, irrevocable instructions and plans are commonly referred to as Rule
10b5- 1 plans and must satisfy several conditions set forth in Rule 10bS- 1. Rule 10b5- 1 plans have the obvious
advantage of protecting against insider trading liability. However, they also require advance commitments regarding the
amounts, prices and timing of purchases or sales of Company securities and thus limit flexibility and discretion. In



addition, once a Rule 10b5- 1 plan has been adopted, it is generally not permissible to amend or modify such plan
without complying with new conditions and timing limitations set forth in Rule 10bS- 1. Accordingly, while some
individuals may find Rule 10b5- 1 plans attractive, they may not be suitable for all Insiders. B. Specific Requirements. 1.
Pre- Approval. For a Rule 10bS- 1 plan to serve as an adequate defense against an allegation of insider trading, a
number of legal requirements must be satisfied. Accordingly, anyone wishing to establish a Rule 10bS- 1 plan must first
receive approval from the Compliance Officer or his or her designee. Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees wanting
to establish a Rule 10bS- 1 plan must also satisfy the notification and certification requirements set forth in Section V. C.
1 above. 2. Material Nonpublic Information and Special Blackouts. An individual desiring to enter into a Rule 10b5- 1
plan must enter into the plan at a time when he or she is not aware of any material nonpublic information about the
Company or otherwise subject to a special trading blackout, and provide signed certifications to that effect. 3. Trading
Window. Section 16 Individuals and Key Employees may establish a Rule 10b5- 1 plan only when the Company’ s
trading window is open. 4. Limitations on Number of Rule 10b5- 1 Plans. An individual may not establish overlapping
Rule 10bS- 1 plans and must limit the use of a single- trade plan (i. e., a plan covering a single trading event) to one
during any consecutive 12- month period, in each case subject to the accommodations set forth in Rule 10b5- 1. 5.
Cooling- Off Periods. (a) Section 16 Individuals must observe a cooling- off period between the date a Rule 10bS- 1 plan
is adopted or modified and the date of the first transaction under the plan following such adoption or modification equal
to the later of (i) 90 days and (ii) 2 business days following the disclosure in Forms 10- K or 10- Q of the Company’ s
financial results for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted or modified (but not to exceed 120 days following
plan adoption or modification). (b) All other employees who are not subject to Section VII. B. 5 (a) must observe a
cooling- off period between the date a Rule 10b5- 1 plan is adopted or modified and the date of the first transaction under
the plan following such adoption or modification equal to at least 30 days. VIII. POST- TERMINATION
TRANSACTIONS This Policy continues to apply to transactions in the Company’ s securities after termination of
service to the Company. If an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her service
terminates, or if the Company’ s trading window is closed at the time of termination, that individual may not trade in the
Company’ s securities until any such material nonpublic information has become public or is no longer material and / or
the Company’ s trading window has opened. The pre- clearance procedures specified in Section V. C. 1 above, however,
will cease to apply to transactions in the Company’ s securities upon the opening of the Company’ s trading window and
/ or expiration of any special trading blackout period, at which point the provisions set forth in Section V. B. 1 above
shall no longer apply. IX. POTENTIAL PENALTIES AND DISCIPLINARY SANCTIONSA. Civil and Criminal
Penalties. The consequences of prohibited insider trading or tipping can be severe. Persons violating insider trading or
tipping rules may be required to disgorge the profit made or the loss avoided by the trading, pay the loss suffered by the
person who purchased securities from or sold securities to the Insider or tippee, pay significant civil and / or criminal
penalties, and serve a lengthy jail term. The Company in such circumstances may also be required to pay major civil or
criminal penalties. B. Company Discipline. Violation of this Policy or federal or state insider trading or tipping laws by
any Insider may, in the case of a director, subject the director to dismissal proceedings and, in the case of an officer or
employee, subject the officer or employee to disciplinary action by the Company up to and including termination for
cause. X. MISCELLANEOUS This Policy will be delivered to all directors, officers and employees upon its adoption by
the Company and to all new directors, officers and employees at the start of their employment or relationship with the
Company. Upon first receiving a copy of this Policy or any revised versions, each Section 16 Individual and Key
Employee must sign an acknowledgment that he or she has received a copy of this Policy and agrees to comply with its
terms. Adopted as of: December 21, 2023Receipt and Acknowledgment Upon first receiving a copy of The Atlas Lithium
Corporation Insider Trading Policy or any revised version thereof, each member of the Board of Directors, each officer
designated under the Policy as a “ Section 16 Individual ” and each individual designated as a “ Key Employee ” must
sign and return the following receipt and acknowledgement. I hereby acknowledge that I have received and read a copy
of the Atlas Lithium Corporation Insider Trading Policy and agree to comply with its terms. I understand that violation
of insider trading or tipping laws or regulations may subject me to severe civil and / or criminal penalties, and that
violation of the terms of the above- titled policy may subject me to discipline by the Company up to and including
termination for cause. Date: Signature: Printed Name: EXHIBIT A KEY EMPLOYEES * * * * * CODE-OFETHICS(See
attached)-EXHIBIT B-INSIDER- TRADINGPOHICY-Exhibit 21. 1Subsidiaries BPESCRIPHON-OFATEAS HTHIOM
CORPORATHON-S-SUBSIDIARIESName-Jurisdiction Direct or indirect subsidiary Direct Owner Percentage Owned (as of
December 31, 2024) Atlas Lithium Limited Marshall Islands Direct 100 % Atlas Eitto-Litio Brasil Ltda —Brazil 9999
Indirect Atlas Lithium Limited 100 % Athena Mineral by-CompanyApoHo-Resources Corporation Marshat-Marshall
[slands Direct 100 58—H-" by-Company-Athena Litio Ltda Brazil Indirect Athena Mineral Resources Corporation 100 %
Brazil Mineral Resources Corporation Marshall Islands Direct 100 % Atlas Recursos Minerais Brazil Indirect Brazil
Mineral Resources Corporation 100 % Atlas Critical Minerals Corporation Marshall Islands Direct 32, 70 % Mineracao
Jupiter Getd-Ltda Brazil Indirect Atlas Critical Minerals Corporation 32, 70 MarshaHslands27-42-% by-Company
Minera¢ao Apollo Ltda —Brazil 99-99-Indirect Atlas Critical Minerals Corporation 32, 70 % by-ApeHeResetrees-RST
Recursos Minerais Ltda Brazil Indirect Atlas Critical Minerals Corporation 32, 70 MineracaoJupiterEtda—Brazd99-99-%
by—}u-pﬁeieGe%d-Geﬂeefa&en—l\hnuae 10 Duas B arras Ltda —Bl azil 99—97—Ind1rect Atlas Crltlcal Mlnerals Corporatlon 32,70
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of Independent Reglstered Publlc Accountlng Flrm To, Atlas L1th1um Corporatlon (ATLX) USA We hereby consent to
the incorporation by reference, in the Registration Statements on Form S- 3 (File No. 333- 274223) and form S- 8 (File
No. 333- 273083) of Atlas Lithium Corporation, of our report dated March 14, 2025 relating to the financial statements



of Atlas Lithium Corporation as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and to all references to our firm included in this Annual
Report on Form 10- K. Pipara & Co LLP (6841) New York Office: 1270, Ave of Americas, Rockefeller Center, FL7, New
York — 10020, USA Corporate Office: “ Pipara Corporate House ” Near Bandhan Bank Ltd., Netaji Marg, Law Garden,
Ahmedabad- 380006 Mumbai Office: # 3, 13th floor, Tradelink, ¢ E’ Wing, A- Block, Kamala Mills, Senapati Bapat
Marg, Lower Parel, Mumbai- 400013 Delhi Office: 1602, Ambadeep Building, KG Marg, Connaught Place New Delhi-
110001 Contact: T: 1 (646) 387-2034 F: 91 79 40 370376 E: usa @ pipara. com naman @ pipara. ExhibitcomExhibit 3 1.
1 CERTIFICATION I, Marc Fogassa, certify that: (1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 , of Atlas Lithium Corporation (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, considering the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; (3)
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; (4) I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the company and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’ s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the company’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the company’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’ s internal control over
financial reporting; and (5) I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the company’ s auditors and the audit committee of the company’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 2414 , 2624-2025 / s / Marc Fogassa
Marc Fogassa Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) Exhibit 31. 2 I, Gustave-Agutar-Tiago Miranda , certify
that: (1) [ have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , of Atlas
Lithium Corporation; (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, considering the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,
and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; (4) I am responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (¢))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the company and
have: Date: March 27-14 , 2624-2025 / s / Gustavo-Aguiar-Gustavo-Agutar Tiago Miranda Tiago Miranda Chief Financial
Officer (principal ﬁnanc1al and accounting officer) Exhibit 32. 1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act 0of 2002 I, Marc
Fogassa, certify pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Atlas
Lithium Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023-2024 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a)
or Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly
presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. Date: March 2714 , 2024
2025 By: / s / Marc Fogassa Marc Fogassa (principal executive officer) A signed original of this written statement required by
Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. Exhibit 32. 2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C.
Section 1350, I, Gustave-Agutar-Tiago Miranda , certify pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report on Form 10- K of Atlas Lithium Corporation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023-2024 fully complies
with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or Section 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company. Date: March 2714 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Gustave-Agutar-GustavoAgutar- Tiago Miranda Tiago Miranda (Chief
F 1nanc1a1 Ofﬁcer) %%%G@RWWE@W@F










